Hypersurfaces with Many Singularities History – Constructions – Algorithms – Visualization

Hypersurfaces with Many Singularities

History - Constructions - Algorithms - Visualization

Dissertation zur Erlangung des Grades "Doktor der Naturwissenschaften"

am Fachbereich Physik, Mathematik und Informatik der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz,

vorgelegt von

Oliver Labs, geboren in Mainz.

Mainz, den 26. Juli 2005 (diese Version: 17. Januar 2006)

Referenten:

Prof. Dr. Duco van Straten, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz Prof. Dr. Theo de Jong, Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz Prof. Dr. Wolf Barth, Friedrich Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg

Abstract

Part 1: Known Constructions. About 40 pages of historical survey of the subject of hypersurfaces with many singularities constitute the first part of the present work. We hope that this overview will not only serve as an introductory text and a guide to the literature, but that it will also give the reader some new ideas and references to interesting articles which might serve as a starting point for further research. To make this easier, we do in fact not only summarize known results, but we also give some direct generalizations and concrete examples which have not been considered so far.

Part 2: New Constructions and Algorithms. The main part of this thesis is devoted to new constructions. First, we prove the existence of hypersurfaces of any given degree d in \mathbb{P}^n with many A_j -singularities based on the theory of dessins d'enfants (chapter 5). This yields new asymptotic lower bounds in most cases. Our construction is a variant of the well-known construction of Chmutov from 1992. In the real case, we are able to prove an upper bound which shows that a real variant of Chmutov's constructions is in some sense asymptotically the best possible one.

In low degree, it is usually possible to obtain better results than those given by the general constructions and upper bounds. As described in the historical survey, all known constructions use nice geometrical arguments and symmetry to reduce the problem at hand to a solvable one. In this thesis, we give several algorithmic approaches which do either work without such an intuition or use experiments over prime fields which replace the intuition. Our method which uses the geometry of prime field experiments allows us to construct a septic in \mathbb{P}^3 with 99 real nodes in chapter 8 which improves Chmutov's record, 93.

We then describe an algorithm which is even stronger. It reduces the construction of surfaces of degree $d \leq 7$ with the greatest known number of nodes to a short computer algebra computation. We can even apply it to higher degree: For d = 9we obtain a surface with 226 nodes which also improves Chmutov's current record, 216. This algorithm can certainly be applied to many other concrete problems in algebraic geometry.

Part 3: Visualization. Many interesting examples of the subject are defined over the real numbers. Thus, we are quite often in a position that allows us to use visualization of singular surfaces. For several years there already exists software which produces nice images, e.g. Endraß's SURF. Based on these existing programs we developped some tools allowing a dynamical experience of algebraic curves and surfaces: SPICY, SURFEX, and SURFEX.LIB. We demonstrate their usefulness in the last part of this work. Our example is the construction of nice equations for all 45 topological types of real cubic surfaces in projective three-space which is one of the most classical subjects in algebraic geometry.

Acknowledgements

First of all, I thank my advisor Duco van Straten without whose motivation and inspiration the present work would never have existed. In fact, this already applies to the time when I was still writing my diploma thesis: His ability to communicate the fascination of algebraic geometry and in particular of the subject of hypersurfaces with many singularities was one of the main reasons why I decided not to leave university. He always had an open ear for my problems and some good advice during many valuable discussions.

I thank Stephan Endraß for discussions, motivation, and all his work on the subject: His great Ph.D. thesis and his SURF scripts are a wonderful source of information, and his software SURF is still very helpful.

There is another software which was of invaluable help during the writing of this Ph.D. thesis: SINGULAR. During the last few years, I was working with it almost every day. So, a big thank to the SINGULAR group, in particular to the main developpers of this computer algebra software: Gert-Martin Greuel, Gerhard Pfister, and Hans Schönemann. I also thank them for their interest in my tool SURFEX which was a good motivation to finally bring this software into a publishable state.

Furthermore, I thank Wolf Barth whose question on the existence of some special examples in certain one-parameter families was the starting point for the algorithm which I used to construct the sextic with 35 cusps. Later, his invitation to Erlangen was a good motivation to finally finish the work on the 99-nodal septic.

I thank Richard Morris with whome I had several valuable discussions on the visualization of singular surfaces. Moreover, he is one of the coauthors of a preversion of our tool SURFEX. I also thank Stephan Holzer for joining me as a coauthor for the current version of this tool.

There are many more people I have to thank. Often an invitation for a talk at a seminar or a conference, or a short chat during a coffee break gave me the motivation and inspiration to work on a problem for several months. In the hope not to forget anybody: Hans-Christian Graf von Bothmer, Sławek Cynk, Alicia Dickenstein, André Galligo, Michael Joswig, Viatcheslav Kharlamov, Bernard Mourrain, Ragni Piene, Frank-Olaf Schreyer, Frank Sottile, Bernd Sturmfels.

Last, but not least, I thank all the (ex-)members of the algebraic geometry group in Mainz. The great ambiance caused by all these nice and creative people was the basis for the work presented here. Especially, I want to thank Renate Emerenziani and the students and Post-Docs of Duco van Straten for their support during the last few years: Sonja Breske, Christian van Enckevort, Mauricio Garay, Christian Meyer, Konrad Möhring, Kira Samol, Alessandra Sarti, Oliver Schmidt, Christian Sevenheck, Thorsten Warmt.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Ein ganz großer Dank geht an meine Eltern und Geschwister. Ohne ihren Rückhalt und ihre Unterstützung während der letzten dreißig Jahre für alles, was ich mir in den Kopf gesetzt habe, würde die vorliegende Arbeit nicht existieren.

Schließlich danke ich meiner Freundin Tani. Für das Aufmuntern, wenn etwas gerade mal nicht so klappen wollte, wie ich es mir gedacht hatte. Und auch für das Mitfreuen, wenn etwas gerade mal besonders gut funktioniert hat. Ohne ihre Motivation und ihren positiven Einfluss stünde in dieser Arbeit sicher nur die Hälfte.

Oliver Labs

Contents

| Abstract | v |
|---|----------------------------------|
| Acknowledgements | vii |
| Introduction The Problem Some Notation Main Results | 1 1 2 3 |
| Part 1. Known Constructions Introduction | $9\\11$ |
| Chapter 1. The Important First Steps (until 1915) 1.1. Cubic Surfaces 1.2. Kummer Quartics 1.3. Rohn's Construction of Quartics with 8–16 Nodes 1.4. Basset's Upper Bound for Surfaces 1.5. Some Hypersurfaces in Higher Dimensions | 13 13 15 16 17 18 |
| Chapter 2. The Problem is Difficult (1915–1959) 2.1. Togliatti's Cubics in P⁵ and Quintic in P³ 2.2. Severi's Wrong Assumption and B. Segre's First Construct 2.3. Gallarati's General Constructions 2.4. B. Segre's Second Construction 2.5. Gallarati's Generalization of B. Segre's Second Construction 2.6. Kreiss's Construction 2.7. Gallarati's 160-nodal Construction | 23 23 |
| Chapter 3. Modern Methods (1960–1990) 3.1. Stagnaro's Results on Surfaces with Many Singularities 3.2. Teissier's and Piene's Formulas for the Class 3.3. Beauville's Proof of $\mu_{A_1}(5) = 31$ Using Coding Theory 3.4. Bruce's Upper Bounds 3.5. Catanese's and Ceresa's Sextics with up to 64 Nodes 3.6. Givental's Upper Bound 3.7. Varchenko's Spectral Bound 3.8. Tchebychev Polynomials and Hypersurfaces with Many No 3.9. Givental's Cubics in \mathbb{P}^n 3.10. Miyaoka's Bound for Surfaces with Rational Double Poin 3.11. Kalker's Cubics in \mathbb{P}^n | 39 40 41 |
| 3.12. Two Nodal Quintics in P⁴ 3.13. The Defect and the Existence of Certain Nodal Hypersur | 42 rfaces 43 |

CONTENTS

| Chapter | 4. Recent Results (1991 until now) | 45 |
|---------|--|-----|
| 4.1. | Chmutov's Hypersurfaces using Folding Polynomials | 45 |
| 4.2. | Barth's 31-nodal Quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 | 47 |
| 4.3. | Van Straten's 130-nodal Quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 | 48 |
| 4.4. | Goryunov's Symmetric Quartics in \mathbb{P}^n | 49 |
| 4.5. | Barth's Icosahedral-Symmetric Surfaces and $\mu_{A_1}(6) = 65$ | 50 |
| 4.6. | Deformations of Nodal Hypersurfaces | 51 |
| 4.7. | Endraß's 168-nodal Octics | 52 |
| 4.8. | Yang's List of Rational Double Points on Quartics | 53 |
| 4.9. | Sarti's 600-nodal Dodectic | 54 |
| 4.10. | Surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with Triple Points | 55 |
| 4.11. | Barth's Surfaces with many Cusps | 55 |
| 4.12. | Patchworking Singular Varieties | 57 |
| 4.13. | Hypersurfaces with high A_j -Singularities $(j > d)$ | 57 |
| Part 2. | New Constructions and Algorithms | 63 |
| Introd | luction | 65 |
| Chapter | 5. Dessins d'Enfants and Surfaces with Many A_j -Singularities | 67 |
| 5.1. | Chmutov's Idea | 67 |
| 5.2. | Adaption to Higher Singularities | 68 |
| 5.3. | <i>j</i> -Belyi Polynomials via Dessins d'Enfants | 69 |
| 5.4. | The Polynomials $T_d^j(z)$ | 70 |
| | The Polynomials $M_d^j(z)$ | 72 |
| | Generalization to Higher Dimensions | 74 |
| Chapter | 6. Real Line Arrangements and Surfaces with Many Real Nodes | 79 |
| | Variants of Chmutov's Surfaces with Many Real Nodes | 79 |
| | On Two-Colorings of Real Simple Line Arrangements | 81 |
| | Concluding Remarks | 83 |
| Chapter | 7. An Algorithm in Characteristic Zero | 85 |
| | The Family of 30-cuspidal Sextics | 85 |
| | The Sextics with 35 Cusps | 86 |
| | Concluding Remarks | 88 |
| | The SINGULAR Code | 89 |
| Chapter | 8. Using the Geometry over Prime Fields | 95 |
| 8.1. | The Family | 95 |
| 8.2. | Reduction to the Case of Plane Curves | 96 |
| 8.3. | Finding Solutions over some Prime Fields | 97 |
| 8.4. | The Geometry of the 15-nodal septic Plane Curve | 98 |
| 8.5. | The 1-parameter Family of Plane Sextics | 99 |
| 8.6. | The Equation of the 99-nodal Septic | 101 |
| 8.7. | Further Remarks | 102 |
| 8.8. | A Conjecture | 104 |
| Chapter | | 107 |
| | Some Introductory Examples | 107 |
| | The Algorithm | 110 |
| 9.3. | Dihedral-symmetric Surfaces of Degree $d \leq 6$ with Many Nodes | 112 |

x

| CONTENTS | xi |
|--|--|
| 9.4. Another D₇-symmetric Septic with 99 Nodes 9.5. A D₉-symmetric Nonic with 226 Nodes 9.6. Discussion | $114 \\ 115 \\ 116$ |
| Chapter 10. Tables Showing the Current State of Knowledge10.1. Nodal Hypersurfaces10.2. Higher Singularities | 119 119 125 |
| Part 3. Visualization Introduction | $\begin{array}{c} 131 \\ 133 \end{array}$ |
| Chapter 11. Methods for Visualizing Algebraic Geometry 11.1. Classical Approaches 11.2. The First Visualization Software 11.3. Interactive Software | $135\ 135\ 135\ 135\ 135\ 136$ |
| Chapter 12. Illustrating the Classification Real Cubic Surfaces 12.1. Knörrer/Miller's 45 Types of Real Cubic Surfaces 12.2. Constructing Nice Real Affine Equations | $\begin{array}{c}141\\142\\146\end{array}$ |
| Finally | 155 |
| Bibliography | 157 |
| Index of Authors | 165 |
| Index of Notations | 167 |
| Subject Index | 169 |
| Curriculum Vitae | 173 |



A cone, a quadric surface with the simplest type of singularity: a node, also called ordinary double point or A_1 -singularity. How many nodes can a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 have?

Introduction

The Problem

The Most General Question. A generic hypersurface of degree $d \in \mathbb{N}$ in $\mathbb{P}^n := \mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$ is smooth. Thus, it is natural to ask:

QUESTION 0.1. Which combinations of singularities can occur on a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n of given degree d?

It is easy to answer this question for d = 1, 2. It is obvious that a hyperplane (d = 1) cannot have any singularity. It is also easy to classify quadrics (d = 2) w.r.t. the singularities occurring on them. E.g., a quadric in \mathbb{P}^n can contain at most one isolated singularity. This can only be an ordinary double point.

In \mathbb{P}^n , $n \leq 3$, it is also possible to treat the cases d = 3, 4: For the *cubic* surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 all possible combinations of singularities are known since Schläfli's work in 1863 (see section 1.1 on page 13). All possible combinations of singularities on quartic surfaces (d = 4) in \mathbb{P}^3 are also known; the last remaining open questions have been answered in 1997 using computers (see section 4.8 on page 53).

The Question on the Maximum Number. At the moment, the answer to the previous question seems unreachable if $d \ge 5$ or $n \ge 4$. In the present work, we thus consider the slightly simpler problem:

QUESTION 0.2. What is the maximum number $\mu^n(d)$ of isolated singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n ?

We have already seen that this is easy if d = 1, 2: $\mu^n(1) = 0$ and that $\mu^n(2) = 1$ for all n. On the other hand, the maximum number $\mu^2(d)$ of isolated singularities on a plane curve in \mathbb{P}^2 is $\binom{d}{2}$, established by d general lines.

In higher dimensions, there is no such result known yet. In fact, a direct analogue cannot exist in \mathbb{P}^n , $n \geq 3$, because in this case a hypersurface with only isolated singularities has to be irreducible. It is also well-known that an irreducible plane curve of degree d with k nodes exists if and only if $0 \leq k \leq \frac{1}{2}(d-1)(d-2)$ (see [Sev21, p. 329] for a classical exposition). However, in higher dimensions this question turned out to be a hard one: Despite many efforts, $\mu^3(d)$ is only known for $d \leq 6$ until now. If we ask for the maximum number of singularities of some given type (different from nodes, e.g. cusps), the question is still open in general, even in the case of plane curves we only know the answer for low degrees.

The aim of the present work is to improve the knowledge around the questions above. Our focus is on the geometry and equations of the hypersurfaces and methods for constructing interesting examples. Note that in principal, for each d there is an algorithm which computes the surfaces of degree d with the maximum number of nodes. But this involves very large systems of non-linear equations and can only be performed in special cases. We work out such an example in chapter 7. In more complicated cases, we need other ideas.

INTRODUCTION

Some Notation

Singularities. A point $p \in \mathbb{C}^n$ is called a singular point (or singularity) of the hypersurface $f \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n]$ if f(p) = 0 and $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i}(p) = 0$ for all $i = 1, 2, \ldots, n$. It is called *isolated* if there exists an open neighborhood of p which does not contain any other singular point. This is equivalent to dim $(\mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n]/(f, J_f)) < \infty$, where $J_f := (\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}, \ldots, \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_n})$ denotes the Jacobian ideal. Most of the time, we will only deal with a special kind of isolated singularities,

Most of the time, we will only deal with a special kind of isolated singularities, so-called *double points*: Let $f \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n]$ define an isolated hypersurface singularity (also called f) at the origin of \mathbb{C}^n . If the *tangent cone* tc(f) — i.e. the homogeneous part of f of the lowest degree — has degree two then the singularity is called a *double point*.

An ordinary *j*-tuple point in \mathbb{C}^n is an isolated singularity in \mathbb{C}^n which is locally a cone over a smooth hypersurface of degree *j* in \mathbb{C}^{n-1} . An ordinary double point is also called (ordinary) node or A_1 -singularity. This is equivalent to the property that the hessian — i.e. the determinant of the matrix of second order derivatives of f does not vanish at the singular point. It is also equivalent to the property that *f* can be written in the form $x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \cdots + x_n^2$ in some local coordinates at the origin. More generally, *f* is an A_j -singularity if it can be written in the form $x_1^{j+1} + x_2^2 + \cdots + x_n^2$ in some local coordinates at the origin. We call an A_2 -singularity an (ordinary) cusp and an A_3 -singularity a tacnode. See, e.g., [AGZV85a, AGZV85b, Dim87] for more information on singularities.

The Maximum Numbers of Singularities. The maximum number of isolated singularities of some given type on hypersurfaces in some projective space will appear throughout this work in different situations. To clarify which maximum number we mean, we will use different notations for each of these: Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Let T be a type of an isolated hypersurface singularity in \mathbb{C}^n (e.g., $T = A_1, A_2, D_4$). Then:

- $\mu^n(d)$ denotes the maximum number of singularities a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n can have.
- $\mu_T^n(d)$ denotes the maximum possible number of singularities of type T on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n which has only singularities of type T. E.g., $\mu_{A_1}^3(d)$ is the maximum number of nodes which a nodal surface in \mathbb{P}^3 can have.
- Many results hold for hypersurfaces of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n with only rational double points as singularities. We thus introduce the notation: $\mu_{Dp}^n(d)$.
- We will need similar notations for other classes of singularities, e.g. $\mu_A^n(d)$ for the maximum possible number of A_i -singularities.
- By $\mu_j^n(d)$ we denote the maximum number of ordinary *j*-tuple points a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n can have. E.g., $\mu_3^5(d)$ is the maximum number of ordinary 5-tuple points a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 can have.

Our main object of study are hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , so we write $\mu(d) := \mu^3(d)$, $\mu_T(d) := \mu_T^3(d)$, etc. for short. For a given hypersurface f in \mathbb{P}^n which has only isolated singularities we use similar notations. E.g., $\mu(f)$ denotes the number of singularities and $\mu_{A_1}(f)$ the number of nodes of f.

As already mentioned, these maximal numbers are only known in very few cases. Thus, upper and lower bounds for them will occur frequently in the main text. There are some obvious inequalities for $n, d \in \mathbb{N}$: $\mu^n(d) \ge \mu^n_A(d) \ge \mu^n_{A_1}(d)$. But notice

MAIN RESULTS

that it is not known if $\mu_{A_1}^n(d) = \mu^n(d)$. I.e., it is not known if the maximum number of singularities can be achieved with only ordinary double points.

Symmetry. Most of the examples which we will encounter are symmetric in the following sense: If a group G acts on $\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$ then a hypersurface in $\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$ which is given by a homogeneous polynomial $f \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ is called *G*-symmetric if f is *G*-invariant, i.e. if $f \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]^G$.

Notice that it is not known if the maximum number of singularities $\mu^n(d)$ on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n can always be realized by an example which is G-symmetric, where G is not the trivial group. Nevertheless, for studying hypersurfaces with many singularities, we will often have to restrict ourselves to hypersurfaces which are G-symmetric for some non-trivial finite group G.

Main Results

Most of the results presented in this Ph.D. thesis have already appeared as preprints on arXiv.org [Lab04, Lab05a, Lab05b, BLvS05], some others are already published or accepted for publication [LvS03, HL05]. The present work places them in a bigger framework and gives some additional information and results.

The previously unpublished content includes in particular a large historical survey on known constructions and a new algorithm. This algorithm is certainly the most important result of this thesis: It reduces all known constructions of nodal surfaces of degree $d \leq 8$ with the maximum known number of nodes to a computer algebra calculation (see part2, chapter 9), and also yields the new results $\mu(7) \geq 99$, $\mu(9) \geq 226$.

Part 1: Known Constructions. The subject of hypersurfaces with many singularities has a long and rich history which started with the classification of the singular cubic surfaces by Schläfli in 1963. In our opinion, it is necessary to know these developments if one really wants to understand the ideas behind our new constructions which form the main part of our work.

We thus start with a historical overview of the subject. In fact, we go slightly beyond this and give some obvious generalizations and detailed studies in cases in which it seems appropriate to us. E.g., equation (2.9) which follows from Gallarati's generalization of B. Segre's ideas shows that the maximum number $\mu_{A_2}(6)$ of cusps on a sextic is greater or equal to 36 which is a fact that has been overlooked for some time. Another example is our concrete computation of Varchenko's spectral bound in the case of A_j -singularities (section 3.7). This leads to an interpretation of this bound as so-called octahedral numbers in the case $j \geq 2d - 1$ (section 4.13).

Part 2: New Constructions and Algorithms. Our main results are contained in the second part of this thesis. Therein, we present some new constructions of hypersurfaces with many singularities which lead to new lower bounds for the maximum number $\mu_T^n(d)$ of singularities of type T on a hypersurface of degree din \mathbb{P}^n in many cases. In our opinion, the methods used for these constructions are of independent interest themselves because they can certainly be applied in many other situations.

At first sight, our most important result is certainly the construction of a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 with 99 nodes (chapter 8) which shows:

 $99 \le \mu(7) \le 104.$

INTRODUCTION

This is the first construction of odd degree d > 5 which exceeds the general lower bound given by Chmutov in 1992. After Chmutov's discovery there appeared surfaces with more nodes for d = 6, 8, 10, 12. These were found by taking a family of surfaces which depends on some parameters and each of whose members was invariant under some large symmetry group. The symmetry reduced the number of free parameters drastically, and it was possible to determine these using other geometrical arguments.

In large odd degree the only useful symmetry one can impose seems to be dihedral symmetry, i.e. the symmetry of the *d*-gon. But this kind of symmetry is essentially two-dimensional and thus leaves us with many parameters. The best way to solve this problem seems to guess some additional geometric properties of the hopefully existing surface with many singularities — but how? Our idea is to use experiments over prime fields to get these ideas. Based on these additional geometrical properties, it is then not very difficult to use computer algebra to eliminate all free parameters.

In some cases, it is even possible to solve the problem completely algorithmically. Either by directly working in characteristic zero and using elimination and primary decomposition (chapter 7), or by lifting the prime field parameters to characteristic zero using the chinese remainder theorem together with a rational recovery algorithm (chapter 9). Indeed, we implemented the latter algorithm as a SINGULAR library called SEARCHINFAMILIES.LIB. Using this, it is a triviality to reproduce the constructions of all known records for $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ for $d \leq 7$, even our own one for septics. When applying it to the next interesting case which is d = 9 we obtain a nonic with 226 nodes which shows:

$226 \le \mu(9) \le 246.$

Our algorithm is very general so that it can certainly be applied to many other concrete problems in algebraic geometry. In our opinion, all this makes the development of this algorithm the most important result of this thesis.

But we do not only describe algorithmic ways to construct some special examples. We also give a general construction of hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n with many A_j -singularities which does not use computers at all (chapter 5). It is based on Chmutov's well-known construction of nodal hypersurfaces. Our proof uses the so-called Dessins d'Enfants. The numbers of A_j -singularities of our examples exceed the known lower bounds in most cases. E.g. in \mathbb{P}^3 , we get:

$$\mu_{A_j}(d) \gtrsim \frac{3j+2}{6j(j+1)}d^3, \quad j \ge 2.$$

In \mathbb{P}^n , $n \ge 5$, our examples even improve the lower bounds in the nodal case slightly.

We then make a short excursus to the world of real algebraic geometry (chapter 6). We use a relation to the theory of real line arrangements to show that the numbers of nodes of Breske's real variants of Chmutov's surfaces are in some sense asymptotically the largest possible ones. This confirms a conjecture of Chmutov in the special case of real line arrangements.

Summarizing, we get table 0.1 on the facing page which gives the best known lower and upper bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_j}(d)$ of A_j -singularities on a surface of degree d for j = 1, 2, 3, 4.

We mark those cases in bold in which our constructions improve (to our knowledge) the previously known lower bounds. For $j \ge 2$ and $d \ge 5$, all best known lower bounds are either attained by our examples from chapter 5 or by Gallarati's generalization of B. Segre's idea which we work out in detail in section 2.5. The

4

MAIN RESULTS

| jd | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----|---------------|--|----------|-----------------------|------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| 1 | $\frac{4}{4}$ | $\underbrace{\overset{16}{\overbrace{16}}}_{16}$ | 31 31 | 65 65 | 99 104 | 168 174 | 226 246 | 345 360 | 425 480 | 600 645 | $\approx \underbrace{{}^{5/12}_{4/9}} \cdot d^3$ |
| 2 | 3/3 | 8/8 | 15 20 | 36 $\overline{37}$ | 52 62 | 70 98 | 126 144 | 1 59 202 | 225 275 | 300 363 | $\approx \frac{\mathbf{2/9}}{1/4} \cdot d^3$ |
| 3 | $\frac{1}{1}$ | $\frac{6}{6}$ | 10 13 | $\overbrace{26}^{15}$ | 31 44 | $\overbrace{69}^{64}$ | 72 102 | 114 144 | 140 195 | 198 258 | $\approx \frac{\mathbf{11/72}}{\mathbf{8/45}} \cdot d^3$ |
| 4 | 1 | 4 | 10 | $\frac{15}{20}$ | 21 35 | 32 54 | 54 80 | 100 | 110 152 | 132 201 | $\approx \frac{7/60}{5/36} \cdot d^3$ |

TABLE 0.1. An overview of our main results on the lower/upper bounds for the maximum possible number of A_j -singularities on surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 . The bold numbers indicate the cases in which the present work improves the previously best known lower bounds.

constructions for the other surfaces reaching the best known lower bounds in the nodal case (i.e., j = 1) are briefly described in our historical survey (part 1).

Part 3: Visualization. If a surface with many singularities is defined over the reals then it is sometimes nice to have a picture of it. But this is not the only reason why one would like to have good visualizations of singular surfaces: In the last part of this thesis we show how to use our visualization tools SPICY and SURFEX to construct good equations for all 45 topological types of real cubic surfaces with only rational double points. Furthermore, in many cases visualization is a very good tool to understand the geometry of some constructions in an intuitive way. And this can help to construct new intesting examples based on these known ones.

All pictures of algebraic surfaces in this thesis were produced using our SINGU-LAR library SURFEX.LIB. This is a SINGULAR interface for our tool SURFEX which also adds some features, e.g. the ability to draw one-dimensional real parts of surfaces which are not contained in the real two-dimensional component.





Figure on the preceding pages: Barth's 345-nodal icosahedral-symmetric dectic from 1996. Like his famous 65-nodal sextic, Barth constructed it by studying a one-parameter family of symmetric surfaces. See [Lab03a] for more images and movies of algebraic surfaces.

Part 1

Known Constructions

INTRODUCTION

Introduction

In this historical overview, we present the work on the question on the maximum number of singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in $\mathbb{P}^n := \mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$ which has been done before the appearance of the present work. We try to mention all major results on the subject. It is clear that we cannot go into the details at many places. In view of our main results contained in the other parts of this thesis, our focus will be on the geometry and equations of the hypersurfaces.

Some very brief survey articles have already appeared on surfaces with many singularities (e.g., [Tog50], [Gal84], [End95]). Ours aims to be a bit more exhaustive in two senses: First, we do not only mention very few important results; second, we do not only summarize the ideas, but we also give some natural generalizations and concrete examples. An example is our concrete computation of Varchenko's spectral bound in the case of A_j -singularities (section 3.7). This leads to an interpretation of this bound as so-called octahedral numbers in the case $j \geq 2d - 1$ (section 4.13).

Another aim of this survey is to give geometers who want to construct new examples of hypersurfaces with many isolated singularities a kind of encyclopedia at hand which one can use to get new ideas or to combine and improve old ones. At the same time, it can serve as a guide to the literature which tries to be as complete as possible. Beside this, we want to point out some of the interesting historical developments by presenting this overview in (more or less) chronical order and by indicating the relations between the constructions as often as possible.

Our summary is devided into four parts each of which starts with a short introduction. This might be particularly helpful for an impatient reader who just wants to get a very short overview. Finally, we want to mention that the large number of papers on the subject in van Straten's library and one of his unpublished notes have proven to be quite useful as a starting point for our work.



A 16-nodal Kummer surface. In 1864, Kummer noticed that Fresnel's wave surface had 16 nodes and that this was indeed the maximum possible number of nodes on a quartic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 .

CHAPTER 1

The Important First Steps (until 1915)

After the trivial cases of degree $d \leq 2$, the first interesting case is the one of surfaces of degree three, the so-called *cubic surfaces*. These were already classified with respect to the singularities occuring on them in 1863 by Schläffi. Only one year later, Kummer noticed that the maximum number of isolated singularities on a quartic was 16.

In the following years, several interesting constructions and upper bounds appeared including Rohn's construction of surfaces of degree d with $\approx \frac{1}{4}d^3$ nodes and Basset's upper bound $\mu_{Dp}(d) \leq \frac{1}{2}d^3$ for the maximum number of double points on a surface of degree d. Also, the first nodal hypersurfaces in higher dimensions showed up, but mainly as a tool for understanding surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 in a better way.

1.1. Cubic Surfaces

One of the first major achievements on algebraic surfaces was Cayley's and Salmon's observation in 1849 that a smooth cubic surface contains lines exactly 27 lines [**Cay49**]. In fact, they also noticed [**Sal49b**] that there are still 27 lines when certain singularities occur if the lines are counted with the correct multiplicity. The automorphism group of the configuration of the 27 lines contains the simple group of order 25920 as an index two normal subgroup. This configuration and the group played an important role in the development of group theory until the end of the 19th century. See, e.g., Dickson's book [**Dic01**, chapter XIV, p. 292-298].

1.1.1. Schläfli's Classification. Shortly after this discovery, Schläfli presented the classification with respect to the singularities and the reality of the lines [Sch63] (see also [Sch58] and [Cay69]). This very explicit article also contains many (projective) equations, e.g. of the four-nodal cubic surface

(1.1)
$$\operatorname{Cay}_3 := \frac{1}{x_0} + \frac{1}{x_1} + \frac{1}{x_2} + \frac{1}{x_3} = 0$$

which is nowadays often called *Cayley Cubic* (fig. 1.1 on the next page). To our knowledge, it is not clear who first discovered its existence, but Cayley was certainly one of the first to know it. Any four-nodal cubic is projectively equivalent to this one. Another nice equation of this cubic is the following (compare also (1.5)):

(1.2) Cay₃:
$$x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + x_3^3 + \frac{1}{4}x_4^3 = 0$$
, $x_0 + x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4 = 0$.

In chapter 12 on page 141 we give explicit affine equations and images for all real topological types of cubic surfaces.

The class $d^*(f)$ of a surface f of degree d is the number of tangency points f has with a generic pencil of hyperplanes (see e.g., [**BW79**, section 3]). This number is also the degree of the dual surface f^* of f. A smooth surface of degree d has class $d(d-1)^2$. In the times of Schläfli's work mentioned above, it was well-known



FIGURE 1.1. The four-nodal Cayley Cubic with the affine equation: $4(x^3 + 3x^2 - 3xy^2 + 3y^2 + \frac{1}{2}) + 3(x^2 + y^2)(z - 6) - z(3 + 4z + 7z^2)$. It contains exactly three lines of multiplicity one and six lines of multiplicity four.

(apparently due to Salmon [Sal47], [Sal49a], using results of Poncelet [Pon29, §93], see also [Sal80]) that each singularity of type A_j of f diminishes the class by $j+1 \ge 2$ which gives: $d^*(f) \le d(d-1)^2 - 2\mu_A(f)$, where $\mu_A(f)$ denotes the number of A_j -singularities of f. It was also well-known that for a surface of degree $d \ge 3$ we have $d^*(f) \ge 3$. This yields:

(1.3)
$$\mu_A(d) \le \frac{1}{2} \left(d(d-1)^2 - 3 \right).$$

$$d \quad 1 \quad 2 \quad 3 \quad 4 \quad 5 \quad 6 \quad 7 \quad 8 \quad 9 \quad 10 \quad 11$$

| d | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|-----------------|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu_A(d) \leq$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 38 | 73 | 124 | 194 | 286 | 403 | 548 | 724 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |

Together with the existence of the four-nodal cubic (1.1) we get:

(1.4)
$$\mu(3) = \mu_A(3) = \mu_{A_1}(3) = 4.$$

Knowing that a cusp (i.e., an A_2 -singularity) reduces the class by 3, the preceding bound can be used to show that the maximum number of cusps is 3. For higher singularities this technique is not sufficient. E.g., it does not give any reason for the non-existence of a cubic with an A_8 -singularity. In [Sch63], Schläfli presents a more detailed study of the geometry of A_j -singularities to show that they only exist on cubic surfaces for $j \leq 5$.

1.1.2. Further Results. There are several other important works on cubic surfaces which also influenced the theory of hypersurfaces with many singularities. E.g., Clebsch's article [Cle71] which contains the description of his famous *Diagonal Cubic Surface* in \mathbb{P}^3 with 27 real lines, see fig. 1.2 on the next page. It is given by cutting a Σ_5 -symmetric hypercubic with a Σ_5 -symmetric hyperclass in \mathbb{P}^4 :

(1.5) Cle₃:
$$x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + x_3^3 + x_4^3 = 0$$
, $x_0 + x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4 = 0$.

Although this surface is smooth it will appear again in subsequent sections.

Klein's article [Kle73] was probably one of the first applications of deformation theory to algebraic surfaces: Starting from a cubic surface with four nodes he constructed the other topological types of cubic surfaces by deformations. For a recent detailed classification of real cubic surfaces with singularities, see [KM87].



FIGURE 1.2. The Clebsch Diagonal Cubic. We copied the equation for this affine view from a SURF script of S. Endraß. In (1.5) he replaced the x_i by the tetrahedral coordinates $y_0 = 1 - x_2 - \sqrt{2}x_0$, $y_1 = 1 - x_2 + \sqrt{2}x_0$, $y_2 = 1 + x_2 + \sqrt{2}x_1$, $y_3 = 1 + x_2 - \sqrt{2}x_1$.

1.1.3. Models of Surfaces. The algebraic geometers of the 19th century did not only describe abstract properties of cubic surfaces. They were also interested in the intuitive understanding of their geometry. Clebsch was probably the first who suggested to construct a real world (plaster) model of a cubic surface. At his suggestion, Wiener produced such a model of the Clebsch Diagonal Cubic in 1869. Together with some other models, it was presented at several exhibitions in the world. Other well-known series of models were produced by Klein and Rodenberg (see [Rod04] and [Rod79]). For more recent works concerning real-world models, see [Fis86, Kae99] and chapter 11.

1.2. Kummer Quartics

Only one year after Schläfli's classification of the cubic surfaces, Kummer studied quartics with the maximum number of singularities systematically. In [Kum75a] he remarked in 1864 that Fresnel's Wave Surface was an algebraic surface of degree 4 containing 16 nodes. This classical surface was discovered in 1819 during Fresnel's studies on crystal optics and his ideas of a wave theory of light (see [OR] for more bibliographical information). The equation of Fresnel's Wave Surface presented in [Sal80] as an example of a quartic derived from an ellipsoid (see fig. 1.3 on the following page) is:

Fres_{*a,b,c*} :=
$$((x^2(R_2 - b^2)(R_2 - c^2)) + (y^2(R_2 - a^2)(R_2 - c^2)) + (z^2(R_2 - a^2)(R_2 - b^2)) - (R_2 - a^2)(R_2 - b^2)(R_2 - c^2),$$

where $R_2 := x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ and the constants $a, b, c \in \mathbb{C}$ can be chosen arbitrarily.

Kummer also noticed in [Kum75a] that 16 was the maximum possible number of singularities on a quartic — using the reasoning (1.3) based on the upper bound for the class. This showed:

(1.6)
$$\mu(4) = \mu_A(4) = \mu_{A_1}(4) = \mathbf{16}.$$

His systematic treatment of all 16-nodal quartics in [Kum75a] and [Kum75b] is the reason why such surfaces are nowadays called *Kummer Surfaces*. We copied a slightly adapted version of Kummer's equation given in [Kum75b] from a SINGU-LAR script of S. Endraß, see fig. 1.3 for a picture:

(1.7)
$$\operatorname{Ku}_{\mu} := \left(x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - \mu^2\right)^2 - \lambda y_0 y_1 y_2 y_3, \\ \lambda = \frac{3\mu^2 - 1}{3-\mu^2}, \ \mu \in \mathbb{C},$$

where the y_i are the tetrahedral coordinates already used for Clebsch's Diagonal Cubic in fig. 1.2 on the preceding page. A very nice book on the Kummer quartic was written by Hudson [Hud90] a few years later. Another famous monograph on singular quartic surfaces is [Jes16].



FIGURE 1.3. Fresnel's Wave Surface $\operatorname{Fres}_{1,\frac{3}{10},\frac{1}{2}}$ of 1819 has 16 nodes only four of which are real. Kummer's tetrahedral-symmetric Surface Ku_{1.3} of 1864, instead, has 16 real nodes.

1.3. Rohn's Construction of Quartics with 8-16 Nodes

In [Roh86], Rohn studied quartics with 8–16 nodes in a systematic way by examining the sextic plane curve obtained as the branch locus of the projection of the quartic to a plane. The 16-nodal Kummer quartic corresponds to the case in which the sextics factors into six straight lines.

One of his equations of the 12-nodal quartic is still one of the most important methods for finding surfaces with many singularities as we will see later. Fig. 1.4 on the next page illustrates the idea for curves with A_2 -singularities. Rohn's case of a quartic with 12 nodes involved four planes and a smooth quadric instead of lines and circles, see fig. 1.5 on the facing page.

I am indebted to Viat. Kharlamov who informed me of the fact that this idea is contained in Rohn's article (and is probably even older, compare e.g. Schläffi's article [Sch63]). All articles of the second half of the 20th century known to us attribute this construction to B. Segre, see section 2.2. A reason for this might be that in his famous book on singular quartic surfaces [Jes16], Jessop attributes the systematic treatment of quartics with many nodes to Rohn, but he neither gives a reference to Rohn's article [Roh86], nor explains this construction explicitly.

For the more general case of degree d, Rohn's construction (he only discusses the special case d = 4) can be described as follows: d general hyperplanes l_i in \mathbb{P}^3 intersect in $\binom{d}{2}$ lines which meet a general surface q of degree $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ in $\binom{d}{2} \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor \approx \frac{1}{4} d^3$ points. Thus, the surfaces

(1.8)
$$\operatorname{Ro}_d: \prod_{i=1}^d l_i - q^2 = 0$$



FIGURE 1.4. Globalizing the local equation of a singularity.



FIGURE 1.5. Rohn's 12-nodal surface [Roh86, p. 33] constructed by globalizing the local equation of a node.

have $\binom{d}{2}\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4}d^3 - \frac{1}{4}d^2, & d \text{ even} \\ \frac{1}{4}d^3 - \frac{1}{2}d^2 + \frac{1}{4}d, & d \text{ odd} \end{cases}$ nodes.

1.4. Basset's Upper Bound for Surfaces

Besides these constructions there also appeared new upper bounds. In 1906, Basset [**Bas06a**], [**Bas06b**] improved the bound (1.3) for the maximum number of isolated double points on a surface f of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 . But the approximate behaviour did not change: $\mu_{Dp}(d) \leq \frac{1}{2}d^3$. Basset's idea was to project a nodal surface f of degree d and class d^* in \mathbb{P}^3 from a general point. This yields a (d-2)fold covering $f \to \mathbb{P}^2$ ramified along a plane curve C of degree d(d-1) and class d^* . Applying the Plücker Formulas to C yields:

(1.9)
$$\mu_{Dp}(d) \le \frac{1}{2} \left(d(d-1)^2 - 5 - \sqrt{d(d-1)(3d-14) + 25} \right).$$

Many years later, Stagnaro remarked that Basset's article was not rigorous enough and gave a modern proof [Sta83]. Furthermore, his proof yielded a generalization of Basset's bound to ordinary q-fold points, see section 3.1.3.

The following table gives the knowledge on $\mu_{Dp}(d)$ at this point. Although Rohn used the method described above only for constructing quartics, we list the number of nodes on surfaces of higher degree that one obtains in this way. The bold numbers indicate the cases in which Basset's upper or Rohn's lower bound improve the previously known bounds:

| d | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|--------------------|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|------------|-----|---------------------------------|
| $\mu_{Dp}(d) \le$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 34 | 66 | 114 | 181 | 270 | 383 | 524 | 696 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 20 | 45 | 63 | 112 | 144 | 225 | 275 | 396 | $pprox rac{1}{4} \mathrm{d}^3$ |

We only want to mention in passing that in the years after Basset's discovery, several other people tried to improve his bound. E.g., Lefschetz [Lef13] and Holl-croft [Hol23], [Hol28], [Hol29] succeeded, but only under a certain assumption which Lefschetz calls the "postulate of singularities". As Lefschetz mentioned, for plane curves this postulate is equivalent to the "almost obvious" admission that when a curve can have κ_1 cusps it can also have any number of cusps smaller than κ_1 . Nowadays, it is known that such properties can be shown by proving the non-obstructedness of a certain deformation functor.

1.5. Some Hypersurfaces in Higher Dimensions

1.5.1. C. Segre's 10-nodal Cubic in \mathbb{P}^4 . Already at the end of the 19th century, the first hypersurfaces in higher dimensions with many singularities were constructed: In 1887, C. Segre described a 10-nodal cubic in \mathbb{P}^4 [Seg87] (see also [Seg88], [Cas88]) which is the maximum possible number by an argument similar to (1.3). It can be shown that there is in fact only one such cubic up to projective equivalence, see e.g. [Kal86]. When denoting by $\sigma_j(x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_5)$, $j \in \mathbb{N}$, the *j*-th elementary symmetric polynomial in \mathbb{P}^5 , C. Segre's cubic has the following nice equation:

(1.10)
$$\operatorname{Seg}_3: \sigma_1(x_0, x_1, \dots, x_5) = \sigma_3(x_0, x_1, \dots, x_5) = 0.$$

The 10 nodes are the elements of the Σ_6 -orbit of the point (1:1:1:-1:-1:-1:-1). Another equally nice equation is (compare Clebsch's Diagonal Cubic (1.5) in section 1.1 on page 13 and Kalker's cubics in section 3.11 on page 41):

(1.11)
$$\operatorname{Seg}_3: \quad \sum_{i=0}^5 x_i = \sum_{i=0}^5 x_i^3 = 0.$$

C. Segre also noticed (see [Seg87] and also [Tog50, p. 53]) that it is possible to construct a Kummer quartic with the help of his 10-nodal Cubic in \mathbb{P}^4 (in fact, this seems to be his major motivation for constructing the cubic in \mathbb{P}^4). To understand this construction of the Kummer quartic, let us start with a cubic hypersurface H in \mathbb{P}^4 and a general point P on it. We may assume that P has the coordinates (1:0:0:0:0) s.t. H has the form

$$H = F_3 + 2x_0F_2 + x_0^2F_1,$$

where the $F_i \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4]$ have degree i = 1, 2, 3. The projection of H from P to \mathbb{P}^3 is a 2-fold ramified covering with branch locus

(1.12)
$$\Phi_4 := \det \begin{pmatrix} F_1 & F_2 \\ F_2 & F_3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

In general, Φ_4 has $1 \cdot 2 \cdot 3 = 6$ singularities at the points in which all the F_i , i = 1, 2, 3, vanish. But if H is the 10-nodal Segre cubic Seg₃ then one expects to get 10 additional nodes on Φ_4 . Indeed, in this way we get the 16-nodal Kummer quartic.

1.5.2. Burkhardt's 45-nodal Quartic in \mathbb{P}^4 . In 1891, Burkhardt constructed a quartic in \mathbb{P}^4 with 45 nodes and showed this to be the maximum possible number [**Bur91**]. Its beautiful geometrical and combinatorial properties connected to the group of the 27 lines of the cubic surfaces were worked out in [**Bak46**] and [**Tod47**]. The fact that the Burkhardt quartic is also unique up to projective equivalence is a much more recent result [**dJSBdV90**]. Similar to C. Segre's 10-nodal cubic, this unique 45-nodal quartic can be given by elementary symmetric polynomials:

(1.13) $\operatorname{Bu}_4: \quad \sigma_1(x_0, x_1, \dots, x_5) = \sigma_4(x_0, x_1, \dots, x_5) = 0.$

Nowadays, we know that the Burkhardt quartic is unobstructed which shows the existence of quartics with exactly 0 up to 45 nodes. Determinantal equations for such quartics were given only recently **[Pet98]**.

1.5.3. Some Cubics with Many Singularities. The first cubic in \mathbb{P}^5 with the maximum number of ordinary double points was Veneroni's 15-nodal hypersurface [Ven14]. The description of the space of all such hypercubics was the main subject of Kalker's Ph.D. thesis 70 years later [Kal86].

Lefschetz considered higher-dimensional hypersurfaces with many higher singularities. E.g., he constructed a cubic hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^4 with 5 cusps which is the maximum possible number, see [Lef12].



Barth's D_5 -symmetric Togliatti quintic from 1993. Togliatti already showed the existence of 31-nodal quintics in 1940, but he did not give concrete equations.

CHAPTER 2

The Problem is Difficult (1915–1959)

After the first fruitful years the development of the area of hypersurfaces with many singularities slowed down a bit. In fact, the first striking result after Basset's upper bound of 1906 was the construction of Togliatti's 31-nodal quintic surface in 1940 (section 2.1). It seems that it was only after this discovery that the geometers realized the difficulty and relevance of the problem (see e.g., **[Tog50**]).

In the following years, several papers appeared on the subject. The major results in this direction were probably B. Segre's counterexamples to Severi's claimed upper bound (section 2.2), and B. Segre's observation that pull-back under a branched covering is a good way to produce many singularities (section 2.4).

2.1. Togliatti's Cubics in \mathbb{P}^5 and Quintic in \mathbb{P}^3

More than 20 years after Veneroni, Togliatti also constructed 15-nodal cubics in \mathbb{P}^5 [**Tog36**] ([**Tog37**] contains a simplified version) and he also proved that this was the maximum possible number of nodes on such a hypersurface. As Togliatti remarked on the last page of [**Tog37**], his family contains Veneroni's as a special case. His three-parameter family of 15-nodal cubics is:

(2.1)
$$\operatorname{Tog}_3: \quad x_3 x_4 x_5 + x_3 A + x_4 B + x_5 C = 0.$$

where $A, B, C \in \mathbb{C}[x_0, x_1, x_2]$ are defined as follows:

$$A := -x_0^2 + lx_1^2 + \frac{1}{k}x_2^2, \quad B := \frac{1}{l}x_0^2 - x_1^2 + hx_2^2, \quad C := kx_0^2 + \frac{1}{h}x_1^2 - x_2^2,$$

and where the three parameters $0 \neq h, k, l \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfy the condition $hkl + 1 \neq 0$. A particularly nice equation of a 15-nodal cubic in \mathbb{P}^5 arises for h = k = l = 1.

Togliatti's cubics are much better known than Veneroni's because Togliatti used them to show the existence of a 31-nodal quintic surface Tog_{31} in \mathbb{P}^3 [**Tog40**] which was the first new lower bound for the maximum number $\mu(d)$ of singularities on a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 since 50 years:

(2.2)
$$\mu_{A_1}(5) \ge \mathbf{31}.$$

Togliatti's construction is a variant of C. Segre's construction of the Kummer quartic (1.12). Togliatti started with a smooth hypercubic H in \mathbb{P}^5 . As there are four conditions on a line to be contained in such a cubic and as the Grassmanian of lines has dimension 8, we get a four-dimensional family of lines on a generic hypercubic H. Assuming that the line l is given by $x_2 = x_3 = x_4 = x_5 = 0$, the cubic can be written in the from

$$H = A + 2x_1B + 2x_1C + x_0^2D + 2x_0x_1E + x_1^2F,$$

where $A, B, C, D, E, F \in \mathbb{C}[x_2, \ldots, x_5]$. When intersecting $H \subset \mathbb{P}^4$ with the \mathbb{P}^3 of \mathbb{P}^2 's containing l we get a cubic consisting of the line l and a residual conic which

will be a pair of lines if

(2.3)
$$\Phi_5 := \det \begin{pmatrix} A & B & C \\ B & D & E \\ C & E & F \end{pmatrix} = 0.$$

 Φ_5 is a quintic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 with coordinates x_2, \ldots, x_5 . This surface has 16 singular points corresponding to the points in which all the 2 × 2 minors of the matrix vanish. Now, if the hypercubic C in \mathbb{P}^5 has some nodes one expects the quintic surface Φ to have the same number of extra nodes. Using a 15-nodal cubic we get the desired 16 + 15 = 31 nodes on Φ_5 which we denote by Tog_{31} in that case. Nowadays, all 31-nodal quintics in \mathbb{P}^3 all called Togliatti quintics because Beauville showed in [Bea79b] using a result of Catanese [Cat81] that all 31-nodal quintics in \mathbb{P}^3 can actually be obtained with Togliatti's construction.

Other more explicit constructions of 31-nodal quintics were given later: In 1983, Stagnaro constructed a 31-nodal quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 , and a real dihedral-symmetric such quintic was found by Barth in the 90's. The latter was described in Endraß's Ph.D. thesis [End96] (see also section 4.2 on page 47).

2.2. Severi's Wrong Assumption and B. Segre's First Construction

In 1946, Severi wrote an article [Sev46] on an upper bound of $\binom{d+2}{3} - 4 \approx \frac{1}{6}d^3$ singularities which was shown to be wrong by B. Segre only shortly afterwards [Seg47].

In fact, Severi considered the following property as being intuitively clear: μ ordinary double points diminish the number of moduli of the surface at least by μ . As Lefschetz already noticed (see end of section 1.4), we have to be very careful with such arguments. Burns and Wahl [**BW74**] analyzed this problem in 1974: They showed that the minimal resolution $X \to f$ of a μ -nodal surface f of degree d is unobstructed if and only if the set of nodes Σ is d-independent, i.e. for any partition $\Sigma = \Sigma' \cup \Sigma''$, one may find a hypersurface of degree d containing Σ' and missing Σ'' . To obtain an example of a surface of the lowest possible degree with obstructed minimal resolution, they considered the variants

(2.4)
$$BW_d := \prod_{i=1}^d l_i(x_0, x_1, x_2) - x_3^d = 0$$

of Rohn's construction (1.8) with $\binom{d}{2}$ singularities of type A_{d-1} (the l_i are general linear forms in x_0, x_1, x_2). Indeed, for d = 5 this is a quintic with ten A_4 -singularities which is an example of an obstructed minimal resolution of a surface of the lowest degree.

Burns and Wahl [**BW74**] also mentioned that B. Segre's counterexamples [Seg47] to Severi's claim lead to unobstructed minimal resolutions. These can be constructed as follows. Consider the form

$$\Phi := \det \begin{pmatrix} f_{11} & \cdots & f_{1r} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ f_{r1} & \cdots & f_{rr} \end{pmatrix},$$

where $f_{ij} = f_{ji}$ are forms of degree k in four variables. Such a surface Φ of degree $r \cdot k$ in \mathbb{P}^3 has in general nodes at the $\delta := \binom{r+1}{3} \cdot k^3$ points in which the $(r-1) \times (r-1)$ minors of the matrix vanish.

In section 9 of his article, B. Segre specialized the f_{ij} and got surfaces of degree $r \cdot k$ with exactly $\delta_1 := \delta + \frac{r}{2}k^2(k-1) = \frac{rk}{6}(r^2k^2 + 2k^2 - 3k)$ nodes. For r = 2, these are surfaces of even degree d = 2k with exactly $\frac{1}{4}d^3 - \frac{1}{4}d^2$ nodes which disproved Severi's claim.

As already mentioned in section 1.3 on page 16, Viat. Kharlamov informed me of the fact that for r = 2, these surfaces had already been found by Rohn [Roh86] 60 years earlier in the case of quartics.

Togliatti [**Tog50**] gave an overview of the results on hypersurfaces with many singularities known until 1950 and pointed out the difficulty of the subject. His survey article turned out to have some influence on the development of the subject: In fact, several authors cited this article as a motivation for working in this field in the following years.

2.3. Gallarati's General Constructions

In [Gal51b], Gallarati remarked that the special case of r = 2 of B. Segre's construction also worked for odd degree in order to show that Severi's claim fails for all $d \ge 12$. Again, this was basically a rediscovery of Rohn's construction from section 1.3 on page 16.

Gallarati [Gal51a] also gave another construction of nodal surfaces of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 with approximately $\approx \frac{1}{4}d^3$ nodes. His construction improved the old bound 1.8 on page 16 in the lower order terms:

(2.5)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge \begin{cases} \frac{1}{4}d^3 + \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{d}^2 - d, & d \text{ even} \\ \frac{1}{4}d^3 - \frac{1}{4}\mathbf{d}^2 - \frac{1}{4}d + 1, & d \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

It is interesting to note that he also gave a construction of surfaces of odd degree d with exactly one triple point and many additional nodes whose number of nodes $\delta(d)$ exceeded the previously mentioned ones:

(2.6)
$$\delta(d) = \frac{1}{4}d^3 + \frac{1}{4}d^2 - \frac{9}{4}d - \frac{9}{4}d.$$

The following table lists the bounds known up to this point. Again, the bold numbers indiciate the cases in which Gallarati's construction improved the previously known bounds. In the cases in which $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ differs from $\mu(d)$, we give both numbers:

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|-------------------------------|----|----|--------|-----|----------|------------|----------|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu_{Dp}(d) \le$ | 34 | 66 | 114 | 181 | 270 | 383 | 524 | 696 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ (\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 57 | 72(81) | 136 | 160(181) | 265 | 300(337) | 456 | $\approx \frac{1}{4}d^3$ |

2.4. B. Segre's Second Construction

In [Seg52], B. Segre introduced another nice construction of surfaces with many singularities using pull-back under a branched covering. He considered the map

$$\Omega: \mathbb{P}^3 \to \mathbb{P}^3, \ (x_0: x_1: x_2: x_3) \mapsto (x_0^2: x_1^2: x_2^2: x_3^2).$$

This map has degree eight and the pull-back of a form $f(x_0, x_1, x_2, x_3)$ of degree d under this map is a form $f(x_0^2, x_1^2, x_2^2, x_3^2)$ of degree 2d. A node of f outside the coordinate tetrahedron corresponds to eight nodes of the transformed surface. Taking f to be tangent to the tetrahedron, one gets additional nodes. In this way, B. Segre constructed surfaces of degree 4, 6, 8 with 16, 63, 153 nodes, respectively.

E.g., for the Kummer quartic he took a tetrahedron each of whose four planes touch a smooth quadric in generic points.

B. Segre explained that his construction can also be applied to any nodal surface F_0 of degree d_0 with k_0 nodes. The resulting surface has degree $2d_0$ and $8k_0 + 4$ nodes. Applied successively to his 153-nodal octic and so on, this yields surfaces F_i of degree $d = 2^i \cdot 8$ with

(2.7)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) > \frac{153}{8^3} d^3$$

nodes. This was the first time that an asymptotic lower bound of more than $\frac{1}{4}d^3$ singularities on a surface of degree d appeared. We get the following table (Basset's upper bound was still the best one which was valid without additional assumptions):

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|-------------------------------|----|----|--------|-----|----------|-----|----------|-----|-------------------------------------|
| $\mu_{Dp}(d) \le$ | 34 | 66 | 114 | 181 | 270 | 383 | 524 | 696 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ (\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 63 | 80(81) | 153 | 180(181) | 265 | 336(337) | 508 | $pprox rac{153}{512} \mathrm{d}^3$ |

In his paper, B. Segre also remarked that it might be possible to adapt his construction of the 153-nodal octic to get a 160-nodal one. This would improve this lower bound to $\approx \frac{160}{8^3} d^3 = \frac{5}{16} d^3$.

In the same paper, B. Segre also tried to improve the upper bounds for a surface f with only isolated double points. He did not succeed in general, but under the assumption that f does not possess an infinite number of *tritangent planes* (i.e. planes which are tangent to the surface in three points) and that its *parabolic curve* (the intersection of the surface with its hessian) and its *flecnodal curve* (the points at which there is a line having at least 4-point contact with the surface) do not contain any common component. E.g., he showed that — under these assumptions — a quintic cannot have more than 31 singularities and a sextic cannot have more than 63 ones. Of course, this did not prove that there were no surfaces with more nodes, but it gave an idea where to search for such examples.

2.5. Gallarati's Generalization of B. Segre's Second Construction

Shortly after B. Segre's discovery, Gallarati [Gal52a] generalized the map Ω to higher dimensions and higher singularities:

(2.8)
$$\Omega_j^n: \mathbb{P}^n \to \mathbb{P}^n, \ (x_0: x_1: \dots: x_n) \mapsto (x_0^j: x_1^j: \dots: x_n^j).$$

As an example analogous to B. Segre's construction of the Kummer quartic, Gallarati took a smooth quadric in \mathbb{P}^n touching the n + 1 hyperplanes of the coordinate (n + 1)-hedron in generic points. Via Ω_2^n this gives a hyperquartic in \mathbb{P}^n with $(n + 1) \cdot 2^{n-1}$ nodes. E.g., Gallarati obtained a 40-nodal hyperquartic V_{40} in \mathbb{P}^4 .

2.5.1. A Formula. Gallarati did not give a general formula for the number and type of singularities one obtains in this way. But it is easy to derive a formula for hypersurfaces with A_j -singularities similar to B. Segre's case of nodal surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 : Let F_0 be a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n of degree d_0 with k_0 singularities of type A_j . Take n+1 general hyperplanes tangent to F_0 as the coordinate (n+1)-hedron. The degree of the map Ω_{j+1}^n is $(j+1)^n$ away from the coordinate hyperplanes. It is $(j+1)^{n-1}$ on a general intersection point of two of the coordinate hyperplanes, and $(j+1)^{n-i}$, $i = 2, 3, \ldots, n$, for even more special points on the coordinate hyperplanes.
For our generic choice of coordinate hyperplanes tangent to F_0 the pull-back under Ω_{i+1}^n thus gives a hypersurface F_1 in \mathbb{P}^n of degree $d_1 := (j+1) \cdot d_0$ with

(2.9)
$$\mu_{A_j}(F_1) = (j+1)^n \cdot k_0 + (n+1) \cdot (j+1)^{n-1}$$

singularities of type A_j . E.g., applied to a smooth quadric in \mathbb{P}^3 this gives:

COROLLARY 2.1. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$. There exist surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 of degree $d = 2 \cdot (j+1)$ with $4 \cdot (j+1)^2$ singularities of type A_j .

Specializing even further to n = 3, j = 2, we obtain:

(2.10)
$$\mu_{A_2}(6) \ge 36.$$

Notice that this is quite interesting because we know nowadays from Miyaoka's bound (section 3.10 on page 40) that $\mu_{A_2}(6) \leq 37$ holds.

Applying the preceding construction to F_1 , we obtain a hypersurface F_2 in \mathbb{P}^n of degree $d_2 := (j+1)^2 \cdot d_0$ with

$$\mu_{A_j}(F_2) = (j+1)^n \left((j+1)^n \cdot k_0 + (n+1) \cdot (j+1)^{n-1} \right) + (n+1)(j+1)^{n-1}$$

singularities of type A_j . Iterating this, we get a hypersurface F_i of degree $d_i := (j+1)^i \cdot d_0$ with

(2.11)
$$\mu_{A_j}(F_i) = (j+1)^{ni} \cdot k_0 + \frac{n+1}{j+1} \cdot \left(\frac{(j+1)^{n(i+1)} - 1}{(j+1)^n - 1} - 1\right)$$

singularities of type A_j . Approximately, we thus have:

(2.12)
$$\mu_{A_j}(F_i) \approx \frac{1}{d_0^n} \cdot \left(k_0 + \frac{(n+1)\cdot(j+1)^{n-1}}{(j+1)^n - 1}\right) \cdot d_i^n \text{ for } i \text{ large.}$$

Notice that it is easy to compute how many singularities we need to improve the best known lower bounds using the formula (2.12). E.g., let us look at nodal surfaces: To improve Chmutov's lower bound $\approx \frac{5}{12}d^3$ for the maximum number of nodes on a surface of degree d (section 4.1 on page 45) it suffices to construct a surface of degree d_0 with k_0 nodes, s.t. $k_0 > \frac{5}{12}d_0^3 - \frac{16}{7}$. Comparing this with the best known upper bound (section 3.10 on page 40), we find, e.g., that a 13652-nodal surface of degree 32 or a 109225-nodal surface of degree 64 would be sufficient.

We also want to mention that B. Segre's idea was rediscovered and worked out in detail in the case of plane curves with A_j -singularities by Hirano in 1992 [**Hir92**]. E.g., he found the lower bound of $\approx \frac{9}{32}d^2$ cusps on a plane curve of degree d in the way described above by starting from a smooth conic. To our knowledge, the currently best known lower bound for the maximum number of cusps on a plane curve is Vik.S. Kulikov's [**Kul03**]. He was able to choose at every other step of the iteration one of the coordinate axes to be bitangent to the curve which gives $\mu_{A_2}^2(d) \gtrsim \frac{283}{60\cdot 16}d^2$ when starting from a three-cuspidal quartic. D. Paccagnan (a student of Stagnaro) announced in an abstract of a talk at the ICM 1998 a slightly better lower bound, but this was never published. The currently best known upper bound is: $\mu_{A_2}^2(d) \leq \frac{5}{16}d^2 - \frac{3}{8}d$. This result is probably due to Ivinskis [**Ivi85**], see also: [**Hir86**], [**Sak93**]. To our knowledge, the maximum number of cusps on a plane curve of degree d is still unknown for d > 12.

2.5.2. Gallarati's Applications of the Construction. In his article, Gallarati performed the computation presented in the previous section in the special case of nodal surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , i.e. j = 2 and n = 3. This gave a slight improvement to B. Segre's lower bound because B. Segre only considered one coordinate hyperplane (instead of four) to be tangent to the surface. For the maximum number of nodes on a surface of degree $d = 2^k \cdot 8$ Gallarati thus obtained:

(2.13)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) \gtrsim \left(\frac{153}{512} + \frac{1}{224}\right) \mathbf{d}^3.$$

But one cannot only obtain hypersurfaces with many A_j -singularities using this construction as Gallarati's example of a surface of degree 9 in \mathbb{P}^3 with 36 ordinary triple points showed. This surface is nicely connected to cubic surfaces with Eckardt points: He started with a smooth cubic surface with four Eckardt points, i.e. points in which three of the 27 lines meet. Taking as the coordinate tetrahedron the four planes tangent to these Eckardt points, Ω_3^3 yields a nonic with $4 \cdot 3^2 = 36$ triple points (recently, Stagnaro used similar ideas to get 39 triple points [Sta04]).

Gallarati then used the 40-nodal quartic V_{40} in \mathbb{P}^4 obtained above to construct a sextic in \mathbb{P}^3 in a way similar to the construction of the Kummer quartic (1.12) and the Togliatti quintic (2.3): Taking one of the nodes of V_{40} as the origin P := $(1:0:\cdots:0)$ of the coordinate system, V_{40} has the form:

(2.14)
$$V_{40} := x_0^2 F_2 + 2x_0 F_3 + F_4 = 0,$$

where $F_i \in \mathbb{C}[x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4]$ are of degree i, i = 2, 3, 4. The projection from P to the \mathbb{P}^3 given by $x_0 = 0$ is a 2-fold ramified covering with branch locus

(2.15)
$$\operatorname{Ga}_{63} := \det \left(\begin{array}{cc} F_2 & F_3 \\ F_3 & F_4 \end{array} \right).$$

Ga₆₃ has $2\cdot 3\cdot 4 + (40 - 1) = 63$ double points which is the same number of nodes as B. Segre's sextic. Gallarati also remarked that a similar construction could not work if we started with a 45-nodal quartic in \mathbb{P}^4 because it would give a 68-nodal sextic which is not possible because of Basset's bound. But it is interesting to note that van Straten's suggestion to try to start with the 3-parameter family of 42-nodal quartics yields a 3-parameter family of 65-nodal sextics as shown in [**Pet98**], see also section 4.5 on page 50.

2.6. Kreiss's Construction

In 1955, Kreiss described a construction of some surfaces of even degree d = 2k with many nodes [Kre55]. Similar to a construction of Castelnuovo [Cas91], they have the form

$$f = Q(f_1, f_2, f_3),$$

where Q(u, v, w) is a conic in \mathbb{P}^2 and the f_i are forms of degree k which are assumed to define k^3 simple points. A generic surface f has these k^3 points as nodes. We now take hyperplanes E_{ij} , i = 1, 2, 3, j = 1, 2, ..., n, and put $f_i := \prod_{j=1}^k E_{ij}$. The fibre of the rational map $\mathbb{P}^3 \to \mathbb{P}^2$, $x \mapsto (f_1(x) : f_2(x) : f_3(x))$ over a

The fibre of the rational map $\mathbb{P}^3 \to \mathbb{P}^2$, $x \mapsto (f_1(x) : f_2(x) : f_3(x))$ over a generic point of the form $(0 : \alpha : \beta)$ will have $k\binom{k}{2}$ singular points corresponding to the intersection points of the $\binom{k}{2}$ lines $E_{1i} \cap E_{1j}$ with the surface $\beta f_2 - \alpha f_3 = 0$. If one chooses the conic Q to be tangent to u = 0, v = 0, w = 0 in \mathbb{P}^2 one obtains a

surface of degree d = 2k with

(2.16)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge k^3 + 3k \binom{k}{2} = \frac{5}{16} \mathbf{d^3} - \frac{3}{8} \mathbf{d^2}, \quad d = 2k, k \in \mathbb{N},$$

singularities which are all nodes in general.

Then Kreiss assumed that in the net spanned by f_1, f_2, f_3 there was a fourth surface $f_4 = af_1 + bf_2 + cf_3$ which decomposed as a product of k linear forms. Then by making Q also tangent to the line au + bv + cw = 0 in \mathbb{P}^2 we would get a surface with $k^3 + 4k\binom{k}{2} = 3k^3 - 2k^2$ singular points. To show this, Kreiss argued as follows: To have a syzygy of the form $\sum_{i=1}^4 E_{1i} \cdots E_{ki} = 0$ between four k-tuples of linear forms we have 16k coefficients at our disposal which are subject to $\binom{k+3}{3}$ algebraic equations. As the inequality $16k \leq \binom{k+3}{3}$ holds exactly for $k \leq 7$, Kreiss claimed to have constructed surfaces of degree $d = 2k, 2 \leq k \leq 7$, with

(2.17)
$$3k^3 - 2k^2 = \frac{3}{8}d^3 - \frac{1}{4}d^2, \quad d = 2k, \quad 2 \le k \le 7,$$

nodes.

Van Straten remarked that such a construction is indeed possible for k = 2 if one takes the three pairs of parallel planes of a cube, but that the problem with Kreiss's argument for other k is the fact that one has to remove degenerate solutions of the above set of equations and that this might leave us with the empty set.

Nevertheless, Kreiss's work is often cited, and it took a long time until constructions giving at least the number of nodes that Kreiss's construction would give. Because of this influence, we list the lower bounds that Kreiss claimed to have found despite van Straten's previously mentioned remark:

| d | 4 | 6 | 8 | 10 | 12 | 14 |
|--------------------|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge$ | 16 | 63 | 160 | 325 | 576 | 931 |

Taking into account Gallarati's improvement (2.13) of B. Segre's lower bound based on an existing nodal surface, we get with the 576-nodal dodectic the existence of surfaces of degree $d = 2^k \cdot 12$ with

(2.18)
$$\mu(d) \gtrsim \frac{253}{756} d^3 \approx 0.3347 d^3$$

nodes.

2.7. Gallarati's 160-nodal Construction

Despite Kreiss's 160-nodal octic in \mathbb{P}^3 , Gallarati wrote an article on another such surface because of its interesting construction [Gal57]. He started with the form

$$V^9 = x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4 x_5 - y_1 y_2 y_3 y_4 y_5$$

in \mathbb{P}^9 . V is singular along the 100 \mathbb{P}^5 's obtained by equating two of the x_i and two of the y_i to zero. So, a general linear section gives a family of 100-nodal quintics in \mathbb{P}^4 . Gallarati then argued that one could choose this section so that it acquired a triple point P and that the lines joining P and the 100 nodes of the quintic were not contained in the tangent cone at P. Thus the ramification locus of the form

(2.19)
$$\operatorname{Ga}_{160} := \det \begin{pmatrix} F_3 & F_4 \\ F_4 & F_5 \end{pmatrix} = 0$$

has $3 \cdot 4 \cdot 5 + 100 = 160$ nodes.

Moreover, Gallarati remarked that it might be possible to specialize further and to obtain an octic with more than 160 nodes in this way. To our knowledge, this is still unknown.

Van Straten mentioned that it might be possible to go to still higher dimensions: E.g., a general linear section of

$V^{13} = x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4 x_5 x_6 x_7 - y_1 y_2 y_3 y_4 y_5 y_6 y_7$

in \mathbb{P}^3 has 225 nodes. Again, one might hope to be able to choose this section so that it acquires a quadruple point which could then give a surface of degree 10 with $4 \cdot 5 \cdot 6 + 225 = 345$ nodes. This would be the same number of nodes as Barth's dectic (see section 4.5 on page 50). Some questions arising from this observation are the following: Does this construction work? If it does, is the surface different from Barth's (section 4.5)? Can we go on?



Chmutov's septic $TChm_7^3$, constructed around 1982 using Tchebychev polynomials. Variants of this basic idea are still the best ones for constructing hypersurfaces with many nodes of high degree.

CHAPTER 3

Modern Methods (1960–1990)

From the 1960's on, a systematic theory of singularities (see e.g. [Mil68], [AGZV85a, AGZV85b]) and their deformations was developped. These new methods allowed significant improvements of the known bounds around 1980.

Highlights of the period between 1960 and 1990 were Beauville's proof for $\mu_{A_1}(5) = 31$ in 1979 (section 3.3) as well as Varchenko's (1983, section 3.7) and Miyaoka's (1984, section 3.10) upper bounds. These were the first upper bounds for the maximum number of nodes on a surface of degree d which had a better asymptotic behaviour than the 100 year-old upper bound $\mu_{Dp}(d) \leq \frac{1}{2}d^3$ based on the class of the surface. In fact, Miyaoka's bound $\mu_{Dp}(d) \leq \frac{4}{9}d^3$ is still the best known bound for surfaces and Varchenko's spectral bound is still the best known one for hypersurfaces in higher dimensions. The strength of Varchenko's bound can be illustrated by the fact that it is exact for cubic hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n as Kalker's examples from 1986 showed (section 3.11). Another important contribution was Chmutov's idea to use Tchebychev polynomials for constructing hypersurfaces with many singularities (section 3.8).

3.1. Stagnaro's Results on Surfaces with Many Singularities

3.1.1. Surfaces with a *j*-tuple Point. In [Sta68], Stagnaro considered surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 of the form

(3.1)
$$\mathcal{F}_{2m+j}: x_0^{2m} F_j + 2x_0^m F_{m+j} + F_{2m+j} = 0,$$

where $F_i \in \mathbb{K}[x_1, x_2, x_3]$ are forms of degree $i, i \in \{j, m+j, 2m+j\}$ and \mathbb{K} is an algebraicly closed field of a characteristic which is not a 2m(2m+1) divisor. The surfaces \mathcal{F}_{2m+j} have a *j*-tuple point in (1:0:0:0).

For j = 1 and m = 2q - 1 he then chose the F_i in a special way s.t. $\mathcal{F}_{2m+j} = \mathcal{F}_{4q-1}$ was a surface of degree 4q - 1 with $4q(2q-1)^2$ nodes and 12q - 9 singularities of type $A_{2(q-1)}$. His reasoning still contained an arbitrary form $\Theta_{2(q-2)}$ of degree 2(q-2). For a particular example, this can be chosen in a particular way to obtain even more singularities. E.g., this allowed him to show the existence of a septic \mathcal{F}_7 with 72 nodes and 16 additional cusps. Notice that the previously best lower bound for $\mu(d)$, 81, was also given by a construction of surfaces with singularities different from nodes, namely Gallarati's surfaces with a triple point and additional nodes (2.6):

(3.2)
$$\mu(7), \mu_{Dp}(7) \ge 88$$
, although still, we have only: $\mu_{A_1}(7) \ge 72$.

With the help of the 28 bitangents to a quartic plane curve, Stagnaro then used the above technique to show the existence of surfaces \mathcal{F}_{2m+4} of degree 2m + 4 with $m\binom{2m+8}{2}$ isolated double points and an ordinary quadruple point in (1:0:0:0). E.g., for m = 2 this is an octic with a quadruple point and 132 additional nodes.

3.1.2. A Sextic with 64 Nodes and a Septic with 90 Singularities. 10 years later [Sta78], Stagnaro constructed a surface of degree 6 with 64 singularities which showed:

(3.3)
$$\mu_{A_1}(6) \ge 64.$$

Notice that until this point, three sextics with 63 nodes had been known (see sections 2.4, 2.6, 2.5). According to B. Segre's upper bound mentioned at the end of section 2.4, a 64-nodal sextic cannot verify B. Segre's assumptions. And indeed, Stagnaro showed that his sextic St_{64} had an infinite number of tritangent planes. Its construction is based on a very special configuration of lines and conics in the plane.¹

With an analogous method he constructed a surface of degree 7 with 72 nodes and 18 additional cusps. These are two more cusps than those of the example of the previous section. We have:

(3.4)
$$\mu_A(7) \ge 90$$
, although still, we have only: $\mu_{A_1}(7) \ge 72$.

Under certain assumptions, Stagnaro also gave a slight improvement of Basset's upper bound which computes to 65 for the case of degree 6. Nowadays, we know that 65 is the correct bound for sextics (see section 4.5 on page 50).

3.1.3. Stagnaro's Upper Bound for Ordinary q-fold Points. In [Sta83], Stagnaro gave a modern proof of Basset's bound and generalized it to ordinary q-fold points. Denoting by $\mu_q(d)$ the maximum number of q-fold points on a surface of degree d, he showed:

(3.5)
$$\mu_q(d) \le \frac{4d(d-1)(d-2)}{q(q-1)(4q-5)}$$

and also:

(3.6)
$$\mu_q(d) \leq \frac{1}{2q(q-1)^3} \cdot \left(2d(d-1)^2(q-1) - 13q + 16 -\sqrt{4d(d-1)(3d-11q+8)(q-1) + (13q-16)^2} \right).$$

The exactness of (3.5) for d = 5 was already known [Gal52b]. An interesting remark of Stagnaro was that this bound is exact in several other cases, too (although (3.6) is better for d large). To prove this, he took the following generalization of Castelnuovo's construction [Cas91] (see also section 2.6): He considered surfaces A_s, B_s, C_s of degree s meeting in s^3 distinct points. If F_q is a generic form of degree q then

is a surface of degree $s \cdot q$ in \mathbb{P}^3 with s^3 ordinary q-fold points. Playing this against (3.5), he showed that s^3 was the maximum number of q-fold points on a surface of degree $s \cdot q$ if

(3.8)
$$q \ge \frac{1}{8} \left(3(3s^3 - 4s^2 + 3) + \sqrt{9(3s^3 - 4s^2 + 3)^2 - 16(5s^3 - 8s + 5)} \right)$$

This yielded an infinite number of cases in which the exact value of $\mu_q(d)$ was known. E.g., for s = 2, (3.8) is equivalent to $q \ge 8$, so for a surface of degree 2.q.

 $^{^{1}\}mathrm{Van}$ Straten checked Stagnaro's equation of St_{64} using computer algebra and found it to be wrong. Its construction consists of several pages of geometrical arguments, so maybe the construction is basically correct, but only contains some typos. Because of the lengthy argument we were not able to figure this out.

 $q \ge 8$, the maximum number of q-fold points is $2^3 = 8$. So, $\mu_8(16) = 8$, $\mu_9(18) = 8$, etc. In general, the criterion gives exactness only for cases in which the multiplicity of the ordinary singularities are large compared to the degree.

Beside this, Stagnaro summarized the best known constructions until this point in a table. There, he cited his septic from [Sta78] (section 3.1.2) with 72 nodes and 18 cusps as a surface with 90 ordinary double points which yielded some confusion in the literature of the following years.

Only shortly afterwards, Stagnaro wrote a preprint [Sta84] (cited in [Gal84] and [Wer87]) in which he claimed to construct a sextic with 66 nodes which would be the maximum possible number of double points according to Basset's upper bound. But shortly afterwards, (in his own MathSciNet review of Gallarati's historical overview), Stagnaro noticed that his construction was false. Since [JR97], we know that such a sextic cannot exist (see also section 4.5).

3.2. Teissier's and Piene's Formulas for the Class

The geometers of the 1970's realized that the old formulas for the class of a singular hypersurface (see for example the one preceding equation (1.3)) were either not general enough or not proven in a rigorous way. This (and generalizations of such results) were the motivation for Teissier [Tei75] and Piene [Pie78, p. 266] to show that if a hypersurface f of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n has only isolated singularities s_1, \ldots, s_k then its class d^* can be computed:

(3.9)
$$d^* = d(d-1)^{n-1} - \sum_{i=1}^k e_{s_i},$$

where e_{s_i} denotes the multiplicity of the Jacobian Ideal at a singular point s_i . This number e_{s_i} can also be expressed as follows (see [**Bru81**]): $e_{s_i} = \mu(s_i) + \mu_1(s_i)$, where $\mu(s_i)$ is the Milnor number of the singularity of f at s_i and $\mu_1(x)$ is the Milnor number of a generic hyperplane section of f through s_i . Since $d^* \ge 0$ and $\mu(s_i) + \mu_1(s_i) \ge 2$, this gives:

(3.10)
$$\mu(d) \le \frac{1}{2}d(d-1)^{n-1}$$

This was the first upper bound for the maximum number of singular points of a hypersurface f with only isolated singularities which held in this generality. For surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with only double points, this bound was of course not as good as Basset's bound (section 1.4), because it was a generalization of the bound which had been known before the appearance of Basset's results.

3.3. Beauville's Proof of $\mu_{A_1}(5) = 31$ Using Coding Theory

The first major break through after the results of the $19^{\rm th}$ century was Beau ville's proof for

(3.11)
$$\mu_{A_1}(5) = \mathbf{31}.$$

He called a set of isolated ordinary double points s_i , $i \in I$, on a quintic fin \mathbb{P}^3 even if the sum of their exceptional divisors E_i on the blown up surface Fwas divisible by two in $\operatorname{Pic}(F)$ or equivalently that the sum of the E_i was zero in $H^2(F, \mathbb{Z}/2)$. Beauville showed that even sets of nodes containing 16 and 20 elements were the only non-empty ones on a nodal quintic (these actually occur, see [**Bea79a**] and [**Cat81**]). Supposing that the quintic f had at least 32 nodes s_1, \ldots, s_{32} , he associated to the E_i a homomorphism $\phi : \mathbb{F}_2^{32} \to H^2(F, \mathbb{Z}/2)$. This ϕ has a kernel K of dimension $\dim(K) \ge 6$. Looking at $K \subset \mathbb{F}_2^{32}$ as a code over the field with two elements, its only weights are 16 and 20 according to the remark above. But this contradicts the following fact from coding theory: If the weights of K are greater or equal to $\frac{m}{2}$ then $m \ge 2^{\dim(K)-1}$; in case of equality, K is isomorphic to a code which has $\frac{1}{2} \dim(K)$ as its only weight.

3.4. Bruce's Upper Bounds

In [**Bru81**], Bruce improved the general upper bound (3.9) for the number of singular points on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n with only isolated singularities. For surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 of odd degree d, his bound is also better than Basset's bound, although it still stayed $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$. For the maximum number $\mu(d)$ of isolated singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n , he showed:

(3.12)
$$\begin{aligned} \mu(d) &\leq \frac{1}{2d} \left((d-1)^n (d+1) + (d-1) \right), & n \text{ even}, \\ \mu(d) &\leq \frac{1}{2} (d-1)^n, & n \text{ odd}, d \text{ odd}, \\ \mu(d) &\leq \frac{1}{2d} \left((d-1)^n (d+1) + 1 \right), & n \text{ odd}, d \text{ even}. \end{aligned}$$

His proof was based on a deformation theoretical result of Siersma [Sie74] and the computation of the rank of the intersection matrix of $x_1^d + x_2^d + \cdots x_n^d$ for n even and of $x_1^d + x_2^d + \cdots x_n^d + x_{n+1}^2$ for n odd using [Mil68]. For the maximum number of singularities on a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 , the following bounds were known up to this point:

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | d |
|----------------------------|----------------|----------------|---------|------------------|----------|----------|----------|--------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_{A_1}(d)) \le$ | 32 (31) | 73 (66) | 108 | 193 (181) | 256 | 401(383) | 500 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 64 | 72 (90) | 160 | 160(181) | 325 | 300(337) | $\approx \frac{1}{3}d^3$ |

Notice that Bruce's list [**Bru81**, p. 50] does not show Gallarati's surfaces of degree d = 9,11 with a triple point and 180 and 336 additional nodes, respectively (see section 2.3 on page 23).

3.5. Catanese's and Ceresa's Sextics with up to 64 Nodes

Clemens's work on double covers of \mathbb{P}^3 [Cle83] (see also section 3.13) and his notion of defect raised new interest on the problem of the existence and the construction of surfaces f of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 having a given number μ_0 of nodes as its only singularities.

Such questions were motivations for Catanese and Ceresa to construct sextics in \mathbb{P}^3 with any given number $\mu_0 = 1, 2, \ldots, 64$ of nodes [**CC82**]. They applied B. Segre's idea to use pull-back under a branched covering, see section 2.4 on page 23. B. Segre had only obtained a 63-nodal sextic in this way. For the construction of a 64-nodal one the authors thus had to use different specializations of the coordinate tetrahedron.

Catanese and Ceresa also claimed to have shown that 64 is the maximum number of nodes possible on a sextic constructed in this way. Barth's 65-nodal sextic **[Bar96]** disproved this, see section 4.5 on page 50.

3.6. Givental's Upper Bound

Only a few years after Beauville's proof that the maximum number of nodes on a quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 was exactly 31, Givental established a general upper bound [Giv84]

for the maximum number of isolated singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n which computes to 31 in the case of quintic surfaces.

It is worth noting that the proof of his bound is much simpler than the one of Varchenko's spectral bound (see section 3.7). There is a drawback to this: The approximate behaviour of Givental's bound is still $\mu(d) \leq \frac{1}{2}d^n$. But for low degree it is much better than the previously known bounds:

| | d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|---|-----------------------------|----|----------------|--------|-----|------------|-----|----------|-----|--------------------------|
| Ļ | $\iota(d)(\mu_{Dp}(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68 (66) | 104 | 180 | 247 | 376 | 484 | 680 | $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^3$ |
| ŀ | $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 64 | 72(90) | 160 | 160(181) | 325 | 300(337) | 576 | $\approx \frac{1}{3}d^3$ |

Givental's bound can be computed as follows: Let I be the set of multiindices m, lying strictly inside the n-dimensional cube with side d:

$$(3.13) I := \{ m \in \mathbb{Z}^n \mid 0 < m_i < d \}$$

We give names to the number of elements in the following subsets of I:

$$M := \# \{ |m| = \left(\frac{n}{2} + 2k\right) d \},\$$

$$K := \# \{ |m| = \left(\frac{n}{2} + 2k - 1\right) d \},\$$

$$R := \# \{ |m| - \left(\frac{n}{2} + 2k - 1\right) d = \pm 1 \text{ or } \pm \frac{1}{2} \}$$

where $|m| := m_1 + \cdots + m_n$ as usual and $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. With these notations, Givental's upper bound on the maximum number $\mu^n(d)$ of isolated singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n is:

(3.14)
$$\mu^{n}(d) \leq \frac{1}{2} \left((d-1)^{n} + M - K - R \right).$$

As the major motivation for the research on the subject, Givental mentioned the following conjecture on the number of singular points on a hypersurface. It was formulated by Arnold in 1981 in a discussion of Bruce's article [**Bru81**] as Varchenko said in the introduction of [**Var83**]: Arnold suggested the bound $\mu^n(d) \leq A_n(d)$, where

(3.15)
$$A_n(d) := \#\left\{ (k_1, \dots, k_n) \in I \mid \frac{1}{2}(n-2)d + 1 < \sum k_i \le \frac{1}{2}nd \right\}.$$

 $A_n(d)$ is thus a certain number of integer points within an *n*-dimensional cube. Givental's bound is slightly greater than $A_n(d)$ for most degrees. Nowadays, the numbers $A_n(d)$ are called Arnold numbers. The correctness of Arnold's conjecture was shown only shortly afterwards by Varchenko (see next section).

3.7. Varchenko's Spectral Bound

Not long after Givental's new upper bound, Varchenko was able to prove the conjecture of Arnold (see equation (3.15)) by showing a theorem on the spectrum of a singularity **[Var83]**. Basically, the spectrum consists of the eigenvalues of the monodromy operator of the singularity, see e.g. **[Kul98]**, **[AGZV85b**, ch. 14] for details on the spectrum. Varchenko's nowadays called Spectral Bound was the first upper bound for the maximum number of singularities on a surface of degree d which had an approximative behaviour of less than $\frac{1}{2}d^3$. In fact, he showed:

(3.16)
$$\mu^n(d) \le \mathbf{A_n}(\mathbf{d}),$$

where $A_n(d)$ is the Arnold number defined in (3.15). For surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , this computes to:

(3.17)
$$\mu(d) \le \begin{cases} \frac{23}{48}d^3 - \frac{9}{8}d^2 + \frac{5}{6}d, & d \equiv 0 \mod 2, \\ \frac{23}{48}d^3 - \frac{23}{16}d^2 + \frac{73}{48}d - \frac{9}{16}, & d \equiv 1 \mod 2. \end{cases}$$

This leads to the following table:

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----------------------------|----|---------|---------|-----|----------|-----|----------|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_A(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68~(66) | 104 | 180 | 246 | 375 | 480 | 676 | $pprox rac{23}{48} d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 64 | 72 (90) | 160 | 160(181) | 325 | 300(337) | 576 | $\approx \frac{1}{3}d^3$ |

Arnold and Givental computed the approximate behaviour of $A_n(d)$:

(3.18)
$$A_n(d) \approx \sqrt{\frac{6}{\pi n}} d^n + O(d^{n-1}) \text{ for large } n.$$

As already mentioned, Varchenko's previous bound is based on a property of the spectrum of a singularity, more precisely the so-called semicontinuity of the spectrum (see [Var83] and also [Kul98], [AGZV85b, ch. 14]). It cannot only be applied to ordinary double points, but to any type of isolated singularity in *n*-dimensional space for which it is possible to compute the spectrum. For many cases, this computation has already been performed. The spectrum can even be calculated using Endraß's SINGULAR library spectrum.lib or Schulze's library gaussman.lib. These libraries also contain procedures for computing the bound for the maximum number of singularities of a given type on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n based on the semicontinuity property:

```
LIB "gaussman.lib"; LIB "spectrum.lib";
proc varchenko_bound_general(int n, int d, poly sing) {
    poly p = 0;
    for(int i=1; i<=n; i=i+1) { p = p + var(i)^d; }
    list s = spectrumnd(p);
    list ss = spectrumnd(sing);
    return(spsemicont(s,list(ss),1)[1]); }
```

E.g., with this procedure the SINGULAR code

```
ring r = 0, (x, y, z), ds;
```

varchenko_bound_general(3, 7, x²+y²+z²);

gives 104 which is the Varchenko's bound for the maximum number of nodes on a septic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 .

To explain how to compute formulas for the bound in more general cases, let us look at A_j -singularities on surfaces of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 . It is known that Varchenko's spectral bound can be described by a polynomial of degree 3 in d, but we could not find explicit statements for j > 1 in the literature. In the following we explain briefly how to proceed in order to compute these polynomials.

For even degree $d \ge 4$ the spectrum sp(d) of the singularity $x^d + y^d + z^d = 0$ in \mathbb{C}^3 consists of the spectral numbers $s_d(i) = \frac{i+2}{d}, i = 1, 2, \ldots, 3(d-1) - 2$, with multiplicities $m_d(i)$, where

- $m_d(1) = 1$,
- $m_d(i+1) = m_d(i) + 1 + i, \quad i < d-1,$
- $m_d(i+1) = m_d(i) + 2(i_{mid} i) + 1$, $d-1 \le i < i_{mid} := \frac{3d}{2} 2$,
- $m_d(3(d-1)-1-i) = m_d(i)$, $1 \le i \le i_{mid}$ (symmetry of the spectrum).

The spectrum of an A_j -singularity is also well-known (see e.g. [AGZV85b, p. 389]). Its spectral numbers are $\frac{j+2}{j+1}, \frac{j+3}{j+1}, \ldots, \frac{2j+1}{j+1}$, all with multiplicity 1.

| EXAMPLE 3.1. The sp | pect | run | $n s_{1}$ | p(6) | of t | the s | singi | ılari | ty x | 6 + 2 | $y^{6} +$ | z^6 | is: |
|-----------------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|---------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|----------------|
| i | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | $\overline{7}$ | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 |
| spectral number S_i | $\frac{3}{6}$ | $\frac{4}{6}$ | $\frac{5}{6}$ | $\frac{6}{6}$ | $\frac{7}{6}$ | $\frac{8}{6}$ | $\frac{9}{6}$ | $\frac{10}{6}$ | $\frac{11}{6}$ | $\frac{12}{6}$ | $\frac{13}{6}$ | $\frac{14}{6}$ | $\frac{15}{6}$ |
| multiplicity m_i | 1 | 3 | 6 | 10 | 15 | 18 | 19 | 18 | 15 | 10 | 6 | 3 | 1 |

The spectral numbers of the A_2 -singularity are: $\frac{8}{6}, \frac{10}{6}$, both with multiplicity 1. \Box

To compute Varchenko's bound we have to choose an open interval of length 1, say $I = (\frac{i_r+2-d}{d}, \frac{i_r+2}{d})$, of the spectrum sp(d) which contains all spectral numbers of the A_j -singularity and such that the sum of the multiplicities of the spectral numbers in the interval is minimal. Then we have to sum up all the multiplicities in this interval and divide by j.

Let us write $d = k \cdot (j+1) + l$. Then we may choose $I := (\frac{i_r+2-d}{d}, \frac{i_r+2}{d})$, where $i_r := k \cdot (2j+1) + \lfloor \frac{l \cdot (2j+1)}{j+1} \rfloor - 1$. We introduce some notations: $n_l := i_{mid} - (d-1)$, $n_r := i_r - i_{mid} - 1$, $n_{ll} := d - 1 - n_l - n_r$, $m_{mid} = \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} i + (\frac{d}{2} - 1)^2$. Using these we can compute Varchenko's bound $\operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d)$ for the maximum number of A_j -singularities on a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 for the case $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with $d \geq 4$:

(3.19)
$$\operatorname{Var}_{A_{j}}(d) = \frac{1}{j} \cdot \left(\frac{1}{2} \cdot \left(\sum_{i=1}^{d-1} i + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} i^{2} - \sum_{i=1}^{d-1-n_{ll}} i - \sum_{i=1}^{d-1-n_{ll}} i^{2} \right) + (n_{r} + n_{ll}) \cdot m_{mid} - \sum_{i=1}^{n_{r}} i^{2} - \sum_{i=1}^{n_{l}-1} i^{2} \right) \square$$

EXAMPLE 3.2. Let us look at the case d = 6, j = 2 as in example 3.1. In this case, the constants used above have the following values: $k = 2, l = 0, i_r = 9, i_{mid} = 7, n_l = 2, n_r = 1, n_{ll} = 2, m_{mid} = 19$. We can now easily compute the bound $\operatorname{Var}_{A_2}(d)$ in (3.19) for d = 6 (compare the table in example 3.1):

$$\operatorname{Var}_{A_2}(6) = \frac{1}{2} \cdot \left(\underbrace{\frac{15 + 55 - 6 - 14}{2}}_{=10 + 15} + \underbrace{3 \cdot 19 - 1 - 1}_{=18 + 19 + 18} \right) = 40. \quad \Box$$

Using some summation formulas we find the following bounds for $d \ge 4$:

• $\mu_{A_1}(d) \leq \operatorname{Var}_{A_1}(d) = \begin{cases} \frac{23}{48}d^3 - \frac{9}{8}d^2 + \frac{5}{6}d, & d \equiv 0 \mod 2, \\ \frac{23}{48}d^3 - \frac{23}{16}d^2 + \frac{73}{48}d - \frac{9}{16}, & d \equiv 1 \mod 2. \end{cases}$ • $\mu_{A_2}(d) \leq \operatorname{Var}_{A_2}(d) = \begin{cases} \frac{31}{108}d^3 - \frac{25}{36}d^2 + \frac{1}{2}d, & d \equiv 0 \mod 3, \\ \frac{31}{108}d^3 - \frac{31}{36}d^2 + \frac{17}{18}d - \frac{10}{27}, & d \equiv 1 \mod 3, \\ \frac{31}{108}d^3 - \frac{7}{9}d^2 + \frac{3}{4}d - \frac{5}{27}, & d \equiv 2 \mod 3. \end{cases}$ • $\mu_{A_3}(d) \leq \operatorname{Var}_{A_3}(d) = \begin{cases} \frac{235}{1152}d^3 - \frac{49}{96}d^2 + \frac{13}{36}d, & d \equiv 0 \mod 4, \\ \frac{235}{1152}d^3 - \frac{235}{384}d^2 + \frac{785}{1152}d - \frac{35}{384}, & d \equiv 1 \mod 4, \\ \frac{235}{1152}d^3 - \frac{37}{64}d^2 + \frac{173}{288}d - \frac{3}{16}, & d \equiv 2 \mod 4, \\ \frac{235}{1152}d^3 - \frac{209}{384}d^2 + \frac{569}{1152}d - \frac{35}{384}, & d \equiv 3 \mod 4. \end{cases}$

The formulas are not correct for d = 3 for some j because the spectrum of the $x^3 + y^3 + z^3 = 0$ singularity does not have enough spectral numbers to fit into the description above.

3.8. Tchebychev Polynomials and Hypersurfaces with Many Nodes

Chmutov suggested (see [AGZV85b, p. 419] or Varchenko's overview article [Var84, p. 2782]) to consider the hypersurface TChm_d^n of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n with affine equation:

(3.20)
$$\operatorname{TChm}_{d}^{n}: \quad \sum_{j=0}^{n-1} T_{d}(x_{j}) = \begin{cases} 0, & n \text{ even,} \\ -1, & n \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$

where

(3.21)
$$T_d(z) := \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor} (-1)^i \binom{n}{2i} z^{n-2i} (1-z^2)^i$$

denotes the Tchebychev polynomial of degree d having two critical values ± 1 (see [**Riv74**]). T_d can be recursively defined as follows:

$$(3.22) T_0(z) := 1, T_1(z) := z, T_d(z) := 2z \cdot T_{d-1}(z) - T_{d-2}(z).$$

These polynomials have many other nice properties. We only mention two more of them. First, the $T_d(z)$ satisfy the equation:

(3.23)
$$T_d(\cos(\alpha)) = \cos(d\alpha), \ \alpha \in [0,\pi],$$

and its derivative $T'_d(z)$ vanishes at $\alpha_k := \cos\left(\frac{k\pi}{d}\right), 1 \le k \le d-1$ which gives rise to a maximum (resp. minimum) if k is even (resp. odd). Second, the plane curves $C_1 := T_d(x) + T_d(y)$ (resp. $C_2 := T_d(x) - T_d(y)$) factor into $\frac{d}{2}$ irreducible conics (resp. $\frac{d-2}{2}$ irreducible conics and two lines) if d is even and they both factor into $\frac{d-1}{2}$ irreducible conics and a line if d is odd (see [Wer87, p. 34]).



FIGURE 3.1. The Geometry of Chmutov's Hypersurfaces.

It is easy to see that the hypersurfaces $\operatorname{TChm}_{d}^{n}$ are singular exactly at the points $(\alpha_{k_1}, \ldots, \alpha_{k_n}), 1 \leq k_i \leq n-1$, where $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$ of the indices k_i are odd and the other are even (see fig. 3.1 for an illustration of the case n = 2). All singularities are nodes and their number is

$$\mu(\operatorname{TChm}_{d}^{n}) = c_{n}d^{n} + O(d^{n-1}),$$

where $c_3 = \frac{3}{8}$ and more precisely $\mu(\text{TChm}_d^3) = \frac{3}{8}d^2(d-2)$ if d is even and $\mu(\text{TChm}_d^3) = \frac{3}{8}(d-1)^3$ if d is odd. This showed:

(3.24)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) \gtrsim \frac{3}{8} \mathbf{d}^3$$

which was the best approximate behaviour for n = 3 known up to this point. It is easy to compute the exact number also in higher dimensions, e.g. for d odd and n even we get $\mu(\operatorname{TChm}_d^n) = \left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)^n \cdot \binom{n}{n/2}$ nodes. A computation of Givental concerning the approximate behaviour with respect to n showed: $c_n \approx \sqrt{\frac{2}{\pi n}}$ for large n, see [Var84, p. 2782] (compare (3.18)). When assuming the correctness of Kreiss's construction, it improves the bounds for low degree d only in a few cases:

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----------------------------|----|---------|----------------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_A(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68 (66) | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $\approx \frac{4}{9}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 64 | 81 (90) | 160 | 192 | 325 | 375 | 576 | $pprox rac{3}{8}d^3$ |

| 3.9. Givental's C | Jubics | in | \mathbb{P}^n |
|-------------------|---------------|----|----------------|
|-------------------|---------------|----|----------------|

Givental (see [AGZV85b, p. 419], [Var84, p. 2782]) used Chmutov's idea to construct cubics in \mathbb{P}^n with a number of nodes that almost reached Varchenko's spectral bound. Instead of Tchebychev Polynomials which are polynomials with few critical values in one variable, he used a polynomial with few critical values in two variables: To understand the construction, let us start with a regular triangle

 $R_3(x,y) = x^3 - 3xy^2 + 3x^2 + 3y^2 - 4$

whose non-zero critical point has critical value +1, see fig. 3.2.



FIGURE 3.2. The Tchebychev Polynomial $T_3(x)$ of degree three and a regular triangle, once seen in the plane, once in space.

Then the number of singular points (all are nodes) of the cubic hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n with affine equation

(3.25) Giv₃ⁿ:
$$\sum_{j=0}^{\frac{n}{2}-1} (-1)^{j \cdot (1+(n \mod 2))} R_3(x_{2j}, x_{2j+1}) = -(n \mod 2) \frac{T_3(x_{n-1}) - 1}{2},$$

is $g_n \approx 2^n \sqrt{\frac{16}{3\pi n}}$ for *n* large. Givental also noticed that $A_n(3) \approx 2^n \sqrt{\frac{8}{\pi n}}$ for *n* large

which showed: $\frac{g_n}{A_n(3)} \approx \sqrt{\frac{2}{3}} \approx 0.8165$. In fact, Varchenko's spectral bound is exact for cubics in \mathbb{P}^n as Kalker showed only shortly afterwards, see section 3.11.

In both cited texts [AGZV85b, p. 419], [Var84, p. 2782], the equations for Giv_3^n are only given for $n \equiv 0 \mod 4$, but they list the numbers of nodes that can be obtained using Givental's construction. These numbers can be realized using the equations given above:

| n | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | n |
|-------------------------------|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----------|-----|-----|---|
| $\mu^n(3) = \mu^n_{A_1}(3) =$ | 1 | 3 | 4 | 10 | 15 | 35 | 56 | 126 | 210 | $\binom{n+1}{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}$ |
| $\mu^n(3) \ge$ | 1 | 3 | 4 | 10 | 15 | 33 | 54 | 118 | 189 | $pprox 2^{ m n} \sqrt{rac{16}{3\pi { m n}}}$ |

3.10. Miyaoka's Bound for Surfaces with Rational Double Points

Parallel to Varchenko's spectral bound, there appeared another very important upper bound due to Miyaoka. In [Miy84], Miyaoka proved an inequality that he could apply to a normal surface f_d of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 with only rational double points as singularities to prove:

(3.26)
$$\mu_{Dp}(d) \le \frac{4}{9} \mathbf{d} (\mathbf{d} - \mathbf{1})^2.$$

This is still the best known upper bound for the maximum number of rational double points on a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 for large degree. Only for odd low degree, Varchenko's bound is better in some cases. The following table gives the bounds known up to this point:

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----------------------------|----|---------|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_{Dp}(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68 (66) | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $pprox rac{4}{9} d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \ge$ | 31 | 64 | 81 (90) | 160 | 192 | 325 | 375 | 576 | $\approx \frac{1}{3}d^3$ |

Miyaoka's bound can also be applied to compute the maximum number of some particular type of rational double points: Let X_p be the germ of a quotient singularity $(\mathbb{C}/G_p)_0$, where G_p is a finite subgroup of $\operatorname{GL}(2,\mathbb{C})$ having the origin as its unique fixed point. Let \widetilde{X}_E be the minimal resolution of X_p and E the exceptional divisor. The Euler numbers $e(\widetilde{X}_E)$ and e(E) coincide. Put $\nu(p) := e(E) - \frac{1}{|G_p|}$. The non-negative rational number $\nu(p)$ is an analytic invariant of the quotient singularity X_p which is not difficult to compute in the cases we are interested in:

$$\nu(p) = 0 \qquad \text{if } X_p \text{ is smooth,}$$

$$(3.27) \qquad \nu(p) = 2 - \frac{1}{j} \qquad \text{if } X_p \text{ is an ordinary } j\text{-tuple point,}$$

$$\nu(p) = j + 1 - \frac{1}{j+1} = \frac{j(j+2)}{j+1} \qquad \text{if } X_p \text{ is an } A_j\text{-singularity.}$$

Miyaoka showed: If X is a projective surface with only rational double points p_1, \ldots, p_k and whose dualizing line bundle $\mathcal{O}_X(K_x)$ is numerically effective, then

(3.28)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \nu(p_i) + e(D) \le c_2(\widetilde{X}) - \frac{1}{3}(K_X + D)^2 = 12\chi(\mathcal{O}_X) - \frac{1}{3}(4K_X^2 + 2K_XD + D^2)$$

for any effective normal crossing divisor D away from the singularity. Now, let $f_d \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ be a normal surface of degree d with only rational double points p_1, \ldots, p_k . Then (3.28) implies:

(3.29)
$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} \nu(p_i) \le \frac{2}{3} d(d-1)^2.$$

E.g., as $\nu(p) \geq \frac{3}{2}$ for singular points, we get (3.26). For any fixed $j \in \mathbb{N}$, (3.27) yields for the maximum number $\mu_{A_j}(d)$ of A_j -singularities on a surface of degree d

in \mathbb{P}^3 :

(3.30)
$$\mu_{A_j}(d) \leq \operatorname{Miy}_{A_j}(d) := \frac{2}{3} \frac{\mathbf{j} + \mathbf{1}}{\mathbf{j}(\mathbf{j} + 2)} \mathbf{d}(\mathbf{d} - \mathbf{1})^2.$$

There also exists a generalization of Miyaoka's result to more general singularities by J. Wahl, see section 4.10 and **[Wah94]**.

3.11. Kalker's Cubics in \mathbb{P}^n

In his Ph.D. thesis [Kal86], Kalker gave examples of cubics in \mathbb{P}^n that showed that Varchenko's spectral bound for the maximum number $\mu^n(3)$ of singularities on cubic hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n was sharp for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$:

(3.31)
$$\mu^n(3) = A_n(3) = \binom{\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{1}}{\lfloor \frac{\mathbf{n}}{2} \rfloor}.$$

He defined cubics Kal_3^n as generalizations of the equations of the four-nodal Cayley cubic in \mathbb{P}^3 (1.2) and C. Segre's cubic in \mathbb{P}^4 (1.11) (we chose a slightly different notation for Kalker's equations for odd n in order to underline the similarity to the Cayley cubic):

(3.32)
$$\operatorname{Kal}_{3}^{n}: \qquad \begin{array}{l} \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} x_{i}^{3} = 0, \qquad \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} x_{i} = 0, \quad \text{for } n \text{ even}, \\ \sum_{i=0}^{n} x_{i}^{3} + \frac{1}{4} x_{n+1}^{3} = 0, \qquad \sum_{i=0}^{n+1} x_{i} = 0, \quad \text{for } n \text{ odd}. \end{array}$$

The singularities of these cubics in \mathbb{P}^n are exactly the points in which the two hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^{n+1} are tangent to each other (fig. 3.3).



FIGURE 3.3. The Geometry of Kalker's Hypersurfaces. $\operatorname{Kal}_3^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ consists of two points, one doubled: In the projective view one can see the (black) fermat cubic $x_0^3 + x_1^3 + \frac{1}{4}x_2^3$ touching the hyperplane $x_0 + x_1 + x_2 \simeq \mathbb{P}^1$ in one point and meeting it transversally in another one. To illustrate the construction of the Kalker cubic $\operatorname{Kal}_3^2 \subset \mathbb{P}^2$ which takes place in \mathbb{P}^3 , we take the affine chart $x_3 = 1$. Here one sees the three points in which the hyperplane $x_0 + x_1 + x_2 + 1 \simeq \mathbb{P}^2$ touches the cubic $x_0^3 + x_1^3 + x_2^3 + 1^3$. Kal_3^2 consists of three lines.

The following table lists the numbers of nodes on Kalker's hypercubics. This is one of the very rare cases in which we know the maximum number of singularities:

| n | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | n |
|-------------------------------|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|--|
| $\mu^n(3) = \mu^n_{A_1}(3) =$ | 0 | 1 | 3 | 4 | 10 | 15 | 35 | 56 | 126 | 210 | 462 | $\binom{n+1}{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor}$ |

Of course, this construction can also be generalized to higher degrees, although Kalker did not mention it because he was only interested in cubics. Moreover, this construction does not seem to be very good for d > 3.

3.12. Two Nodal Quintics in \mathbb{P}^4

Since the end of the 19th century, the maximum numbers of nodes on a threefold in \mathbb{P}^4 of degree ≤ 4 are known, see 1.5 on page 18. We have just seen that Varchenko's bound is exact for cubics in any dimension. In 1985 and 1986, Hirzebruch [Hir87] and Schoen [Sch86] constructed the first examples that came close to Varchenko's upper bound (section 3.7 on page 35) for quintics in \mathbb{P}^4 : $\mu^4(5) \leq 135$.

Schoen's quintic

(3.33)
$$\operatorname{Sch}_{5}^{4}: \sum_{i=0}^{4} x_{i}^{5} - 5 \prod_{i=0}^{4} x_{i} = 0$$

has exactly 125 nodes (see also [Wer87, p. 84]).

He was only interested in threefolds, but it is obvious how his construction can be generalized to higher dimensions. But the variants $\operatorname{Sch}_{d}^{d-1}$ in \mathbb{P}^{d-1} given by $\operatorname{Sch}_{d}^{d-1}: \sum_{i=0}^{d-1} x_i^d - d \prod_{i=0}^{d-1} x_i = 0$ have only $d^{d-2} = d^{n-1}$ nodes. Hirzebruch's quintic can also be generalized to higher dimensions and other degrees. In fact, the construction is creative $C_{i}^{i} = t^{1/2} (2.25)$ degrees.

degrees. In fact, the construction is exactly Givental's (3.25), but instead of a triangle $R_3(x, y)$, he took a five-gon

$$R_5(x,y) = x^5 - 10x^3y^2 + 5xy^4 - 5x^4 - 10x^2y^2 - 5y^4 + 20x^2 + 20y^2 - 16$$

(see fig. 3.4) and Hirzebruch only applied it in four-dimensional space because he was only interested in quintic threefolds. The $(d-1)^2 = 16$ distinct critical points of $R_5(x,y)$ lie on three different critical levels: $\binom{5}{2} = 10$ have critical value 0 (the intersections of the five lines), 5 with critical value v_1 (within each triangle) and 1 with critical value $v_0 \neq 1$ (the center).



FIGURE 3.4. The regular five-gon, once seen in the plane, once in space.

It is now clear that the quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 given by

(3.34)
$$\operatorname{Hirz}_{5}^{4}: R_{5}(x_{0}, x_{1}) - R_{5}(x_{2}, x_{3}) = 0$$

has exactly 126 ordinary nodes, 100 coming from the intersection of two lines, and 25 + 1 others. Thus:

(3.35)
$$\mu_{A_1}^4(5) \ge 126.$$

In view of Givental's idea (3.25), this construction can also be generalized to higher dimensions and degrees. Although we could not find this generalization in the literature, its basic idea was certainly known to those working on the subject at that time. We denote by $R_5(x, y)$ the regular five-gon normalized s.t. the critical value over the origin is +1. Notice that then the other non-zero critical point is -1. We can translate Givental's equations (3.25) for cubics word by word:

(3.36)
$$\operatorname{GH}_{5}^{n}$$
: $\sum_{j=0}^{\frac{n}{2}-1} (-1)^{j \cdot (1+(n \mod 2))} R_{5}(x_{2j}, x_{2j+1}) = -(n \mod 2) \frac{T_{5}(x_{n-1}) - 1}{2}.$

For low n, we get the following numbers of nodes on quintics in \mathbb{P}^n :

| n | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |
|----------------------|---|----|----|-----|-----|------|------|-------|--------|
| $\mu^n(5) \le$ | 2 | 10 | 31 | 135 | 456 | 1918 | 6728 | 27876 | 100110 |
| $\mu_{A_1}^n(5) \ge$ | 2 | 10 | 31 | 126 | 420 | 1620 | 5750 | 23126 | 78300 |

If we replace in GH_5^n the polynomial $R_5(x, y)$ by another polynomial of degree d which has exactly three critical values of the form 0, 1, -1 then the formula can be used verbatim. Instead, if it is not possible to bring the critical values of a polynomial into this form then another formula is better, see e.g. 4.1 on page 45.

3.13. The Defect and the Existence of Certain Nodal Hypersurfaces

In [Cle83], Clemens introduced the notion of defect $\delta(X) := b_4(X) - b_2(X)$ of a nodal hypersurface X in \mathbb{P}^n , where b_i denotes the *i*th Betti number. If X deforms, but maintains its number of nodes, the defect remains constant.

Based on this article, Borcea [**Bor90**] considered the special case of nodal threefolds with trivial dualizing sheaf and was able to interpret the defect as follows: Let X be a quintic threefold with $\mu(X)$ nodes and defect $\delta(X)$. Then there exist quintics with $0 \le k \le \mu(X)$ nodes with at most $\delta(X)$ exceptions. The same holds for double solids ramified over a nodal octic surface. This result can be seen as a generalization of a result of Greuel/Karras in [**GK89**] which states that hypersurfaces with all lower numbers of nodes exist if X is unobstructed, i.e. if a certain cohomology group vanishes. Using the defect, their condition can be written as $\delta(X) = 0$.

Several people computed the defect in some special cases. E.g., Werner [Wer87] treated the case of several variants of Chmutov's octics which are of the form presented in section 3.8 modulo sign changes. Among these, there is a 108-nodal example with defect $\delta = 0$. Using Borcea's previous result this shows the existence of octics with 0, 1, ..., 108 nodes. Another of the octics has 144 nodes and defect $\delta = 9$. Thus between 108 and 144 at most nine gaps may appear. Schoen's quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 (section 3.12 on the facing page) has 125 nodes and defect $\delta = 24$. Thus, up to 125 at most 24 gaps may exist, but most of them have to occur for large numbers of nodes because Borcea gives an 100-nodal example with defect $\delta = 3$. To our knowledge it has not been checked yet which numbers of nodes actually occur on octic surfaces or quintic threefolds. It might be possible to apply our methods presented in part 2 of this thesis for this purpose because most of the examples can certainly be found in some obvious families.



Endraß's 168-nodal octic from 1996. He located it within a five-parameter family of $D_8 \times \mathbb{Z}_2$ -symmetric 112-nodal surfaces of degree eight.

CHAPTER 4

Recent Results (1991 until now)

Since Miyaoka's and Varchenko's upper bounds for the maximum possible number of nodes from the early 1980's there has not yet appeared any essentially new idea for producing new upper bounds. But since the early 1990's several new lower bounds have been found.

First of all, Chmutov improved his own general construction in the case of nodal surfaces and threefolds. Both families are still the best known ones for general degree.

Apart from that, several special cases have been improved. E.g., van Straten constructed a quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 with 130 nodes, and Barth constructed his famous sextic in \mathbb{P}^3 with 65 nodes. Using methods similar to Beauville's proof of $\mu_{A_1}(5) = 31$, Jaffe and Ruberman were then able to show that $\mu_{A_1}(6) = 65$. So, $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ is known for $d \leq 6$.

In the cases of degree 8, 10, 12 there also appeared constructions exceeding Chmutov's general lower bound. But for odd degree d > 5 no such surface was found.

Parallely, people started to consider also other singularities of small degree. E.g., Barth constructed a quartic with the maximum number of 8 cusps and a quintic with 15 cusps. Based on results of Nikulin and Urabe on K3 lattice theory, Yang completed the enumeration of all combinations of singularities on quartics in \mathbb{P}^3 using computers.

4.1. Chmutov's Hypersurfaces using Folding Polynomials

When trying to generalize Givental's cubics from section 3.9 on page 39 in the case of surfaces to higher degree d one realizes the following. For the number of nodes on the resulting surfaces only the critical points with two different critical values on a plane curve are relevant. This immediately leads to the question what the maximum number of critical points on two critical levels of a plane curve of degree d is. Of course, a trivial upper bound is $2 \cdot \binom{d}{2} \approx d^2$. Chmutov succeeded in proving a stronger result [Chm84] similar to Varchenko's spectral bound. In [Chm95] he mentioned the special case of non-degenerate critical points for which this leads to an upper bound of $\approx \frac{7}{8}d^2$ critical points on two levels. As he remarked in [Chm92], this bound immediately implies a bound for the maximum number $\mu_{sep}^3(d)$ of nodes on a surface of degree d of the form of Givental's cubics p(x, y) + q(z) = 0 (he called them *surfaces in separated variables*):

(4.1)
$$\mu_{\operatorname{sep}}^3(d) \lesssim \frac{7}{16} d^3.$$

This is less than Miyaoka's upper bound: $\frac{7}{16}d^3 = \frac{63}{144}d^3 < \frac{64}{144}d^3 = \frac{4}{9}d^3$. Thus, it is not possible to reach Miyaoka's upper bound with surfaces in separated variables.

In view of this upper bound, it is natural to ask how close one can get. We are thus looking for plane curves with very few different critical values (in fact, the minimum is three for plane curves of degree $d \ge 4$). The first remark is that regular *d*-gons have exactly $\binom{d}{2}$ critical values with critical value 0 and only *d* critical values on the other critical levels.

Chmutov [Chm92] realized that the so-called folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ associated to the root system A_2 (see [Wit88] and also [HW88, EL82]) are very well-suited for this purpose. In fact, they give $\approx \frac{5}{6}d^2$ critical points on two levels. In [Chm95], Chmutov even conjectured that this is the maximum number of critical points on two critical levels. The folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ can be defined as follows:

$$(4.2) \quad F_d^{A_2}(x,y) := 2 + \det \begin{pmatrix} x & 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ 2y & x & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 3 & y & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & 1 & y & x \end{pmatrix} + \det \begin{pmatrix} y & 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ 2x & y & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 3 & x & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & 1 & y & x \end{pmatrix} + \det \begin{pmatrix} y & 1 & 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 \\ 2x & y & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 3 & x & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 1 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 1 \\ 0 & \cdots & \cdots & 0 & 1 & x & y \end{pmatrix}.$$

These polynomials are generalizations of the Tchebychev polynomials in many senses (see [Wit88, HW88, EL82]). The property which is important for Chmutov is the fact that they have very few (in fact, three) different critical values. He showed that such a polynomial $F_d^{A_2}$ had $\binom{d}{2}$ critical points with critical value 0 and

(4.3)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{3}d(d-3) & \text{if } d \equiv 0 \mod 3, \\ \frac{1}{3}(d(d-3)+2) & \text{otherwise} \end{aligned}$$

critical points with critical value -1. The other critical points have critical value 8. As one might guess from the number $\binom{d}{2}$ of critical points on the level 0, the polynomial $F_d^{A_2}$ consists in fact of d lines.

The number of nodes of Chmutov's surfaces defined by the affine equation

(4.4)
$$\operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{3}: F_{d}^{A_{2}}(x_{0}, x_{1}) + \frac{1}{2}(T_{d}(x_{2}) + 1) = 0$$

can easily be computed using (4.3):

(4.5)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 13d^2 + 12d \right) & \text{if } d \equiv 0 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 13d^2 + 16d - 8 \right) & \text{if } d \equiv 2, 4 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 14d^2 + 13d - 4 \right) & \text{if } d \equiv 1, 5 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 14d^2 + 9d \right) & \text{if } d \equiv 3 \mod 6. \end{aligned}$$

Thus:

(4.6)
$$\mu_{A_1}(d) \gtrsim \frac{5}{12} \mathbf{d}^3.$$

For low even degree, Kreiss's construction (if correct) is at least as good as Chmutov's: $\mu(\text{Chm}_8^3) = 321 < 325$ and for $\mu(\text{Chm}_{12}^3) = 576$.

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|-----------------------------|----|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_{Dp}(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68 (66) | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $\approx \frac{4}{9}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d)(\mu(d)) \geq$ | 31 | 64 | 93 | 160 | 216 | 325 | 425 | 576 | $pprox rac{5}{12} d^3$ |

Of course, the folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ can also be used in higher dimensions (compare Hirzebruch's quintic (3.34) and Givental's cubics (3.25)). In **[Chm92]** Chmutov only mentioned the case \mathbb{P}^4 in which $\operatorname{Chm}_d^4 := F_d^{A_2}(x_0, x_1) - F_d^{A_2}(x_2, x_3)$ gives threefolds with approximately $\frac{7}{18}d^4$ nodes. With Varchenko's spectral bound, we get:

| d | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
|-----------------------|----|----|-----|-----|-----|------|------|------|------|------|
| $\mu^4(d) \leq$ | 10 | 45 | 135 | 320 | 651 | 1190 | 2010 | 3195 | 4840 | 7051 |
| $\mu^4_{A_1}(d) \geq$ | 10 | 45 | 126 | 277 | 566 | 1029 | 1720 | 2745 | 4150 | 6013 |

In view of the equations of Givental's cubics in \mathbb{P}^n , we can easily write down equations for hypersurfaces with many nodes in \mathbb{P}^n using the folding polynomials. As we could not find them in the literature, we give them here explicitly:

(4.7)
$$\operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{n}: \sum_{j=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor - 1} (-1)^{j} F_{d}^{A_{2}}(x_{2j}, x_{2j+1}) = (n \mod 2) \cdot \frac{1}{2} (T_{d}(x_{n-1}) + 1).$$

In some cases, we get more nodes if we replace the sign $(-1)^j$ by 1, e.g. if n = 5. Furthermore, for small degree, it is easy to find out which are the best plane curves for this purpose. E.g., in degree 4, there is a better choice than $F_4^{A_2}$: The union of four lines, s.t. two of non-singular critical points have critical value -1 and the remaining one has critical value +1. Of course, Chmutov's upper bound for surfaces in separated variables also generalizes to higher dimensions.

But notice that Chmutov's older construction (section 3.8 on page 38) is asymptotically better than his new construction for any fixed $n \ge 5$ and large d. Intuitively, the reason for this is that the two non-zero critical values of the polynomials $T_d(x) + T_d(y)$ also sum up to zero; this is not the case for $F_d^{A_2}$. In \mathbb{P}^5 , we get the following table for low degree:

| d | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 |
|-----------------------|----|-----|-----|------|------|------|-------|
| $\mu^5(d) \leq$ | 15 | 126 | 456 | 1506 | 3431 | 7872 | 14412 |
| $\mu^5_{A_1}(d) \geq$ | 15 | 104 | 420 | 1080 | 2583 | 5760 | 10368 |

4.2. Barth's 31-nodal Quintic in \mathbb{P}^3

Although Barth only published his construction of a 31-nodal quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 as a preprint, it is quite interesting and we thus describe it here shortly (a longer exposition can be found in [End96]).

As a starting point, Barth took a family of quintics $\prod_{i=0}^{4} P_i(x, y) - az \cdot Q^2$ coming from Rohn's construction 1.3 on page 16. In order to be able to reduce the problem in three-space to a planar one, he took planes P_i and a quadric Q which admit the symmetry D_5 of a five-gon: $F_{a,b,d} := P - az \cdot Q^2$, where

(4.8)

$$P := \prod_{j=0}^{4} \left(\cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{5}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{5}\right) y - w \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{16} \left(x^5 - 5x^4 w - 10x^3 y^2 - 10x^2 y^2 w + 20x^2 w^3 + 5xy^4 - 5y^4 w + 20y^2 w^3 - 16w^5 \right),$$

$$Q := x^2 + y^2 + bz^2 + zw + dw^2,$$

and where $a, b, d \in \mathbb{C}$ are still to be determined.



FIGURE 4.1. Barth's Togliatti quintic with 31 nodes and its restriction to the plane y = 0. Notice that this plane quintic consists of a line and an irreducible quartic. This latter has three nodes two of which are solitary (also called A_1^+) points.

A generic member of this family has 20 nodes. Because of the symmetry, four of these are in each of the symmetry planes

$$E_j := \left\{ \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{5}\right) x = \cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{5}\right) y \right\}, j = 0, 1, \dots, 4.$$

In fact, the symmetry allowed Barth to restrict his attention to one of these planes, say E_0 . Every node N of the plane curve $C_{a,b,d} := E_0 \cap F_{a,b,d}$ induces an orbit of length five if N does not lie on the axes x = y = 0. In order to get 31 ordinary double points, we thus have to find parameters a, b, d, s.t. the plane quintic Bar₃₁ := $C_{a,b,d}$ has one additional node on the axes x = y = 0 and two additional nodes away from this axes.

But an irreducible quintic can have at most six nodes, s.t. our curve $C_{a,b,d}$ has to be reducible in order to have the seven nodes that we need. In fact, a lengthy analysis shows that the curve is a union of a line and a three-nodal quartic with the parameters

$$a = -\frac{5}{32}, \quad b = -\frac{5-\sqrt{5}}{20}, \quad d = -(1+\sqrt{5}).$$

The only node on the axes x = y = 0 comes from the intersection of the line with the quartic. The surface $F_{a,b,d}$ corresponding to these parameters has therefore $20 + 2 \cdot 5 + 1 = 31$ nodes, see fig. 4.1.

4.3. Van Straten's 130-nodal Quintic in \mathbb{P}^4

As we have seen in section 1.5 on page 18, C. Segre's 10-nodal cubic and the 45-nodal Burkhardt Quartic in \mathbb{P}^4 have nice Σ_6 -symmetric equations. In [**vS93**], van Straten analyzed all singular examples in the space of all Σ_6 -symmetric quintics in the \mathbb{P}^4 given by cutting the \mathbb{P}^5 by the hyperplane $\sigma_1(x_0, \ldots, x_5) = 0$. It is spanned by $\sigma_5(x_0, \ldots, x_5)$ and $\sigma_2(x_0, \ldots, x_5)\sigma_3(x_0, \ldots, x_5)$. Besides several other interesting quintics, this pencil

(4.9)
$$\mathrm{vS}_{(\alpha:\beta)} := \alpha \cdot \sigma_5(x_0, \dots, x_5) + \beta \cdot \sigma_2(x_0, \dots, x_5) \cdot \sigma_3(x_0, \dots, x_5)$$

contains the 130-nodal example $vS_{(1:1)}$ showing (compare section 3.12):

(4.10)
$$\mu_{A_1}^4(d) \ge 130.$$

The nodes of this quintic form three orbits under the operation of the Σ_6 on the coordinates:

(4.11)
$$(1:1:1:-1:-1:-1) = 10 \text{ nodes},$$
$$(1:1:-1:-1:\sqrt{-3}:\sqrt{-3}) = 90 \text{ nodes},$$
$$(1:1:1:1:\sqrt{-3}-2:\sqrt{-3}-2) = 30 \text{ nodes}.$$

As one might expect, this 130-nodal quintic has some nice properties similar to those of C. Segre's cubic and the Burkhardt quartic. But in contrast to these two varieties in \mathbb{P}^4 , it is not invariant under the simple group of order 25920.

4.4. Goryunov's Symmetric Quartics in \mathbb{P}^n

Inspired by the construction of the 130-nodal van Straten quintic, Goryunov [Gor94] looked at all nodal quartics and cubics in \mathbb{P}^n which are invariant under the reflection groups A_n or B_n .

Of course, in the case of cubics in \mathbb{P}^n , his examples could not give more nodes than Kalker's examples (section 3.11 on page 41) because those already reached Varchenko's upper bound. In fact, Goryunov found isomorphic cubics using his method.

But his B_n -symmetric quartics gave rise to new lower bounds. His construction is based on his observation that one can reformulate the condition that a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n has a singularity in the case of hypersurfaces symmetric under the considered reflection groups: It turned out to be equivalent to the condition that the corresponding hypersurface in the orbit space is nontransversal to the discriminant of the group. He thus constructed his examples with many nodes by finding a hypersurface in the orbit space that is nontransversal to the strata of very long orbits.

Using this method he showed that the B_{n+1} -symmetric hypersurface

(4.12)
$$\operatorname{Gory}_{4}^{n}(a): \quad 2 \cdot (a+1) \cdot \left(\sum_{0 \le i < j \le n} x_{i}^{2} x_{j}^{2}\right) - a \cdot \left(\sum_{0 \le j \le n} x_{j}^{2}\right)^{2} = 0$$

has exactly $2^{a} \binom{n+1}{a+1}$ nodes. This number is maximal for $a = \lfloor \frac{2n}{3} \rfloor$ and $a = \lfloor \frac{2n+1}{3} \rfloor$ which both yield:

(4.13)
$$\mu_{A_1}^n(4) \ge 2^{\lfloor \frac{2\mathbf{n}}{3} \rfloor} \binom{\mathbf{n}+\mathbf{1}}{\lfloor \frac{2\mathbf{n}}{3} \rfloor + \mathbf{1}}$$

His A_{n+1} -symmetric quartics exceed this number only for n = 4 (this gives the 45-nodal Burkhardt Quartic) and n = 7. We obtain the following table (with Varchenko's upper bound):

| n | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | n |
|----------------|---|----|----|-----|-----|------|------|------|-------|---|
| $\mu^n(4) \le$ | 6 | 16 | 45 | 126 | 357 | 1016 | 2907 | 8350 | 24068 | $\approx \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \frac{3^{n+1}}{\sqrt{\pi n}}$ |
| $\mu^n(4) \ge$ | 6 | 16 | 45 | 120 | 336 | 938 | 2688 | 7680 | 21120 | $pprox rac{3}{4} rac{3^{ m n+1}}{\sqrt{\pi n}}$ |

In table [Gor94, p. 148], Goryunov listed Chmutov's old hypersurfaces (section 3.8 on page 38) as the previously known best lower bounds although the generalization of Chmutov's new construction (section 4.1 on page 45) leads to greater numbers of nodes for small n. But also in comparison to these, Goryunov's examples are better for all n.

4.5. Barth's Icosahedral-Symmetric Surfaces and $\mu_{A_1}(6) = 65$

Similar to his construction of the 31-nodal quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 , Barth also used the idea to analyze a pencil of symmetric surfaces to treat the case of degree six and ten [**Bar96**]. The main advantage of these two cases is the fact that one can use an even larger symmetry group than in the case of the five-gon-symmetry for the quintic: Barth's surfaces of degree 6 and 10 are invariant under the symmetry group of the icosahedron in euclidean three-space \mathbb{R}^3 which contains the dihedral group D_5 as a subgroup.

Let $\tau := \frac{1}{2}(1 + \sqrt{5})$. The six planes through the origin which are orthogonal to the six diagonals of the regular icosahedron are given by the affine equation $P := (\tau^2 x^2 - y^2)(\tau^2 y^2 - z^2)(\tau^2 z^2 - x^2)$. Consider the family

$$F_{\alpha} := P - \alpha \cdot Q^2,$$

where $Q := x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 1$ is a sphere and $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ is a parameter still to be determined (compare Rohn's construction in section 1.3 on page 16).

For generic values of $\alpha \neq 0$, the surface F_{α} has 45 singularities. 30 of these come from the intersection of P and Q as in Rohn's construction, 15 are at infinity. Barth then enforced a third orbit of 20 singularities on the ten lines joining two opposit centers of faces of the icosahedron. Because of the symmetry he could restrict the computations to one of these lines which led to $\alpha = \frac{1}{4}(2\tau + 1)$. Altogether, he obtained a surface

$$\operatorname{Bar}_{65} := F_{\frac{1}{4}(2\tau+1)}$$

with 30 + 15 + 20 = 65 nodes (see fig. 4.2).

A similar construction gave a surface Bar_{345} of degree 10 with 345 nodes (see also fig. 4.2). Its equation is as follows:

(4.14)
$$8(x^2 - \tau^4 y^2)(y^2 - \tau^4 z^2)(z^2 - \tau^4 x^2)\left(x^4 + y^4 + z^4 - 2(x^2 y^2 + y^2 z^2 + z^2 x^2)\right) + (3 + 5\tau)(x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - 1)^2\left(x^2 + y^2 + z^2 - (2 - \tau)\right)^2 = 0.$$

Taking into account both surfaces we have the new lower bounds:

(4.15)
$$\mu_{A_1}(6) \ge 65, \quad \mu_{A_1}(10) \ge 345.$$



FIGURE 4.2. Barth's 65-nodal sextic and 345-nodal dectic.

As already mentioned in section 3.5 on page 34, the existence of the 65-nodal sextic was even more astonishing in view of Catanese's and Ceresa's claimed upper bound for surfaces constructed using B. Segre's 8-fold covering method. In fact,

as one can see from the equations, Barth's sextic is of this type, but exceeds this bound. And indeed, by analyzing his construction carefully, Barth was able to trace down the error in Catanese's and Ceresa's reasoning.

An interesting fact was computed by van Straten using deformation theory and computer algebra (see next section): The Barth sextic is contained in a threeparameter family of 65-nodal sextics. Furthermore, van Straten suggested to try to construct this family explicitly using Gallarati's construction (section 2.5 on page 24). This was done by Pettersen in his Ph.D. thesis [**Pet98**].

Only very shortly after Barth's discovery of the 65-nodal sextic, Jaffe and Ruberman [JR97] were able to show $\mu_{A_1}(6) \leq 65$ using arguments similar to Beauville's (section 3.3 on page 33) which finally showed:

(4.16)
$$\mu_{A_1}(6) = \mathbf{65}.$$

After the appearance of this result in degree six, Endraß considered even sets of nodes and their codes related to it in more generalality, see [End98, End99]. But this did not allow him to deduce new upper bounds for higher degrees.

4.6. Deformations of Nodal Hypersurfaces

Van Straten's computation of the fact that Barth's 65-nodal sextic varies in a three-parameter family is an application of his deformation theory for nodal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n which he developped in a still unfinished paper [**vS94**]. His theory is based on the deformation theory for non-isolated singularities which he developped in [**dJvS90**] together with de Jong.

Van Straten considered the affine cone over the singular locus $\Sigma := \Sigma(X)$ of the nodal hypersurface X which is given by a homogenous polynomial $X \in P :=$ $\mathbb{C}[x_0, \ldots, x_n]$ of degree d. This allowed him to apply the above deformation theory of non-isolated singularities. The deformation functor $\text{Def}(X, \Sigma)$ consists of deformations of the projective hypersurface X which induce analytically trivial deformations of the multigerm of X around Σ . $T^1(X, \Sigma)$ is the space of infinitesimal deformations and $T^2(X, \Sigma)$ the obstruction space.

We get for the infinitesimal embedded deformations $T^1(X) = (P/J)_d$, where $J := \operatorname{Jac}(X) := (\frac{\partial X}{\partial x_0}, \ldots, \frac{\partial X}{\partial x_n})$ denotes the jacobian ideal of X. For the infinitesimal deformations of the multigerm (X, Σ) , we have: $T^1(\mathcal{O}_{(X,\Sigma)}) = \bigoplus_{x \in \Sigma} T^1(\mathcal{O}_{X,x})$. As Σ is reduced in our case, van Straten could apply some vanishing results which make a long exact sequence from $[\mathbf{dJvS90}]$ collaps to:

$$0 \to T^1(X, \Sigma) \to T^1(X) \to T^1(\mathcal{O}_{(X, \Sigma)}) \to T^2(X, \Sigma) \to 0.$$

We denote the saturation of J w.r.t. $\mathfrak{m} := (x_0, \ldots, x_n)$ by $I := J : \mathfrak{m}^{\infty}$. Van Straten argued that the above sequence is isomorphic to the degree d part of the sequence of graded P-modules:

$$0 \to H^0_{\mathfrak{m}}(P/J) \to P/J \to P/I \to H^1_{\mathfrak{m}}(P/J) \to 0.$$

This immediately yields:

(4.17)
$$\dim T^{1}(X, \Sigma) - \dim T^{2}(X, \Sigma) = \dim (P/J)_{d} - \sum_{x \in \Sigma} \tau(X, x)$$
$$= \binom{n+d}{d} - (n+1)^{2} - \#(\operatorname{nodes}(X)).$$

As $H^0_{\mathfrak{m}}(P/J) = I/J$, we get from the above exact sequences:

$$(4.18) T1(X, \Sigma) = (I/J)_d$$

We can thus compute dim $T^1(X, \Sigma)$ using computer algebra and — via (4.17) also dim $T^2(X, \Sigma)$ which represents the number of independent conditions imposed on a polynomial of degree d to pass through the nodes Σ .

As an example, let us consider the case of nodal sextics f_6 . It is known that $\#(\text{nodes}(f_6)) \leq 65$ as we have seen in the previous section. As $\dim T^2(f_6, \Sigma) \geq 0$, we obtain: $\dim T^1(f_6, \Sigma) \geq 68 - 65 = 3$. Indeed, using SINGULAR we can compute via (4.18) that $\dim T^1(\text{Bar}_{65}, \Sigma) = 3$ and thus $\dim T^2(\text{Bar}_{65}, \Sigma) = 0$ for Barth's 65-nodal sextic Bar_{65} (section 4.5 on page 50).

Let us mention some other immediate consequences of the linear relation (4.17) between dim $T^1(X, \Sigma)$ and dim $T^2(X, \Sigma)$:

COROLLARY 4.1. With the notations above, we have:

- (1) If there exists a rigid nodal septic f_7 in \mathbb{P}^3 (i.e. $\dim T^1(f_7, \Sigma(f_7)) = 0$) then it has exactly 104 nodes and $\dim T^2(f_7, \Sigma(f_7)) = 0$.
- (2) If we have dim $T^2(f_d, \Sigma(f_d)) \leq c$ for some nodal hypersurface f_d of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n for some $c \in \mathbb{N}_0$ then

$$\#(\text{nodes}(f_d)) \le \dim(P/J)_d + c = \binom{n+d}{d} - (n+1)^2 + c.$$

(3) In particular, the number of nodes of an unobstructed nodal hypersurface f_d of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n is bounded by:

$$\#(\operatorname{nodes}(f)) \le \binom{n+d}{d} - (n+1)^2.$$

In chapter 10 on page 119, we list dim $T^1(f_d, \Sigma(f_d))$ and dim $T^2(f_d, \Sigma(f_d))$ for many nodal hypersurfaces f_d of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n . From these computations, we can observe many interesting things. E.g., the 168-nodal octic presented in the following section is the only known rigid octic although the restriction from the corollary allows the existence of 149-nodal rigid octics. Why?

If dim $T^2(X, \Sigma) = 0$ for some nodal hypersurface X then any local deformation can be globalized to X. Thus, the existence of a nodal hypersurface X implies the existence of hypersurfaces with any non-negative number $\leq \#(\text{nodes}(X))$ of nodes.

4.7. Endraß's 168-nodal Octics

Barth's construction of the 65-nodal sextic and the 345-nodal dectic showed that Rohn's and B. Segre's constructions were even more powerful than the geometers had thought before. So, Barth's Ph.D. student Endraß considered surfaces of degree 8 which arise in the same way. The main result of his thesis [End97, End96] was the construction of on octic with 168 nodes.

He started with a D_8 -invariant 9-parameter family F := P - Q of surfaces of degree 8, where

(4.19)

$$P := \prod_{j=0}^{7} \left(\cos\left(\frac{\pi j}{4}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{\pi j}{4}\right) y - w \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{4} (x^2 - w^2) (y^2 - w^2) \left((x + y)^2 - 2w^2 \right) \left((x - y)^2 - 2w^2 \right),$$

$$Q := a(x^2 + y^2)^2 + (x^2 + y^2) (bz^2 + czw + dw^2)$$

$$+ ez^4 + fz^3 w + gz^2 w^2 + hzw^3 + iw^4.$$

52



FIGURE 4.3. One of the two 168-nodal Endraß Octics.

For a generic choice of the parameters $a, b, \ldots, i \in \mathbb{C}$, this has $\binom{8}{2} \cdot 4 = 112$ nodes (compare Rohn's construction, section 1.3). For the analysis of the family, Endraß could restrict to two planes because of the symmetry of the construction. After a careful analysis of the curves in these planes, he finally found the parameters $a = -4(1 + \sqrt{2}), b = 8(2 + \sqrt{2}), c = 0, d = 2(2 + 7\sqrt{2}), e = -16, f = 0,$ $g = 8(1 - 2\sqrt{2}), h = 0, i = -(1 + 12\sqrt{2})$ which lead to on octic Endr₁₆₈ with 168 nodes:

(4.20)
$$\mu_{A_1}(8) \ge 168.$$

In fact, by replacing every $\sqrt{2}$ by $-\sqrt{2}$ Endraß got another 168-nodal octic Endr₁₆₈ which is not projectively isomorphic to the first one.

Van Straten computed, again using deformation theory (section 4.6), that this octic is rigid. In fact, this is still the only rigid nodal octic and also the rigid nodal surface of the smallest degree known up to now. Van Straten also found an octic with many nodes within the above family; his example has 165 nodes.

4.8. Yang's List of Rational Double Points on Quartics

The classification of all cubic surfaces with respect to the singularities occurring on them was already found in the 19^{th} century (see section 1.1 on page 13 and $[\mathbf{BW79}]$ for a modern treatment). Although the greatest number of singularities on a quartic surface was also already determined at that time by Kummer, the classification of all quartic surfaces with respect to their singularities was only completed in 1997 by Yang [Yan97].

In a series of papers in the 1980's, Urabe had started to try to classify all quartic surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 . He had succeeded in the case of non-normal quartic surfaces [**Ura86a**]. Urabe had also performed the major steps for quartic surfaces with at least one singularity which is not a rational double point, see [**Ura85**, **Ura86b**, **Deg90**]. For the only remaining case of quartics with only rational double points, Urabe had managed to reduce the problem to a purely lattice-theoretic problem [**Ura87**, **Ura90**].

Using Urabe's results together with some K3 lattice theory due to Nikulin [Nik80], Yang was finally able to determine all possible combinations of rational double points on a quartic surfaces mainly by applying Nikulin's method systematically using a computer [Yan97]. This completed the classification of all quartic surfaces with respect to the singularities occurring on them more than one-hundred years after the same had been done for cubic surfaces.

To give some examples, the result shows that $\mu_{A_2}^3(4) = 8$, i.e. the maximum number of cusps on a quartic is eight. $\mu_{A_2}^3(4) \leq 8$ already follows from Varchenko's bound, but to our knowledge, the other inequality $\mu_{A_2}^3(4) \geq 8$ had not been known previously. Shortly afterwards, Barth obtained the same result by another method [**Bar00b**] – he also gave explicit equations for 8-cuspidal quartics in \mathbb{P}^3 .

Another interesting extremal case is the highest A_j -singularity that can occur on a quartic. Either from Varchenko's spectral bound or via Nikulin's K3 lattice theory it follows that there cannot be such a singularity for j > 19. From Nikulin's results, one can show in an abstract way that a quartic with an A_{19} exists (e.g., by looking at Yang's list). But it is even possible to write down an explicit formula. This was already done in 1982 by Kato and Naruki [**KN82**], basically using explicit methods similar to those which had allowed Schläfli to construct a cubic surface with an A_5 -singularity which we mentioned at the end of section 1.1.1 together with results of [**BW79**]:

$$(4.21) \quad 16(x^2 + y^2) + 32xz^2 - 16y^3 + 16z^4 - 32yz^3 + 8(2x^2 - 2xy + 5y^2)z^2 \\ + 8(2x^3 - 5x^2y - 6xy^2 - 7y^3)z + 20x^4 + 44x^3y + 65x^2y^2 + 40xy^3 + 41y^4 = 0.$$

4.9. Sarti's 600-nodal Dodectic

The main result of Sarti's thesis (she is another Ph.D. student of Barth) was the construction of a surface of degree 12 with 600 nodes, see [Sar01]. This surface is also invariant under a large symmetry group, namely the reflection group of the regular four-dimensional 600-cell. In fact, Goryunov had already announced the existence of a 600-nodal surface invariant under this group in 1996. But he had not been able to give explicit equations because the equations of the invariant S_{12} of degree 12 had not been known at that time.

This and the other invariants of the group of the 600-cell were found by Sarti in her Ph.D. thesis. We refer to [Sar01, p. 438] for the very lengthy equation of S_{12} . Given this, she studied the pencil

Sa₁₂(
$$\lambda$$
): S₁₂(x, y, z, w) + λ ($x^2 + y^2 + z^2 + w^2$)⁶

and found the parameters $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$, s.t. $\operatorname{Sa}_{12}(\lambda)$ admits singularities. It turned out that $\operatorname{Sa}_{12}(\lambda)$ has orbits of nodes of lengths 300, 600, 360, 60 for $\lambda = -\frac{3}{32}, -\frac{22}{243}, -\frac{2}{25}, 0$, respectively and no other singularities. Thus, $\operatorname{Sa}_{12}(-\frac{22}{243})$ is a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 with 600 nodes, see fig. 4.4 on the next page:

In an unpublished preprint, Stagnaro [Sta01] constructed a surface of degree 12 with 584 nodes only very shortly before the publication of Sarti's 600-nodal example. Stagnaro's construction was therefore never published.

| d | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----------------------------|----|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---------------------------|
| $\mu(d)(\mu_{A_1}(d)) \le$ | 31 | 68 (65) | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $\approx \frac{4}{9}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge$ | 31 | 65 | 93 | 168 | 216 | 345 | 425 | 600 | $\approx \frac{5}{12}d^3$ |

Until this point, the following was known on $\mu(d)$:



FIGURE 4.4. The 600-nodal Sarti Dodectic.

4.10. Surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with Triple Points

We already mentioned in section 3.1.3 on page 32 that the maximum number of ordinary triple points on a quintic in \mathbb{P}^3 was already shown to be 5 by Gallarati [Gal52b]. But for higher degree not much was known until 2000. In particular, for the next smallest degree, six, it was unknown if there existed a sextic with 11 triple points.

Recall that we denote by $\mu_3(d)$ the maximum number of ordinary triple points on a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 . $\mu_3(6) \leq 11$ can easily be computed using Varchenko's bound. The authors of **[EPS03]** also found another bound, the so-called polar bound which is bad for high degree d, but for d = 6 it gives $\mu_3(6) \leq 10$. This polar bound is based on the fact that the position of the triple points of a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 cannot be too special. In fact, the authors of **[EPS03]** showed that if F_d is a surface of degree d with many triple points and V_{δ} is another surface of degree δ then V_{δ} cannot contain more than $\frac{1}{6}\delta d(d-1)$ of the triple points of F_d , counted with multiplicities. As they were also able to show the existence of a sextic with 10 triple points, they could conclude that the maximum number of triple points on such a surface was known:

$$\mu_3(6) = 10.$$

The authors were not able to classify all sextics with 10 triple points; this classification was completed by one of them in [Ste03].

For degree $d \ge 8$, the best known upper bound for $\mu_3(d)$ is Wahl's generalization [Wah94] of Miyaoka's bound (section 3.10 on page 40) which the authors of [EPS03] also computed:

$$\mu_3(d) \le \frac{2}{27}d(d-1)^2, \quad d \ge 7.$$

For d = 7, Varchenko's bound is still better and computes to 17. The authors were not able to reach this bound, but they gave a one-parameter family of septics with 16 triple points, see fig. 4.5 on the following page.

In a recent article [Sta04], Stagnaro used again a variant of B. Segre's second construction (section 2.4) to get a surface of degree 9 with 39 triple points (upper bound: 42).

4.11. Barth's Surfaces with many Cusps

After having studied surfaces with many nodes in the early 1990's, Barth started to look at surfaces with many cusps (i.e. A_2 -singularities) in the late 1990's. His aim was not only to find lower bounds for the maximum number of cusps, but also



FIGURE 4.5. A Septic with 16 ordinary triple points.

to describe the codes connected to them: Similar to the code over \mathbb{F}_2 associated to an even set of nodes, one can construct a code over \mathbb{F}_3 to a three-divisible set of cusps.

Barth showed in [**Bar00b**] that a quartic in \mathbb{P}^3 cannot contain more than 8 cusps and he also gave explicit examples which proved the existence. As already mentioned, this also follows in an abstract way from Yang's computations, see section 4.8 on page 53. Barth's 8-cuspidal quartics were constructed as projections of 9-cuspidal sextic surfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 from one of their nine cusps. The one-parameter family $\operatorname{Bar}_4(k), k \neq \pm 1$, of quartics with 8 cusps is given by:

(4.23)
$$(1+k)^3 x_0^2 x_1^2 + 2k(1-k^2)x_0 x_1 x_2 x_3 - (1-k)^3 x_2^2 x_3^2 + (1-k^2)(x_0+x_1+x_2+x_3) \Big((1-k)x_2 x_3 (x_0+x_1) - (1+k)x_0 x_1 (x_2+x_3) \Big)$$

One of these quartics is shown in fig. 4.6.



FIGURE 4.6. Barth's quartic with eight cusps for k = 2.

In [**Bar00a**], Barth constructed another surface with many cusps: a quintic which is nicely connected to the Clebsch Diagonal Cubic (equation (1.5)). Similar to this surface, it is Σ_5 -symmetric and given by a hyperplane section of a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^4 :

$$(4.24) Bar_{15}: 5s_2s_3 - 12s_5 = 0, s_1 = 0,$$

where $s_k := \sum_{i=0}^{4} x_i^k$. Bar₁₅ has A_2 -singularities at the 15 points in the Σ_5 -orbit of (1:1:-1:-1:0) which shows: $\mu_{A_2}(5) \ge 15$. But this surface has many other interesting geometrical properties. E.g., its intersection with the Clebsch Diagonal Surface Cle₃ consists exactly of 15 lines joining the 15 singularities in pairs, see fig. 4.7 on the next page.



FIGURE 4.7. Barth's quintic with 15 cusps and the same surface together with the Clebsch Diagonal Cubic.

For further work on cuspidal surfaces of low degree and their codes, we refer to [Bar98, Tan03, BR01, BR04]. For a short overview on the results on curves, see section 2.5 on page 24.

4.12. Patchworking Singular Varieties

A topic that we did not touch so far for $d \ge 5$ is the general question which combinations of possibly different types of singularities can occur on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n .

One of the first results in this direction is contained in Greuel's, Lossen's and Shustin's joint article [**GLS98**]. They prove the existence of an $\alpha > 0$, s.t. a plane curve with prescribed singularities of topological types S_1, \ldots, S_k exists if $\mu(S_1) + \cdots + \mu(S_k) \leq \alpha d^2$. The coefficient α which occurred in this sufficient criterion was later improved by one of the authors [**Los99**].

Most known results on the existence of hypersurfaces in higher dimensions with possibly different prescribed topological types are mainly based on patchworking theorems by Shustin [Shu98, Shu00]. Some works using these methods are [Wes03, SW04]. Notice that these results are the best known ones in this generality, but when restricting to hypersurfaces with only one particular type of singularity then the other constructions presented in this survey give more singularities.

4.13. Hypersurfaces with high A_j -Singularities (j > d)

Most constructions for hypersurfaces with many higher singularities only work for degree d large enough. Most asymptotic behaviours considered in the previous sections were of the type: fix a type of singularity and ask how many of them can occur on hypersurfaces of degree d for $d \to \infty$. It is also natural to ask the other question: Which singularities can occur on a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n of a fixed degree d? As already mentioned, this has been answered completely for d = 3 (section 1.1) and d = 4 (section 4.8). To our knowledge, not much is known for degree $d \ge 5$.

In this section we want to give those few constructions known to us which give singularities f with high Milnor numbers $\mu(f)$, i.e., $\mu(f) > d$. As we could not find any reference in the literature to the corresponding upper bounds we also compute them here.

One Single Isolated Singularity. Consider the polynomials

(4.25)
$$f_{k,l}(x_1,\ldots,x_n) := (x_2 - x_1^k)^l + \cdots + (x_n - x_{n-1}^k)^l + s \cdot x_n^{lk}$$

| | | | | 7 | | | | | |
|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|
| $j \cdot \operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d), \ j \ge 2d - 1$ | 19 | 44 | 85 | 146 | 231 | 344 | 489 | 670 | 891 |

TABLE 4.1. Varchenko's upper bound for the maximum number of A_j -singularities on a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 of degree d as a function of j for fixed $d, j \geq 2d - 1$. They are all of the form $\frac{o_{d-1}}{j}$, where $o_d = \frac{1}{3}d(2d^2 + 1)$ are the so-called octahedral numbers.

of degree $l \cdot k$ with $s \in \mathbb{C}$ generic. Then it is easy to show that the hypersurface $f_{k,2}$ in \mathbb{P}^n has an A_{2k^n-1} -singularity at the origin. This is a well-known trick variants of which also exist for D_j -singularities (see e.g., [Wes03, p. 350]).

We already remarked that a quartic in \mathbb{P}^3 with an A_{19} -singularity exists, and that this is the highest possible A_j -singularity according to Varchenko's upper bound (see section 4.8 on Yang's list). Varchenko's bound is also exact for d = 3: the highest A_j -singularity is an A_5 -singularity in this case. So we may ask: Is Varchenko's bound exact for the maximum index j s.t. there exists an A_j -singularity on a surface of fixed degree d?

Globalizing the Equation. It is easy to globalize the local trick from the preceding section to to get surfaces with few A_j -singularities (i.e., j > d) in \mathbb{P}^3 . Of course, there are natural generalizations to higher dimensions and several variants which produce other numbers and types of singularities:

Let $k, l \in \mathbb{N}, k \geq l$. The surfaces

(4.26)
$$g_{k,l} := \left((y^l - 1) - (x^k - 1) \right)^2 + \left(z - (y^l - 1)^{\left(\left\lfloor \frac{k}{l} \right\rfloor \right)} \right)^2 + z^{2k}$$

of degree d = 2k have $k \cdot l$ singularities of type $A_{\frac{2k^2}{2k}-1}$.

Interpretation of Varchenko's Bound $\operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d)$ as Octahedral Numbers if $j \geq 2d - 1$. In the case j > d Varchenko's bound (section 3.7) is usually better than Miyaoka's (section 3.10). For fixed d, these upper bounds cannot be described by a polynomial, but by a rational function. We could not find a reference of Varchenko's bound for the number of A_j -singularities for fixed degree in the literature. So, let us compute it here using the concrete expression (3.19) which we gave on page 37. It turns out that equation (3.19) simplifies drastically if we reduce to the case $j \geq 2d - 1$. Indeed, if we write d = k(j + 1) + l as on page 37 then k = 0 and d = l. In this way, (3.19) reduces after some easy computations to:

(4.27)
$$\operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d) = \frac{1}{2j} \left((2 - 4d^2)C + (4d - 1)C^2 - C^3 \right) + \frac{2d}{3j}(d^2 - 1), \text{ if } j \ge 2d - 1,$$

where $C := \left\lfloor \frac{2 \cdot d \cdot j}{j+1} \right\rfloor$. But $C = \left\lfloor \frac{2 \cdot d \cdot j}{j+1} \right\rfloor = \left\lfloor 2d - \frac{2 \cdot d}{j+1} \right\rfloor = 2 \cdot d - 1$ if $j \ge 2 \cdot d - 1$. The previous formula thus collapses to:

(4.28)
$$\operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d) = \frac{1}{3j} \cdot \left((d-1) \cdot (2(d-1)^2 + 1) \right), \quad \text{if } j \ge 2d-1.$$

The first values of this bound are listed in table 4.1. When entering the numbers $j \cdot \operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d)$ in the Sloane's on-line encyclopedia of integer sequences [Slo, id: A005900] we learn that these are the so-called *octahedral numbers*. These numbers

are a three-dimensional variant of square numbers $sq_i := i^2$ (see fig. 4.8): just fill up the octahedron by layers of squares (see fig. 4.9). This computes to:

(4.29)
$$o_{d} = \sum_{i=1}^{d} sq_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{d-1} sq_{i} = \frac{1}{3}d(2d^{2} + 1).$$

FIGURE 4.8. The square numbers $sq_i = i^2$.



FIGURE 4.9. The octahedral numbers $o_d = \sum_{k=1}^d k^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{d-1} k^2$. Do surfaces of degree $d \ge 5$ with an $A_{o_{d-1}}$ -singularity exist?




Figure on the preceding pages: A 99-nodal septic, located within a four-parameter family of 63-nodal surfaces using the geometry of prime field experiments. See [Lab03a] for more images and movies of algebraic surfaces.

Part 2

New Constructions and Algorithms

INTRODUCTION

Introduction

We give new results related to two types of constructions: Chmutov's construction of nodal surfaces given by polynomials in separated variables (see section 4.1 on page 45) and dihedral-symmetric constructions based on Rohn's idea (see section 1.3 on page 16).

On Variants of Chmutov's Constructions. Our first new result (chapter 5 on page 67) is a variant of Chmutov's construction which gives many A_j singularities instead of nodes. Our proof of the existence of the hypersurfaces with many A_j -singularities is based on the theory of dessins d'enfants. In most cases, our construction leads to new lower bounds:

$$\mu_{A_j}(d) \gtrsim \frac{\mathbf{3j+2}}{\mathbf{6j(j+1)}}d^3, \quad j \ge 2.$$

Important ingredients of this construction are certain line arrangements in the plane which have many critical points with the same non-zero critical value. Using a relation to the theory of two-colorings of real line arrangements we are able to show that these arrangements are asymptotically the best possible ones (chapter 6 on page 79).

Using Computers to Study Special Cases. For special cases of low degree, it is usually possible to improve general results such as those presented in the two chapters mentioned in the previous section. The most recent new lower bounds for the maximum number of nodes on surfaces of a given degree were produced by starting with some k-parameter family of such surfaces and then using geometrical arguments to determine the parameters such that a new record was found.

But guessing such geometrical arguments requires a large amount of geometric intuition. And it turned out that the cases of odd degree $d = 7, 9, 11, \ldots$ are quite difficult to treat in that way. So, our idea was to find algorithms to locate interesting examples within the families. We present two essentially different methods: elimination and primary decomposition in characteristic zero (chapter 7), or experiments over prime fields and then lifting to characteristic zero (chapters 8 and 9). The latter allows us to construct a surface of degree 7 in \mathbb{P}^3 with 99 nodes (chapter 8) which is the first case of odd degree greater than five which exceeds Chmutov's general lower bound:

$99 \le \mu(7) \le 104.$

We then describe an algorithm which can be performed automatically by a computer (chapter 9). Our implementation as a SINGULAR library called SEARCH-INFAMILIES.LIB reduces the construction of a 99-nodal septic to a 10-minute-long computer algebra computation. Similarly, all records for smaller degrees $d \leq 6$ can be reproduced. When applying the algorithm to the case d = 9 we obtain a nonic with 226 nodes which is also a new lower bound:

$226 \le \mu(9) \le 246.$

Our algorithm is very general so that it can certainly be applied to many other concrete problems in algebraic geometry.



A quintic with 15 cusps which shows the idea of how to construct surfaces with many A_j -singularities using Dessins d'Enfants.

CHAPTER 5

Dessins d'Enfants and Surfaces with Many A_i -Singularities

The best known lower bounds for surfaces of large degree d with A_1 -singularities are given by Chmutov's construction (section 4.1). For higher A_j -singularities the best known constructions are still given by a direct generalization of Rohn's construction (section 1.3), $\mu_{A_j}(d) \geq \frac{1}{2}d(d-1)\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \rfloor$. For many degrees, one can also use Gallarati's already mentioned generalization of B. Segre's construction (section 2.5) which is usually better than Rohn's if it can be applied.

For singularities different from nodes, there exist only very few special constructions which exceed these general ones. The best known lower bounds in particular cases of low degree are given by Barth, see section 4.11: $\mu_{A_2}(4) = 8$, $15 \leq \mu_{A_2}(5) \leq 20$. In this chapter (see also [Lab05b]) we describe a variant of Chmutov's construction which leads to the lower bound (corollary 5.7 on page 73):

(5.1)
$$\mu_{A_j}(d) \gtrsim \frac{3\mathbf{j}+2}{\mathbf{6j}(\mathbf{j}+1)}d^3.$$

To our knowledge, this gives asymptotically the best known bounds for any $j \geq 2$. The construction reaches more than $\approx 75\%$ of the theoretical upper bound (see section 3.10 on page 40) in all cases. For quintics in \mathbb{P}^3 , we also get an example with 15 cusps, so the gap of 5 more possible cusps remains.

Table 5.1 on the following page gives an overview of our results for low j, see also corollaries 5.7 and 5.8. We describe a generalization of our construction to higher dimensions in section 5.6 on page 74. This leads to new lower bounds even in the case of nodal hypersurfaces.

5.1. Chmutov's Idea

We start with some notation: A point $z_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ is a critical point of multiplicity $j \in \mathbb{N}$ of a polynomial $g \in \mathbb{C}[z]$ in one variable if the first j derivatives of g vanish at z_0 : $g^{(1)}(z_0) = \cdots = g^{(j)}(z_0) = 0$. The number $g(z_0)$ is called the critical value of z_0 . A critical point of multiplicity j, j > 1, is called a *degenerate* critical point. Recall from section 4.1 on page 45 that Chmutov used the following idea to construct surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with many nodes:

- Let $P_d(x, y) \in \mathbb{C}[x, y]$ be a polynomial of degree d with few different critical values, all of which are non-degenerate. By a coordinate change, we may assume that the two critical values which occur most often are 0 and -1. We assume that they occur $\nu(0)$ and $\nu(-1)$ times, and that $\nu(0) > \nu(-1)$.
- Let $T_d(z) \in \mathbb{R}[z]$ be the Tchebychev polynomial of degree d with critical values -1 and +1, where -1 occurs $\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ times and +1 occurs $\lfloor \frac{d-1}{2} \rfloor$ times.

| jd | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----|---------------|--|-----------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|---|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| 1 | $\frac{4}{4}$ | $\underbrace{\overset{16}{\overbrace{16}}}_{16}$ | 31 31 | 65 65 | 93 104 | 168 174 | $\underbrace{\overset{216}{\overbrace{246}}}_{246}$ | 345 360 | 425 480 | 600 645 | $\approx \underbrace{{}^{5/12}_{4/9}} \cdot d^3$ |
| 2 | 3/3 | 8/8 | $\overbrace{20}^{15}$ | 36 37 | 52 62 | 70 98 | 126 144 | 159 202 | 225 275 | 300 363 | $\approx \frac{2/9}{1/4} \cdot d^3$ |
| 3 | $\frac{1}{1}$ | $\frac{6}{6}$ | $\overbrace{}^{10}$ | $\overbrace{26}^{15}$ | 31 44 | $\overbrace{69}^{64}$ | 72 102 | 114 144 | 140 195 | 198 258 | $\approx \frac{11/72}{8/45} \cdot d^3$ |
| 4 | $\frac{1}{1}$ | 4 | 10/11 | $\underbrace{\overset{15}{}}_{20}$ | $21 \\ 35$ | 32 54 | 54 80 | 100 | 110 152 | 132 201 | $\approx \frac{7/60}{5/36} \cdot d^3$ |

TABLE 5.1. Known upper and lower bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_j}(d)$ of singularities of type A_j , j = 1, 2, 3, 4, on a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 . For $j \geq 2$ and $d \geq 5$, the lower bounds are attained by our examples or by Gallarati's generalization of B. Segre's idea (section 2.5 on page 24).

• It is easy to see that the projective surface given by the affine equation

(5.2)
$$P_d(x,y) + \frac{1}{2}(T_d(z)+1) = 0$$

has $\nu(0) \cdot \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor + \nu(-1) \cdot \lfloor \frac{d-1}{2} \rfloor$ nodes.

Chmutov uses for $P_d(x, y)$ the folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}$ associated to the root system A_2 defined in (4.2). In the case of degree 5 the best polynomial for this purpose is a regular fivegon $R_5(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}[x, y]$ with the critical value 1 at the origin and with the critical value -1 at the other non-singular critical points. The construction above then gives 30 nodes, see fig. 5.1.



FIGURE 5.1. A variant of Givental's and Chmutov's construction: A regular 5-gon $R_5(x, y)$, the Tchebychev polynomial $T_5(z)$ and the surface $R_5(x, y) + \frac{1}{2}(T_5(z) + 1)$ with $10 \cdot 2 + 5 \cdot 2 = 30$ nodes.

5.2. Adaption to Higher Singularities

To adapt Chmutov's construction (5.2) to higher singularities of type A_j , we replace the polynomials $T_d(z)$ by polynomials with degenerate critical points.

For the construction of a quintic surface with many cusps, we thus take again the regular 5-gon $R_5(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}[x, y]$ together with a polynomial $T_5^2(z) \in \mathbb{R}[z]$ of degree 5 with the maximum number of critical points of multiplicity two. As the derivative of such a polynomial has degree 4, the maximum number of such critical



FIGURE 5.2. The construction of a quintic with 15 cusps.

points is $\frac{4}{2} = 2$, see fig. 5.2. The critical values of these two critical points have to be different because a horizontal line through both critical points would intersect the curve in six points counted with multiplicities. Similar to the situation for nodes in (5.2) the surface $R_5(x, y) + \frac{1}{2}(T_5^2(z) + 1)$ has $10 \cdot 1 + 5 \cdot 1 = 15$ singularities of type A_2 .

We take surfaces in separated variables defined by polynomials of the form:

(5.3)
$$\operatorname{Chm}(G_d^j) := F_d^{A_2} + G_d^j,$$

where $F_d^{A_2}(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}[x, y]$ is the folding polynomial defined in (4.2) and where $G_d^j(z) \in \mathbb{C}[z]$ is a polynomial of degree d with many critical points of multiplicity j with critical values -1 and +1. E.g., for j = 1, the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials $G_d^1(z) := T_d(z)$ yield Chmutov's surfaces with many nodes. In the following sections, we discuss two generalizations of the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials to polynomials with critical points of higher multiplicity which give surfaces of degree d with many A_j -singularities, j < d.

5.3. *j*-Belyi Polynomials via Dessins d'Enfants

The existence of polynomials in one variable with only two different critical values with prescribed multiplicities of the critical points can be established using ideas of Hurwitz [Hur91] based on Riemann's Existence Theorem. The interest in this subject was renewed by Grothendieck's *Esquisse d'un programme* (see [SL97a, SL97b]). Nowadays, it is commonly known under the name of *Dessins d'Enfants*. We will use the following proposition / definition which is basically taken from [AZ98]:

PROPOSITION / DEFINITION 5.1.

- (1) A tree (i.e. a graph without cycles) with a prescribed cyclic order of the edges adjacent to each vertex is called a plane tree. A plane tree has a natural bicoloring of the vertices (black/white). If we fix the color of one vertex, then this bicoloring is unique.
- (2) A polynomial in one variable with not more than two different critical values is called a **Belyi polynomial**.
- (3) For a given Belyi polynomial p: C → C with critical values c₁ and c₂, we define the plane tree PT(p) associated to p to be the inverse image p⁻¹([c₁, c₂]) of the interval [c₁, c₂], where p⁻¹(c₁) are the black vertices, and p⁻¹(c₂) are the white vertices of the tree (see fig. 5.3 on the following page).



FIGURE 5.3. The ordinary Tchebychev polynomial T_5 with two critical points with critical value -1 and two with critical value +1. The right picture shows its plane tree $PT(T_5)$. A vertex with two adjacent edges corresponds to a critical point with multiplicity 1, a vertex with one adjacent edge corresponds to a non-critical point.

(4) For any plane tree, there exists a Belyi polynomial whose critical points have the multiplicities given by the number of edges adjacent to the vertices minus one and vice verca.

We will need the following two trivial bounds concerning critical points:

LEMMA 5.2. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $g \in \mathbb{C}[z]$ be a polynomial of degree d in one variable with only isolated critical points. Then:

- (1) The total number of different critical points of g of multiplicity j does not exceed $\lfloor \frac{d-1}{i} \rfloor$.
- (2) The number of different critical points of g of multiplicity j with the same critical value does not exceed $\lfloor \frac{d}{i+1} \rfloor$.

We give a special name to polynomials reaching the first of these bounds:

DEFINITION 5.1. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ and let p be a Belyi polynomial of degree d. We call p a j-Belyi polynomial if p has the maximum possible number $\lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \rfloor$ of critical points of multiplicity j.

EXAMPLE 5.1. The ordinary Tchebychev polynomials $T_d^1(z) := T_d(z)$ are 1-Belyi polynomials. $T_5^2(z)$ in fig. 5.2 on the previous page is a 2-Belyi Polynomial. \Box

A special type of *j*-Belyi polynomials are those of degree j + 1. We will join several plane trees corresponding to such *j*-Belyi polynomials of degree j+1 to form larger plane trees in the following sections:

DEFINITION 5.2. We call the plane tree corresponding to a *j*-Belyi polynomial of degree j + 1 a *j*-star. If the center of this tree is a black (resp. white) vertex we call it a \bullet - (resp. \circ -) centered *j*-star (see fig. 5.4 on the facing page).

5.4. The Polynomials $T_d^j(z)$

A natural generalization of the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials to polynomials $G_d^j(z)$ with degenerate critical points that can be used in the construction of equation (5.3) on page 69 comes from the following intuitive idea: Take polynomials which look similar to the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials (fig. 5.3), but which have higher vanishing derivatives such that they are *j*-Belyi polynomials.

70



FIGURE 5.4. The polynomial $T_{j+1}^{j}(z)$ with exactly one critical point $z_0 = 0$ of multiplicity j and critical value -1 together with the corresponding \bullet -centered j-star.

EXAMPLE 5.2. A 3-Belyi polynomial of degree 13 has $\lfloor \frac{13-1}{3} \rfloor = 4$ critical points of multiplicity 3. The polynomial T_{13}^3 has two critical points with critical value -1 and two with critical value +1. The plane tree showing the existence of such a polynomial consists of four connected 3-stars. To show the similarity to the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials we draw them in fig. 5.5 as four bouquets of 1-stars attached to the plane tree in fig. 5.3 on the preceding page. A straightforward SINGULAR [GPS01] script to compute the equation of $T_{13}^3(z)$ can be found on the website [Lab03a].



FIGURE 5.5. The bicolored plane tree $PT(T_d^j)$ for the polynomial $T_d^j(z)$ for j = 3, d = 13, $k := \frac{d-1}{j} = 4$. It consists of k connected j-stars. Here, we line them up to show the similarity to the ordinary Tchebychev polynomials in fig. 5.3 on the facing page. See **[Lab03a]** for a SINGULAR **[GPS01]** script to compute the equation of $T_{13}^3(z)$.

THEOREM/DEFINITION 5.3. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with d > j. There exists a polynomial $\mathbf{T}_{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{z})$ of degree d with $\lceil \frac{1}{2} \lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \rfloor \rceil$ critical points of multiplicity j with critical value -1 and $\lfloor \frac{1}{2} \lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \rfloor \rfloor$ such critical points with critical value +1.

PROOF. The corresponding plane tree $PT(T_d^j)$ can be defined as follows (compare fig. 5.5). For $d = k \cdot (j + 1)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we take k connected j-stars. Fixing the center of the first j-star to be white, the plane tree has a unique bicoloring. If $d = l + k \cdot (j + 1)$ for some $1 \le l \le j$, we attach another *l*-star to get a polynomial of degree d.

Although there is an explicit recursive construction of ordinary Tchebychev polynomials and their generalizations to higher dimensions (the folding polynomials, see [Wit88]), we do not know a similar explicit construction of the polynomials

 $T_d^j(z)$ for $j \ge 2$. To our knowledge, they can only be computed for low degree d until now, e.g. using Groebner Basis. When plugged into the construction (5.3) on page 69 the existence of the polynomials T_d^j immediately implies:

COROLLARY 5.4. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with d > j. There exist surfaces

$$\operatorname{Chm}(T_d^j) := F_d^{A_2} + \frac{1}{2}(T_d^j + 1)$$

of degree d with the following number of singularities of type A_i :

$$\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)\cdot\left\lceil\frac{1}{2}\lfloor\frac{d-1}{j}\rfloor\right\rceil + \frac{1}{3}d(d-3)\cdot\left\lfloor\frac{1}{2}\lfloor\frac{d-1}{j}\rfloor\right\rfloor, \quad \text{if } d \equiv 0 \mod 3,$$

$$\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)\cdot\left\lceil\frac{1}{2}\lfloor\frac{d-1}{j}\rfloor\right\rceil + \frac{1}{3}(d(d-3)+2)\cdot\left\lfloor\frac{1}{2}\lfloor\frac{d-1}{j}\rfloor\right\rfloor, \quad \text{otherwise.} \qquad \Box$$

5.5. The Polynomials $M_d^j(z)$

The *j*-Belyi polynomials $T_d^j(z)$ described in the previous section reach the first bound of lemma 5.2 on page 70. The *j*-Belyi polynomials $M_d^j(z)$ whose existence will be shown in this section also achieve the second bound of this lemma. We start with two examples:

EXAMPLE 5.3. The 2-Belyi polynomial $T_9^2(z)$ is the example of the smallest degree from the previous section that does not reach the second bound of lemma 5.2. The plane tree $PT(M_9^2(z))$ in fig. 5.6 shows the existence of a 2-Belyi polynomial of degree 9 that achieves this bound.

As in the case of the polynomials $T_d^j(z)$, it is possible to compute the polynomials $M_d^j(z)$ explicitly for low j and d. For our case j = 2, d = 9 we denote by u the unique critical point with critical value +1 and by b_0, b_1, b_2 the three critical points with critical value -1. When requiring $b_2 = 0$ (i.e., $M_9^2(0) = -1$), $M_9^2(z)$ has the derivative

$$\frac{\partial M_9^2}{\partial z}(z) = (z - b_0)^2 \cdot (z - b_1)^2 \cdot z^2 \cdot (z - u)^2.$$

Using SINGULAR [**GPS01**], we find: $u^9 = 18$ and b_0 and b_1 are the two distinct roots of $z^2 - 3uz + 3u^2 = 0$. Notice that $b_0, b_1 \notin \mathbb{R}$ even if we take $u \in \mathbb{R}$. \Box



FIGURE 5.6. To obtain $PT(M_9^2)$ from the 2-star $PT(M_3^2) = PT(T_3^2)$, we attach two \bullet -centered 2-stars to one of the \circ -vertices (marked by the grey background). The corresponding polynomial $M_9^2(z)$ has thus 3 critical points of multiplicity 2 with critical value -1 (the 3 \bullet -centered 2-stars) and 1 such point with critical value +1 (the only \circ -centered 2-star). M_{15}^2 has five and two, respectively.

EXAMPLE 5.4. If $d \neq k \cdot (j+1)$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the construction of a plane tree corresponding to a polynomial reaching both bounds of lemma 5.2 is a little more delicate than in the previous example. The cases $PT(M_{11}^2)$ and $PT(M_{12}^2)$ in fig. 5.7 illustrate this.



FIGURE 5.7. M_{11}^2 and M_{12}^2 have the same number of critical points of multiplicity j. M_{12}^2 has five ones with critical value -1 and only one critical point with critical value +1. M_{11}^2 has three critical points with critical value -1 and two with critical value +1.

THEOREM/DEFINITION 5.5. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with d > j. There exists a polynomial $\mathbf{M}_{\mathbf{d}}^{\mathbf{j}}(\mathbf{z})$ of degree d with $\left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor$ critical points of multiplicity j with critical value -1 and $\left(\left\lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \right\rfloor - \left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor \right)$ such critical points with critical value +1.

PROOF. The existence of a corresponding plane tree $PT(M_d^j)$ can be shown as follows (compare fig. 5.6 on the preceding page). For d = j + 1 we define $PT(M_d^j)$ as a \bullet -centered *j*-star. For $d = (j + 1) + k \cdot j \cdot (j + 1)$, $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we attach successively sets of *j* \bullet -centered *j*-stars as illustrated in figure 5.6. If $d \neq (j + 1) + k \cdot j \cdot (j + 1)$ for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ the existence of plane trees $PT(M_d^j)$ can be shown similarly (see fig. 5.7).

The existence of the polynomials $M_d^j(z)$ has two immediate consequences:

COROLLARY 5.6. The bounds in lemma 5.2 on page 70 are sharp.

It is clear that the polynomials M_d^j cannot have only real coefficients and only real critical points for d large enough. So, the same holds for the singularities of the surfaces of the following corollary:

COROLLARY 5.7. Let $d, j \in \mathbb{N}$ with d > j. There exist surfaces

$$\operatorname{Chm}(M_d^{\mathfrak{I}}) := F_d^{A_2} + M_d^{\mathfrak{I}}$$

of degree d with the following number of singularities of type A_i :

$$\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)\cdot \left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor + \frac{1}{3}d(d-3)\cdot \left(\left\lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \right\rfloor - \left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor \right), \quad \text{if } d \equiv 0 \mod 3,$$
$$\frac{1}{2}d(d-1)\cdot \left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor + \frac{1}{3}(d(d-3)+2)\cdot \left(\left\lfloor \frac{d-1}{j} \right\rfloor - \left\lfloor \frac{d}{j+1} \right\rfloor \right), \quad \text{otherwise.} \qquad \Box$$

5. DESSINS D'ENFANTS AND SURFACES WITH MANY A_j -SINGULARITIES

To get an idea of the quality of our best lower bounds given by our examples $\operatorname{Chm}(M_d^j)$ from corollary 5.7 on the preceding page we compare them with the best known upper bounds: Varchenko's spectral bound (section 3.7 on page 35) and Miyaoka's bound (section 3.10 on page 40). It is well-known that the latter is better for large d. Together with the previous corollary we get:

COROLLARY 5.8. Let $j \in \mathbb{N}$. For large degree d, the quotient of the number of A_j -singularities on our surfaces $\operatorname{Chm}(M_d^j)$ and the best known upper bound $\operatorname{Miy}_{A_i}(d)$ is:

$$\frac{\mu_{A_j}(\operatorname{Chm}(M_d^j))}{\operatorname{Miy}_{A_j}(d)} \approx \frac{(j+2)(3j+2)}{4(j+1)^2}.$$

This quotient is greater than $\frac{3}{4}$ for all $j \ge 1$, the limit for $j \to \infty$ is also $\frac{3}{4}$.

5.6. Generalization to Higher Dimensions

It is possible to generalize the construction of surfaces with many A_j -singularities described in the previous sections to \mathbb{P}^n , $n \geq 4$. It turns out that for $n \geq 5$, the folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ are no longer the best choice: Even for nodal hypersurfaces, the folding polynomials $F_d^{B_2}(x, y)$ lead to better lower bounds.

5.6.1. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n , $n \ge 4$. In section 4.1 on page 45 we explained how Chmutov idea to use the folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ associated to the root system A_2 can be generalized to obtain nodal hypersurfaces in higher dimensions. We can improve the asymptotic behaviour of the lower bound slightly by using a folding polynomial associated to another root system. Such polynomials were described in [Wit88], and their critical points were studied in [Bre05] analogous to the case of A_2 treated by Chmutov in [Chm92] (see also section 4.1). It turns out that the folding polynomials $F_d^{B_2}(x, y)$ associated to the root system B_2 are best suited for our purposes. They can be defined recursively as follows:

(5.4)
$$F_0^{B_2} := 1, \qquad F_1^{B_2} := \frac{1}{4}y, \qquad F_2^{B_2} := \frac{1}{4}y^2 - \frac{1}{2}(x^2 - 2y - 4) - 1, F_3^{B_2} := \frac{1}{4}y^3 - \frac{3}{4}y(x^2 - 2y - 4) - \frac{3}{4}y, F_d^{B_2} := y\left(F_{d-1}^{B_2} + F_{d-3}^{B_2}\right) - \left(2 + (x^2 - 2y - 4)\right)F_{d-2}^{B_2} - F_{d-4}^{B_2}.$$

These polynomials have exactly three different critical values: -1, 0, +1. The numbers of critical points of $F_d^{B_2}$ are: $\binom{d}{2}$ with critical value 0, $\lfloor \frac{(d-1)}{2} \rfloor \lfloor \frac{d}{2} \rfloor$ with critical value -1. The use of these polynomials improves the asymptotic behaviour (for d large) of the best known lower bound for the maximum number of nodes only slightly. This is given by Chmutov's surfaces TChm_d^n which are defined as a sum of Tchebychev polynomials (see section 3.8 on page 38). In fact, the coefficient of the highest order term of the polynomial describing its number of nodes does not change (see table 5.2 on the next page). Nevertheless, we want to mention:

Proposition 5.9. Let $n \ge 2$, $d \ge 3$. Then: $\mu(\operatorname{Chm}^n(F_d^{B_2})) > \mu(\operatorname{TChm}^n_d)$.

It is not true that the folding polynomials $F_d^{A_2}$ and $F_d^{B_2}$ are the best possible choices in all cases. Indeed, for d = 5, a regular five-gon leads to more nodes. For d = 3, 4 there are better constructions for nodal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n known. In fact, Kalker (section 3.11) already noticed that Varchenko's upper bound is exact

| n | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 |
|---|-------------------|-----------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|------------------|
| $\tfrac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^n(F_d^{A_2})) \approx$ | $\frac{5}{12}$ | $\frac{7}{18}$ | $\frac{7}{24}$ | $\frac{19}{72}$ | $\frac{35}{144}$ | $\frac{49}{216}$ | $\frac{79}{432}$ | $\frac{25}{144}$ |
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^n(F_d^{B_2})) \approx \frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{TChm}^n_d) \approx$ | $\frac{3}{2^{3}}$ | $\frac{3}{2^3}$ | $\frac{5}{2^4}$ | $\frac{5}{2^4}$ | $\frac{35}{2^7}$ | $\frac{35}{2^7}$ | $\frac{63}{2^8}$ | $\frac{63}{2^8}$ |

TABLE 5.2. The asymptotic behaviour of the number of nodes on variants of Chmutov's hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n . As Chmutov already realized in [Chm92], the $\operatorname{Chm}^n(F_d^{A_2})$ are only better for n = 3, 4. For $n \geq 5$, the best lower bounds are given by our variant $\operatorname{Chm}^n(F_d^{B_2})$ which improves Chmutov's oldest examples TChm_d^n slightly.

for d = 3. Goryunov rediscovered the same cubics by another method and also found quartics with many nodes in \mathbb{P}^n (see section 4.4).

5.6.2. Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n with A_j -Singularities, $j \geq 2, n \geq 4$. Similar to the case of surfaces which we discussed in the preceding sections, we can adapt the equations for the nodal hypersurfaces to get hypersurfaces $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2})$ (or $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{A_2})$, $\operatorname{TChm}_d^{j,n}$) with many A_j -singularities:

(5.5)
$$\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2}) : \sum_{i=0}^{\lfloor \frac{n-3}{2} \rfloor} F_d^{B_2}(x_{2i}, x_{2i+1}) = \begin{cases} T_d(x_{n-2}) + M_d^j(x_{n-1}), n \text{ even} \\ -\frac{1}{2}(M_d^j(x_{n-1}) + 1), n \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$

| This leads to the asymptotic behaviour | r given in table 5.3. |
|--|-----------------------|
| | |

| n | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |
|--|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|---------------------------|----------------------------|
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu_{A_2}^n(d) \gtrsim$ | $\frac{2}{9}$ | $\frac{13}{72}$ | $\frac{1}{6}$ | $\frac{13}{96}$ | $\frac{55}{384}$ | $\frac{15}{128}$ |
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu^n_{A_3}(d) \gtrsim$ | $\frac{11}{72}$ | $\frac{1}{8}$ | $\frac{11}{96}$ | $\frac{3}{32}$ | $\frac{25}{256}$ | $\frac{125}{1536}$ |
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu^n_{A_4}(d) \gtrapprox$ | $\frac{7}{60}$ | $\frac{23}{240}$ | $\frac{7}{80}$ | $\frac{23}{320}$ | $\frac{19}{256}$ | $\frac{1}{16}$ |
| $\boxed{\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{A_2})) \approx}$ | $\frac{3j+2}{6j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{5j+3}{12j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{7j+3}{18j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{7j+4}{24j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{19j+16}{72j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{35j+19}{144j(j+1)}$ |
| $\boxed{\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2})) \approx}$ | $\tfrac{2j+1}{4j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{3j+2}{8j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{3j+2}{8j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{5j+3}{16j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{20j+15}{64j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{35j+20}{128j(j+1)}$ |

TABLE 5.3. The asymptotic behaviour of the number of A_{j} -singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^{n} . $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_{d}^{B_{2}})$ is better than $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_{d}^{A_{2}})$ for $n \geq 6$.

Notice that we usually get fewer singularities if we add a sign $(-1)^i$ in the sum in contrast to equation (4.7) where the alternating sign is often better because the folding polynomial $F_d^{A_2}$ has other critical values than $F_d^{B_2}$.

Of course, for small d, n, j, it is often easy to write down better lower bounds. E.g., if n is even and d is small, it is often better to replace $T_d(x_{n-2}) + M_d^j(x_{n-1})$ by a plane curve with the maximum known number of cusps. For some specific values of $d, j \geq 2, n \geq 4$ there are even better lower bounds known. E.g., we already

76 5. DESSINS D'ENFANTS AND SURFACES WITH MANY A_j -SINGULARITIES

mentioned in section 1.5.3 that Lefschetz constructed a cubic hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^4 with 5 cusps which is the maximum possible number.

For n = 2, our construction presented in subsection 5.6.2 on the previous page only leads to plane curves of degree d with $\approx \frac{1}{4} \cdot d^2$ cusps whereas the generalization of B. Segre's construction (equation (2.12) gives $\approx \frac{9}{32} \cdot d^2$ such singularities when starting with a smooth conic.



Breske's 216-nodal real variant of Chmutov's nonic.

CHAPTER 6

Real Line Arrangements and Surfaces with Many Real Nodes

We make a short excursus to the world of real algebraic geometry (see also $[\mathbf{BLvS05}]$). More precisely, we consider the relationship between the maximum possible number $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ of nodes on a surface of degree d and the maximum possible number $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ of real nodes on a real surface in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$. Obviously, $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) \leq \mu_{A_1}(d)$, but do we even have $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) = \mu_{A_1}(d)$? In other words: Can the maximum number of nodes be achieved with real surfaces with real singularities?

The previous question arises naturally because all results in low degree $d \leq 12$ suggest that it could be true (see chapter 4 on page 45 and table 6.1). In contrast to this, until very recently, the best known asymptotic lower bound, $\mu_{A_1}(d) \gtrsim \frac{5}{12}d^3$, was only reached by Chmutov's construction (section 4.1 on page 45) which yields singularities with non-real coordinates. But during the writing of Breske's diploma thesis [**Bre05**] under the direction of van Straten it turned out that the folding polynomials used by Chmutov can be adapted to have real critical points. Of course, these give rise to variants of Chmutov's surfaces with only real nodes. In this chapter, we briefly explain how this can be done. See table 6.1 on the following page for the lower bounds for $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ resulting from this. In the real case we can distinguish between two types of A_1 -singularities, conical nodes $(x^2 + y^2 - z^2 = 0)$ and solitary points $(x^2 + y^2 + z^2 = 0)$: Breske's construction produces only conical nodes.

Notice that in general there are no better real upper bounds for $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ known than the well-known complex ones of Miyaoka (section 3.10) and Varchenko (section 3.7). But for solitary points there exist better bounds via the relation to the zeroth Betti number (see e.g., [**Kha96**]). E.g., Rohn showed in 1913 that a real quartic surface in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ cannot have more than 10 solitary points although it can have 16 conical nodes. We show a real upper bound of $\approx \frac{5}{6}d^2$ for the maximum number of critical points on two levels of real simple line arrangements consisting of *d* lines. In [**Chm95**], Chmutov conjectured this to be the maximum number for all complex plane curves of degree *d*. He also noticed [**Chm92**] that such a bound directly implies an upper bound for the number of real nodes of certain surfaces. Our upper bound shows that Breske's folding polynomials are asymptotically the best possible real line arrangements for this purpose.

6.1. Variants of Chmutov's Surfaces with Many Real Nodes

In this section, we briefly describe how Breske adapted Chmutov's construction to get surfaces with many real nodes. Recall that the $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ have critical points with only three different critical values: 0, -1, and 8 (see section 4.1 on page 45). Thus, the surface $\operatorname{Chm}_d^{A_2}(x, y, z)$ is singular exactly at those points at which the

| | | | | | | | | | | | 11 | | | d |
|----------------------------------|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|----------------------------------|
| $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) \leq$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | 832 | $\frac{4}{9}d(d-1)^2$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) \geq$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 99 | 168 | 216 | 345 | 425 | 600 | 732 | $pprox rac{5}{12} \mathrm{d}^3$ |

TABLE 6.1. Except for d = 9, the currently known bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ (resp. $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$) of nodes on a surface of degree d in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ (resp. $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$) are equal. The bold numbers indicate in which cases Breske's variants of Chmutov's surfaces improve the previously known lower bound for $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$.

critical values of $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ and $\frac{1}{2}(T_d(z) + 1)$ sum up to zero (i.e., either both are 0 or the first is -1 and the second is +1).

Notice that the plane curve defined by $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ consists in fact of d lines. But these are not real lines and the critical points of this folding polynomial also have non-real coordinates. It is natural to ask whether there is a real line arrangement which leads to the same number of critical points. In her Diploma thesis, Breske computed the critical points of the other folding polynomials. Among these, there are the following examples which are the real line arrangements we have been looking for (see [**Bre05**, p. 87–89]):

We define the real folding polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y) \in \mathbb{R}[x,y]$ associated to the root system A_2 as $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y) := F_d^{A_2}(x+iy, x-iy)$, where *i* is the imaginary number. It is easy to see that the $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ have indeed real coefficients. The numbers of critical points are the same as those of $F_d^{A_2}(x,y)$; but now they have real coordinates as the following lemma shows:

LEMMA 6.1 (see [**Bre05**]). The real folding polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ associated to the root system A_2 has $\binom{d}{2}$ real critical points with critical value 0 and

(6.1)
$$\frac{1}{3}d^2 - d$$
, if $d \equiv 0 \mod 3$, $\frac{1}{3}d^2 - d + \frac{2}{3}$, otherwise

real critical points with critical value -1. The other critical points also have real coordinates and have critical value 8.

PROOF. We proceed similar to the case discussed by Chmutov, see [**Bre05**, p. 87–95] for details. To calculate the critical points of the real folding polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}$, we use the map $h^1: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$, defined by

$$(u,v) \mapsto \left(\cos(2\pi(u+v)) + \cos(2\pi u) + \cos(2\pi v), \sin(2\pi(u+v)) - \sin(2\pi u) - \sin(2\pi v)\right)$$

This is in fact just the real and imaginary part of the first component of the generalized cosine h considered by Withers [**Wit88**] and Chmutov [**Chm92**]. It is easy to see that h^1 is a coordinate change if u - v > 0, u + 2v > 0, and 2u + v < 1. It transforms the polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}$ into the function $G_d^{A_2}$: $\mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$, defined by

$$G_d^{A_2}(u,v) := F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(h^1(u,v)) = 2\cos(2\pi du) + 2\cos(2\pi dv) + 2\cos(2\pi d(u+v)) + 2.$$

The calculation of the critical points of $G_d^{A_2}$ is exactly the same as the one performed in **[Chm92]**. As the function $G_d^{A_2}$ has $(d-1)^2$ distinct real critical points in the region defined by u - v > 0, u + 2v > 0, and 2u + v < 1, the images of these points under the map h^1 are all the critical points of the real folding polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}$ of degree d. In contrast to Chmutov, we here get real critical points because h^1 is a map from \mathbb{R}^2 into itself.

None of the other root systems yield more critical points on two levels. But as mentioned in section 5.6 on page 74, the real folding polynomials associated to the root system B_2 give hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n , $n \ge 5$, which improve the previously known lower bounds for the maximum number of nodes in higher dimensions slightly ([**Bre05**] gives a detailed discussion of all these folding polynomials and their critical points).



FIGURE 6.1. For degree d = 9 we show the Tchebychev polynomial $T_9(z)$, the real folding polynomial $F_{\mathbb{R},9}^{A_2}(x,y)$ associated to the root system A_2 , and the surface $\operatorname{Chm}_{\mathbb{R},9}^{A_2}(x,y,z)$. The bounded regions in which $F_{\mathbb{R},9}^{A_2}(x,y)$ takes negative values are marked in black.

The lemma immediately gives the following variant of Chmutov's surfaces:

THEOREM 6.2 (see [Bre05]). Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$. The real projective surface of degree d defined by

(6.2)
$$\operatorname{Chm}_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y,z) := F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y) + \frac{1}{2}(T_d(z)+1) \in \mathbb{R}[x,y,z]$$

has the following number of real nodes:

(6.3)
$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 13d^2 + 12d \right), & \text{if } d \equiv 0 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 13d^2 + 16d - 8 \right), & \text{if } d \equiv 2, 4 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 14d^2 + 13d - 4 \right), & \text{if } d \equiv 1, 5 \mod 6, \\ \frac{1}{12} \left(5d^3 - 14d^2 + 9d \right), & \text{if } d \equiv 3 \mod 6. \end{aligned}$$

These numbers are the same as the numbers of complex nodes of Chmutov's surfaces $\operatorname{Chm}_d^{A_2}(x, y, z)$. To our knowledge, the result gives new lower bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ of real singularities on a surface of degree d in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ for d = 9, 11 and $d \geq 13$, see table 6.1 on the preceding page. Notice that all best known lower bounds for $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ are attained by surfaces with only conical nodes which is not astonishing in view of the upper bounds for solitary points mentioned in the introduction.

6.2. On Two-Colorings of Real Simple Line Arrangements

The real folding polynomials $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ used in the previous section are in fact real simple (straight) line arrangements in \mathbb{R}^2 , i.e., lines no three of which meet in a point. Such arrangements can be 2-colored in a natural way (see fig. 6.1): We

label in black those connected components (*cells*) of $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)=0\}$ in which $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ takes negative values, the others in white. The bounded black regions in fig. 6.1 contain exactly one critical point with critical value -1 each.

Harborth has shown in [Har81] that the maximum number $M_b(d)$ of black cells in such real simple line arrangements of d lines satisfies:

(6.4)
$$M_b(d) \le \begin{cases} \frac{1}{3}d^2 + \frac{1}{3}d, & d \text{ odd,} \\ \frac{1}{3}d^2 + \frac{1}{6}d, & d \text{ even.} \end{cases}$$

d of these cells are unbounded. This is a purely combinatorial result which is strongly related to the problem of determining the maximum number of triangles in such arrangements which has a long and rich history (see [GO04]). Notice that this bound is better than the one obtained by Kharlamov using Hodge theory [Kha05]. It is known that the bound (6.4) is exact for infinitely many values of d. The real folding polynomials $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ almost achieve this bound. Moreover, these arrangements have the very special property that all critical points with a negative (resp. positive) critical value have the same critical value -1 (resp. +8).

To translate the upper bound on the number of black cells into an upper bound on critical points we use the following lemma:

LEMMA 6.3 (see Lemme 10, 11 in [**OR03**]). Let f be a real simple line arrangement consisting of $d \ge 3$ lines. f has exactly $\binom{d-1}{2}$ bounded open cells each of which contains exactly one critical point. All the critical points of f are non-degenerate.

It is easy to prove the lemma, e.g. by counting the number of bounded cells and by observing that each such cell contains at least one critical point. Comparing this with the number $(d-1)^2 - {d \choose 2} = {d-1 \choose 2}$ of all non-zero critical points gives the result. Now we can show that our real line arrangements are asymptotically the best possible ones for constructing surfaces with many singularities:

THEOREM 6.4. The maximum number of critical points with the same non-zero critical value $0 \neq v \in \mathbb{R}$ of a real simple line arrangement is bounded by $M_b(d) - d$, where d is the number of lines. In particular, the maximum number of critical points on two levels of such an arrangement does not exceed $\binom{d}{2} + M_b(d) - d \approx \frac{5}{6}d^2$.

PROOF. In view of the upper bound (6.4) for the maximum number $M_b(d)$ of black cells of a real simple line arrangement we only have to verify that any bounded cell contains only one critical point. But this follows from the preceding lemma. \Box

Chmutov showed a much more general result ([Chm84], see [Chm95] for the case of non-degenerate critical points): For a plane curve of degree d the maximum number of critical points on two levels does not exceed $\approx \frac{7}{8}d^2$. In [Chm95], he conjectured $\approx \frac{5}{6}d^2$ to be the actual maximum which is attained by the complex line arrangements $F_d^{A_2}(x, y)$ he used for his construction (and also by the real line arrangements $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x, y)$). Thus, our theorem 6.4 is the verification of Chmutov's conjecture in the particular case of real simple line arrangements. As Chmutov remarked in [Chm92], such an upper bound immediately implies an upper bound on the maximum number of nodes on a surface in separated variables:

COROLLARY 6.5. A surface of the form p(x,y) + q(z) = 0 cannot have more than $\approx \frac{1}{2}d^2 \cdot \frac{1}{2}d + \frac{1}{3}d^2 \cdot \frac{1}{2}d = \frac{5}{12}d^3$ nodes if p(x,y) is a real simple line arrangement. This number is attained by the surfaces $\operatorname{Chm}_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y,z)$ defined in theorem 6.2. Comparing this number with the upper bound $\approx \frac{5}{12}d^3$ on the zeroth Betti number (see e.g., [**Kha96**, p. 533]) one is tempted to ask if it is possible to deform our singular surfaces to get examples with many real connected components. But our surfaces $\operatorname{Chm}_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x, y, z)$ only contain A_1^- singularities which locally look like a cone $(x^2 + y^2 - z^2 = 0)$. When removing the singularities from the zero-set of the surface every connected component contains at least three of the singularities.

Thus, the zeroth Betti number of a small deformation of our surfaces are not larger than $\approx \frac{5}{3\cdot 12}d^3$ which is far below the number $\approx \frac{13}{36}d^3$ resulting from Bihan's construction [**Bih03**] which is based on Viro's patchworking method.

Conversely, we may ask if it is always possible to move the lines of a simple real line arrangement in such a way that all critical points which have a critical value of the same sign can be chosen to have the same critical value. If this were true then it would be possible to improve our lower bound for the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ of real nodes on a real surface of degree d slightly because it is known that the upper bounds for the maximum number $M_b(d)$ of black cells are in fact exact for infinitely many d. E.g., in the already cited article [Har81], Harborth gave an explicit arrangement of 13 straight lines which has $\frac{1}{3} \cdot 13^2 + \frac{1}{3} \cdot 13 - 13 = 47$ bounded black regions. When regarding this arrangement as a polynomial of degree d = 13 it has exactly one critical point with a negative critical value within each of the black regions. Such a polynomial would lead to a surface with $\binom{13}{2} \cdot \lceil \frac{13-1}{2} \rceil + 47 \cdot \lfloor \frac{13-1}{2} \rfloor = 750 > 732$ nodes. Similarly, such a surface of degree 9 would have 228 > 216 nodes. In the case of degree 7 the construction would only yield 96 nodes which is less than the number 99 found in [Lab04].

6.3. Concluding Remarks

Notice that it is not clear that line arrangements are the best plane curves for our purpose, and we may ask: Is it possible to exceed the number of critical points on two levels of the line arrangements $F_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}(x,y)$ using irreducible curves of higher degrees? Either in the real or in the complex case? This is not true for the real folding polynomials. E.g., those associated to the root system B_2 consist of many ellipses and yield surfaces with fewer singularities (see [**Bre05**]).

We can also ask for the maximum number $\mu_A^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$ of real A_j -singularities. It is clear that constructions similar to those in chapter 5 on page 67 cannot give the same number of real nodes because of the intermediate value theorem (Zwischenwertsatz). It would be nice to use real dessins d'enfants (see e.g., [**Bru**]) to check which numbers are actually possible to obtain.



A sextic with 30 real cusps and 10 real nodes at infinity, constructed using an algorithm in characteristic zero.

CHAPTER 7

An Algorithm in Characteristic Zero

We give an algorithm (see also [Lab05a]) that can be used to find hypersurfaces with many singularities within families of hypersurfaces. As we will see, it is based on very recent features of the computer algebra system SINGULAR. The idea to such an algorithm is not so new. In fact, our main observation was to notice that we can use features of the most recent versions of this computer algebra system to perform the algorithm on a computer in our particular case.

We describe this algorithm using the example of the construction of a sextic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 with 35 cusps. From this, it is easy to figure out how to proceed in general. When we uploaded the preprint [Lab05a] to arXiv.org we believed that this 35-cuspidal example was the one with the maximum known number of cusps. Only recently we realized that Gallarati's variant of B. Segre's construction (see section 2.5 on page 24) leads to a sextic with 36 cusps. We present the algorithm here because it can certainly be applied in many similar situations.

In the works mentioned in part 1, the authors used geometric arguments to reduce a problem depending on several parameters to polynomials each depending only on one parameter. The roots of these polynomials could then easily be found by hand or by computer algebra. But what can we do when there are no geometric arguments available to reduce the problem to equations in one variable each? In this case, we can still use a similar approach by replacing root-finding of a polynomial in one variable by primary decomposition.

7.1. The Family of 30-cuspidal Sextics

As our starting point, we take the 4-parameter family $f_{s,t,u,v} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ with dihedral symmetry D_5 defined by:

(7.1)

$$p := z \cdot \Pi_{j=0}^{4} \left[\cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) y - z \right] \\
= \frac{z}{16} \left[x \left(x^4 - 2 \cdot 5 \cdot x^2 y^2 + 5 \cdot y^4 \right) \right. \\
-5 \cdot z \cdot \left(x^2 + y^2 \right)^2 + 4 \cdot 5 \cdot z^3 \cdot \left(x^2 + y^2 \right) - 16 \cdot z^5 \right], \\
q_{s,t,u,v} := s \cdot (x^2 + y^2) + t \cdot z^2 + u \cdot z w + v \cdot w^2, \\
f_{s,t,u,v} := p - q_{s,t,u,v}^3.$$

p is the product of z and 5 planes in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ meeting in the point (0:0:0:1) with the symmetry D_5 of the 5-gon with rotation axes $\{x = y = 0\}$. $q_{s,t,u,v}$ is also D_5 -symmetric, because x and y only appear as $x^2 + y^2$.

The generic surface $f_{s,t,u,v}$ has $15 \cdot 2 = 30$ singularities of type A_2 at the intersections of the tripled quadric $q_{s,t,u,v}$ with the $\binom{6}{2}$ pairwise intersection lines of the 6 planes p. $2 \cdot 5 = 10$ of the singularities lie in the $\{z = 0\}$ plane, the other $4 \cdot 5 = 20$ not. The coordinates of the latter 20 can be obtained from the 4 singularities in the $\{y = 0\}$ plane using the symmetry of the family. To see that the $\{y = 0\}$ plane contains 4 cusps, note that $p|_{y=0} = z \cdot (z-x) \cdot (x^2 - 2xz - 4z^2)^2$: For generic values

of the parameters, this doubled quadric factor meets the tripled quadric $q_{s,t,u,v}$ in $2\cdot 2$ points.

Note that

(7.2)
$$f_{s,t,u,v}(x,y,z,\lambda w) = f_{s,t,\lambda u,\lambda^2 v}(x,y,z,w) \; \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*,$$

s.t. we can choose v := 1 (it is easy to see that v = 0 corresponds to a degenerate case). Therefore, we write:

 $f_{s,t,u} := f_{s,t,u,1}$ and $q_{s,t,u} := q_{s,t,u,1}$.

7.2. The Sextics with 35 Cusps

To find surfaces in this 3-parameter family with more singularities, we compute the discriminant $Disc_{f_{s,t,u}} \in \mathbb{C}[s, t, u]$ of the family $f_{s,t,u}$ by first dividing out the base locus (the intersections of the double lines of p with the quadric q) from the singular locus (we use saturation, because we have to divide out the base locus six times):

$$sl := \left(\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial z}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial w}\right),$$

$$bl := \left(\frac{\partial p}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial p}{\partial y}, \frac{\partial p}{\partial z}, \frac{\partial p}{\partial w}, q\right),$$

$$I := sl : bl^{\infty}.$$

Then we eliminate the variables x, y, z from this quotient. In fact, because of the symmetry we restrict our attention to the $\{y = 0\}$ plane, which speeds up the computations: Every singularity in the plane $\{y = 0\}$ which is not on the rotation axes $\{x = y = 0\}$ generates an orbit of length 5 of singularities of the same type.

A short SINGULAR computation then gives the discriminant $Disc_{f_{s,t,u}} \in \mathbb{Q}[s, t, u]$, which factorizes into $Disc_{f_{s,t,u}} = D_{f,1} \cdot D_{f,2} \cdot D_{f,3}$, where:

We hope that some singularities of the discriminant correspond to examples of surfaces $f_{s,t,u}$ with more A_2 -singularities. Note that only $D_{f,1}$ depends on the parameter s. Using computer algebra, it is easy to verify that the intersections of

86

two of the 3 components $D_{f,1}, D_{f,2}, D_{f,3}$ of $Disc_{f_{s,t,u}}$ do not yield to surfaces with many additional singularities.

So, we use Singular again to compute the primary decomposition of the singular locus of $D_{f,1}$ over \mathbb{Q} : $sl(D_{f,1}) = \mathfrak{sl}_{f,1} \cap \mathfrak{sl}_{f,2} \cap \mathfrak{sl}_{f,3} \cap \mathfrak{sl}_{f,4}$, where

$$\begin{split} \mathfrak{sl}_{f,1} &= \left(2^2 \cdot \left(2^2 \cdot s - t\right) + u^2, \quad 2^6 \cdot 3^3 \cdot s^3 - 5\right) \\ \mathfrak{sl}_{f,2} &= \left(-2^2 \cdot \left(2^2 \cdot 3 \cdot s + 5 \cdot t\right) + 5 \cdot u^2, \quad 2^4 \cdot 3^2 \cdot s^2 + 2^2 \cdot 3 \cdot 5 \cdot s + 5^2\right) \\ \mathfrak{sl}_{f,3} &= \left(2^{15} \cdot 3^3 \cdot t^6 - 2^{14} \cdot 3^4 \cdot t^5 \cdot u^2 + 2^{11} \cdot 3^4 \cdot 5 \cdot t^4 \cdot u^4 - 2^6 \cdot 3^3 \cdot 5 \cdot t^3 \cdot \left(2^5 \cdot u^6 - 11 \cdot 31\right) \right. \\ &+ 2^4 \cdot 3^4 \cdot 5 \cdot t^2 \cdot \left(2^3 \cdot u^6 - 11 \cdot 31\right) \cdot u^2 - 2^2 \cdot 3^4 \cdot t \cdot \left(2^4 \cdot u^6 - 5 \cdot 11 \cdot 31\right) \cdot u^4 \\ &+ \left(2^3 \cdot 3^3 \cdot u^{12} - 3^3 \cdot 5 \cdot 11 \cdot 31 \cdot u^6 + 2^6 \cdot 5^2 \cdot 19^3\right), \\ 2^{11} \cdot 3^2 \cdot t^4 - 2^{11} \cdot 3^2 \cdot t^3 \cdot u^2 + 2^8 \cdot 3^3 \cdot t^2 \cdot u^4 \\ &- 2^2 \cdot \left(2^5 \cdot 3^2 \cdot t u^6 - 2^2 \cdot 5 \cdot 7 \cdot 19 \cdot 211 \cdot s - 5 \cdot 73 \cdot 193 \cdot t\right) \\ &+ u^2 \cdot \left(2^3 \cdot 3^2 \cdot u^6 - 5 \cdot 73 \cdot 193\right) \\ \end{split}$$

All these prime ideals define smooth curves in the 3-dimensional parameter space. When projecting the curve C_3 defined by $\mathfrak{sl}_{f,3}$ to the s, t- or the s, u-plane, we get in both cases six straight lines defined by the equation

(7.3)
$$2^{15} \cdot 3^3 \cdot s^6 - 2^6 \cdot 3^3 \cdot 5 \cdot s^3 + 5^2 = 0.$$

This shows that C_3 consists in fact of the union of six plane curves. Over the algebraic extension $\mathbb{Q}(s)$, it is easy to compute the equation of these:

(7.4)
$$C_{3,s} = 5 \cdot u^2 - 2^2 \cdot 5 \cdot t - 2^{11} \cdot 3^2 \cdot s^4 - 2^4 \cdot 5 \cdot s \in \mathbb{Q}(s)[t, u].$$

To show that there is a surface with 35 A_2 -singularities, we take the most simple point of this curve, the one with u = 0:

THEOREM 7.1 (35-cuspidal Sextic). Let $s_0 \in \mathbb{C}$ be one of the six roots of (7.3). Let $(t_0, 0)$ be the point on C_{3,s_0} with u = 0. Then the sextic $S_{35} := f_{s_0,t_0,0} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$ has exactly 35 singularities of type A_2 and no other singularities.

PROOF. We use computer algebra. The SINGULAR script and its output can be downloaded from the webpage [Lab03a]. Here, we give the basic ideas. With u = 0 in C_{3,s_0} , we find: $t_0 = -4 \cdot s_0 \left(\frac{2^7 \cdot 3^2}{5} \cdot s_0^3 + 1\right)$. For the corresponding surface

(7.5)
$$S_{35} := f_{s_0, -4 \cdot s_0 \left(\frac{2^7 \cdot 3^2}{5} \cdot s_0^3 + 1\right), 0}$$

we first check that the total milnor number is 70. Then we verify that the surface has 35 singularities of type A_2 : For each orbit of singularities, we compute the ideal of one of the singularities and check explicitly that it is a cusp. To show this it suffices to verify that its milnor number is exactly two. E.g., for the orbit of the five non-generic singularities, we take the cusp S_{yw} that lies in the $\{y = 0\}$ plane:

$$S_{yw} = \left(-\frac{2^7 \cdot 3^2}{5}s_0^3 + 8:0:1:0\right).$$

Note that the coefficients of the surface S_{35} are not real. In fact, the ideal $\mathfrak{sl}_{f,3}$ does not contain any real point, because equation (7.3) does not have any real root. In particular, it is not possible to use the software surf [End01] to draw an image

of this sextic. This also holds for the more general family $f_{s,t,u,v}$ because of equation (7.2). The curves defined by the ideals $\mathfrak{sl}_{f,2}$ and $\mathfrak{sl}_{f,4}$ lead to only one additional higher singularity, and we are not interested in such examples.

But in the case of the prime ideal $\mathfrak{sl}_{f,1}$, we get surfaces with 30 real A_2 -singularities and 10 real A_1 -singularities (see also fig. 7.1). Again, we choose a point in the parameter-space with u = 0:

THEOREM 7.2. The sextic $f_{s_0,t_0,0} \subset \mathbb{P}^3$, where $s_0 := \frac{1}{3 \cdot 2^2} \sqrt[3]{5} \in \mathbb{R}$, $t_0 = 2^2 \cdot s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$, has exactly 30 singularities of type A_2 , 10 singularities of type A_1 , and no other singularities. Furthermore, all the singularities are real.

PROOF. Similar to the preceding one.



FIGURE 7.1. A sextic with 30 cusps and 10 nodes at infinity. Some movies illustrating this are available from [Lab03a].

7.3. Concluding Remarks

In our application, we could restrict our attention to a plane because of the symmetry of the family, so that the number of variables decreased. This speeded up the computations. But the case of septics with many nodes was too time-consuming to be treated in this way: Our construction of a 99-nodal surface of degree 7 (see next chapter) involves computations in positive characteristics and then liftings to characteristic zero using the geometry of the examples.

In other applications, it might be easy to divide out the base locus and to compute the discriminant, e.g. by using the geometry of the family. Then it only remaines to study the discriminant for finding examples which have more singularities than the generic member of the family.

```
7.4. The SINGULAR Code
```

```
":::::::::::;
"A Sextic with $35$ Cusps";
"(Oliver Labs)";
····;
"This Singular script computes the parameters s,t,u,v,";
"s.t. the surface f_{s,t,u,v} of the article has $35$ cusps.";
"";
"This script also contains the proof that this surface has ";
"$35$ such singularities and no other singularities.";
"::::::::::::;
"";
LIB "primdec.lib";
LIB "sing.lib";
LIB "classify.lib";
LIB "zeroset.lib";
proc mycodim(ideal stdi)
ASSUME: stdi is already in standard bases form!
н
{
    return(nvars(basering)-dim(stdi));
}
proc std_primdecGTZ(ideal I)
RETURN: A list, similar to the one returned by primdecGTZ, but with
        some extra information.
Calls primdecGTZ and then calls std() for each of the prime ideals
replace the prime ideals by their standard-basis.
The third sub-item of each item of the list is
the dimension of the prime ideal,
the fourth sub-item is its multiplicity.
...
{
   list pd = primdecGTZ(I);
   list pd_neu;
   int i;
   list coords;
   ideal stdtmp;
    for(i=1; i<=size(pd); i++) {</pre>
        stdtmp = std(pd[i][2]);
        pd_neu[i] = list(pd[i][1], stdtmp, dim(stdtmp), mult(stdtmp));
   return(pd_neu);
}
```

int pr = 0;

```
// The ring in which the algebraic number t is defined:
11
ring r = pr, (x,y,z,w,s,t,u,v), dp;
// The 6 planes p:
poly p = z*(16*x^5-160*x^3*y^2+80*x*y^4)
 -80*x^4*z-160*x^2*y^2*z+320*x^2*z^3
-80*y^4*z+320*y^2*z^3-256*z^5)/256;
// The quadric q:
poly q = (s*(x^2+y^2) + t*z^2 + u*w*z + v*w^2);
// The family of sextics with 30 cusps:
poly f = p - q^3;
ideal jf = diff(f,w), diff(f,y), diff(f,z), diff(f,x);
ideal jfy = substitute(jf, y,0);
ideal bl = diff(p,x), diff(p,z), diff(p,w), diff(p,y), q;
ideal bly = substitute(bl, y,0);
"";"";"sl:";"";
jfy;
"";"";"bl:";"";
bly;
"";"";"Compute I and eliminate x and z:";"";
poly discr;
"";"sat...";
ideal I = sat(jfy,bly)[1];
"";"std...";
I = std(I);
"";"eliminate x and z...";
ideal el = eliminate(I,xz);
el:
discr = el[1];
"";"";"From now on we choose v=1.";"";
//map mp = r, x,y,z,w,s,t,1,v;
map mp = r, x,y,z,w,s,t,u,1;
discr = mp(discr);
"";"";"Factorize Disc_f:";"";
factorize(discr);
"":
poly mpf = mp(f);
//"discr for u=1:";discr;
// the conditions on the parameters that yield
// additional singularities on the x=y=0 axes
```

```
// (precomputed)
```

90

```
7. AN ALGORITHM IN CHARACTERISTIC ZERO
```

```
poly conduv(1), conduv(2);
conduv(1) = 4*v*(t+1)-u^2;
conduv(2) = (u^2-4tv)^2 + 4*v*(u^2+4*v*(1-t));
// for the discriminant, we do not want the
// conditions conduv(i) that describe the cases
// that give a singularity on the x=y=0 axes:
"";"Notice that the largest component is exactly the one that describes";
"the cases that do not give a singularity on the x=y=0 axes:";"";
discr = quotient(discr,mp(conduv(1)))[1];
discr = quotient(discr,mp(conduv(2)))[1];
discr:
"";"";"Primary decomposition of sl(D_{f,1}) (takes a few seconds):";"";
if(0==1) {
    // The following takes a few seconds.
    // So, by default, we do not execute this part of the script.
    // Change 0==1 to 1==1 in the preceding if-statement
    // if you want this part to be executed.
    list sl_f = std_primdecGTZ(slocus(discr));
    sl_f;
} else {
    "skipped (precomputed).";
}
ideal sl_f3 = u4-68su2-8tu2+1216s2+272st+16t2,
    48s2u2-2496s3-192s2t+5,
    18432s4-5u2+80s+20t;
poly els = eliminate(sl_f3, tu)[1];
"";"The six values for s (equation (3)):";"";
els;
"----";"";"Switch to the extension Q(s):";"";
string els_str = string(els);
"els:",els_str;
ring rs = (0,s),(t,u,x,y,z,w),dp;
execute("minpoly = "+els_str+";");
ideal sl_f3 = imap(r, sl_f3);
sl_f3 = std(sl_f3);
"";"";"equation (4):";"";
sl_f3;
"";"";"The value t_O(s) in the proof the 35-cuspidal sextic theorem:";"";
poly p_t = subst(sl_f3[1], u, 0);
number n_t = leadcoef(-((p_t / leadcoef(p_t)) - t));
n_t;
"";"";"The equation of S_{35}:";"";
poly f = imap(r,mpf);
f = substitute(f, u,0, t,n_t);
f;
"-----";"";"The total milnor number:";"";
ideal jf = diff(f,x), diff(f,y), diff(f,z), diff(f,w);
```

92

```
jf = std(jf);
"codim:", mycodim(jf), ", milnor:", mult(jf);
"";"";"The total milnor number on w=1:";"";
poly fw = substitute(f, w,1);
ideal jfw = fw, diff(fw,x), diff(fw,y), diff(fw,z);
jfw = std(jfw);
"codim:", mycodim(jfw), ", milnor:", mult(jfw);
"";"";"The total milnor number on y=0, w=0, z=1:";"";
poly fyw = substitute(f, y,0, w,0, z,1);
ideal jfyw = fyw, diff(fyw,x), diff(fyw,z);
// first throw away the non-existent point (0:0:0:0):
jfyw = sat(jfyw,xyzw)[1];
// then compute the total milnor number:
jfyw = std(jfyw);
"codim:", mycodim(jfyw), ", milnor:", mult(jfyw);
"";"Check that this is exactly one point by computing the radical:";"";
ideal radjfyw = radical(jfyw);
radjfyw = std(radjfyw);
"codim:", mycodim(radjfyw), ", milnor:", mult(radjfyw);
"";"This shows that S_{yw} is an A_2 singularity.";"";
"";"";"The ideal describing the point S_{yw} in the affine z=1 chart:";"";
list lSyw = primdecGTZ(jfyw);
ideal ptSyw = y,w,subst(lSyw[1][2],z,1);
ptSyw;
"-----";"";"Check that all the 30 other singularities are non-nodes:";"";
fw = substitute(f, w,1);
jfw = fw, diff(fw,x), diff(fw,y), diff(fw,z);
// then compute the total milnor number:
jfw = std(jfw);
"codim:", mycodim(jfw), ", milnor:", mult(jfw);
ideal nonnodes = fw, jfw, det(jacob(jacob(fw)));
nonnodes = std(nonnodes);
"codim(nonnodes):", mycodim(nonnodes), ", milnor(nonnodes):", mult(nonnodes);
"-----";"";"Check that there is no singularity on y=0, z=0 and w=1:";"";
ideal jfyz = fw, diff(fw,x), diff(fw,y), diff(fw,z);
jfyz = substitute(jfyz, y,0, z,0);
jfyz = std(jfyz);
"dim:",dim(jfyz), ", milnor:", mult(jfyz);
"-----";"";"Check that all the 10 singularities on z=0, w=1 are A_2s:";"";
"Compute the total milnor number:";
ideal jfz = subst(jfw,z,0);
jfz = std(jfz);
"codim:", mycodim(jfz), ", milnor:", mult(jfz);
""; "Check that there are exactly 10 singularities on z=0:";
"radical...";
ideal radjfz = radical(jfz);
"std...";
```

```
radjfz = std(radjfz);
"codim:", mycodim(radjfz), ", milnor:", mult(radjfz);
"";"As all the 10 are non-nodes, they all have milnor number 2";
"and are thus A_2-singularities.";
"-----";"";"Check that all the 4 singularities on y=0, w=1 are A_2s:";"";
"Compute the total milnor number:";
ideal jfy = subst(jfw,y,0);
jfy = std(jfy);
jfy;
"codim:", mycodim(jfy), ", milnor:", mult(jfy);
""; "Check that there are exactly 4 singularities on y=0:";
"Compute the primary decomposition of jfy...";
list ljfy = std_primdecGTZ(jfy,1);
ljfy;
"The 3rd and 4th entry are dimension and multiplicity";
"of the prime component:";
"codim:", ljfy[1][3], ", milnor:", ljfy[1][4];
"";"As all the 4 are non-nodes, they all have milnor number 2";
"and are thus A_2-singularities.";
"From the symmetry of the construction we thus know that";
"all the 20=4*5 singularities";
"which are in the D_5-orbits of these four singularities";
"are A_2-singularities.";
"-----";"";"Thus the surface S_{35} of degree 6 has exactly 35 cusps";
"and no other singularities.";
"";"This completes the proof the theorem.";"";
```

```
$;
```



A septic with 99 nodes, constructed using the geometry over prime fields.

CHAPTER 8

Using the Geometry over Prime Fields

We have already seen that the restrictions on the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ of nodes on a nodal surface of degree d known so far are as follows:

| degree | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|--------------------|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------|
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \ge$ | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 93 | 168 | 216 | 345 | 425 | 600 | $\frac{5}{12}d^3$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}(d) \le$ | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $\frac{4}{9}d^{3}$ |

In this chapter we show (see also [Lab04]):

(8.1)
$$\mu_{A_1}(7) \ge \mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(7) \ge 99.$$

The upper bound $\mu(7) \leq 104$ is given by Varchenko's spectrum bound (section 3.7). Notice that for d = 7 Miyaoka's bound (section 3.10) is 112, but Givental's bound (section 3.6) also computes to 104.

The previously known septic with the greatest number of nodes was the example of Chmutov with 93 nodes (see section 4.1 on page 45). For $d \leq 5$ and the even degrees d = 6, 8, 10, 12 there are examples exceeding Chmutov's lower bound: sections 4.5, 4.7, 4.9. These had been obtained by using some beautiful geometric arguments based on Rohn's (section 1.3) and B. Segre's idea (section 2.4).

Here, we explain how to use the geometry of computer algebra experiments over prime fields to treat the case d = 7 and to find the first surface of odd degree greater than 5 that exceeds Chmutov's general lower bound. Given an explicit equation of a family of hypersurfaces, there are some other approaches for finding those examples with the greatest number of nodes. We were not able to apply the techniques which do not involve computer algebra and which were used for degree d = 6, 8, 10, 12because for these one needs a priori some good idea on the geometry of the surface. We neither succeeded using the computer algebra techniques from chapter 7 in the present case because of computer performance restrictions.

Instead, we choose a more geometric and experimental approach to study the family. The idea to use experiments over prime fields was already used by other people, e.g. Schreyer and Tonoli [ST02]. But in their case they were able to use deformation theoretical arguments to show that their examples lift to some special Calabi-Yau threefolds in characteristic zero. In our case, we lift the modular examples explicitly to characteristic zero using their geometry.

8.1. The Family

Inspired by many authors (see in particular sections 1.3, 4.2, 4.5, 4.7), we look for septics with many nodes in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ within a 7-parameter family of surfaces

$$S_{a_1,a_2,\dots,a_7} := P - U_{a_1,a_2,\dots,a_7}$$

of degree 7 admitting the dihedral symmetry D_7 of a 7-gon:

$$P := 2^{6} \cdot \prod_{j=0}^{6} \left[\cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) y - z \right]$$

$$= x \cdot \left[x^{6} - 3 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{4} y^{2} + 5 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{2} y^{4} - 7 \cdot y^{6} \right]$$

$$+ 7 \cdot z \cdot \left[\left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right)^{3} - 2^{3} \cdot z^{2} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right)^{2} + 2^{4} \cdot z^{4} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right) \right] - 2^{6} \cdot z^{7},$$

$$U_{a_{1},...,a_{7}} := (z + a_{5}w) \left(a_{1}z^{3} + a_{2}z^{2}w + a_{3}zw^{2} + a_{4}w^{3} + (a_{6}z + a_{7}w)(x^{2} + y^{2}) \right)^{2}$$

P is the product of 7 planes in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ meeting in the point (0:0:0:1) and admitting D_7 -symmetry with rotation axes $\{x = y = 0\}$: In fact, *P* is invariant under the map $y \mapsto -y$ and $P \cap \{z = z_0\}$ is a regular 7-gon for $z_0 \neq 0$. *U* is also D_7 -symmetric, because *x* and *y* only appear as $x^2 + y^2$.

As we have already seen in section 1.3 on Rohn's construction of nodal quartics, such a surface S has generically nodes at the $3 \cdot 21 = 63$ intersections of the $\binom{7}{2} = 21$ doubled lines of P with the doubled cubic of U. We look for parameters a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_7 , s.t. the corresponding surface has 99 nodes.

As $S_{a_1,a_2,...,a_7}(x, y, z, \lambda w) = S_{a_1,\lambda a_2,\lambda^2 a_3,\lambda^3 a_4,\lambda a_5,a_6,\lambda a_7}(x, y, z, w) \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$, we choose $a_7 := 1$. Moreover, experiments over prime fields suggest that the maximum number of nodes on such surfaces is 99 and that such examples exist for $a_6 = 1$. As we are mainly interested in finding an example with 99 nodes, we restrict ourselves to the sub-family:

$$S := S_{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, 1, 1} = P - U_{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4, a_5, 1, 1}.$$

Some other cases, e.g. $a_6 = 0$, also lead to 99-nodal septices (see e.g. chapter 9).

8.2. Reduction to the Case of Plane Curves

To simplify the problem of locating examples with 99 nodes within our family S, we restrict our attention to the $\{y = 0\}$ -plane and search for plane curves $S|_{y=0}$ (we write S_y for short) with many nodes. This is motivated by the symmetry of the construction:

LEMMA 8.1 (see [End96]). A member $S = S_{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4,a_5,1,1}$ of our family of surfaces has only ordinary double points as singularities, if $(1:i:0:0) \notin S$ and the surface does only contain ordinary double points as singularities in the plane $\{y = 0\}$. If the plane septic S_y has exactly n nodes and if exactly n_{xy} of these nodes are on the axes $\{x = y = 0\}$ then the surface S has exactly $n_{xy} + 7 \cdot (n - n_{xy})$ nodes and no other singularities. Each singularity of S_y which is not on $\{x = y = 0\}$ gives an orbit of 7 singularities of S under the action of the dihedral group D_7 .

PROOF. Because of the D_7 -symmetry of the construction, we only have to show that there are no other singularities than the claimed ones. It is easy to prove (see [End96, p. 18, cor. 2.3.10] for details) that any isolated singularity of S which is not contained in one of the orbits of the nodes of S_y would yield a non-isolated singularity which intersects the plane $\{y = 0\}$. But this contradicts the assumption that the surface S does only contain ordinary double points on $\{y = 0\}$.

So, we first look for septic plane curves of the form S_y with many nodes, then we verify that these singularities are indeed also nodes of the surface. Via the lemma, we are then able to conclude that the surface has only ordinary double points. In
order to understand the geometry of the plane septic S_y better we look at the singularities that occur for generic values of the parameters. First, we compute:

$$\begin{split} P|_{y=0} &= x^7 + 7 \cdot x^6 z - 7 \cdot 2^3 \cdot x^4 z^3 + 7 \cdot 2^4 \cdot x^2 z^5 - 2^6 \cdot z^7 \\ &= \frac{(x-z)}{2^4} \cdot \left(\underbrace{x + (-\rho)z}_{=:L_1}\right)^2 \cdot \left(\underbrace{2x + (\rho^2 + 4\rho)z}_{=:L_2}\right)^2 \cdot \left(\underbrace{2x + (-\rho^2 - 2\rho + 8)z}_{=:L_3}\right)^2, \\ U|_{y=0} &= (z + a_5 w) \left(\underbrace{(z+w)x^2 + a_1 z^3 + a_2 z^2 w + a_3 z w^2 + a_4 w^3}_{=:C}\right)^2, \end{split}$$

where ρ satisfies:

(8.2)
$$\rho^3 + 2^2 \rho^2 - 2^2 \rho - 2^3 = 0.$$

The three points G_{ij} of intersection of C with the line L_i are ordinary double points of the plane septic $S_y = P|_{y=0} - U|_{y=0}$ for generic values of the parameters, s.t. we have $3 \cdot 3 = 9$ generic singularities (see fig. 8.1).



FIGURE 8.1. The three doubled lines L_i and the doubled cubic C intersect in $3 \cdot 3 = 9$ points G_{ij} . These are the *generic* singularities of the plane septic S_y .

8.3. Finding Solutions over some Prime Fields

In the early times of computer algebra, the software was only able to work over finite prime fields. It is well-known that the reduction modulo a prime p of a hypersurface has the same number and type of singularities for almost all p. So, the common practice in the early 1990's was to compute this for a hopefully sufficient number of different primes.

We take the other direction. By running over all possible parameter combinations over some small prime fields \mathbb{F}_p using the computer algebra system SINGULAR [**GPS01**], we find some 99-nodal surfaces over these fields: For a given set of parameters a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_5 , we can easily check the actual number of nodes on the corresponding surface using computer algebra (see [**GP02**, appendix A, p. 487]).

As indicated in the previous section, we work in the plane $\{y = 0\}$ for faster computations. It turns out that the greatest number of nodes on S_y is 15 over the small prime fields \mathbb{F}_p , $11 \leq p \leq 53$: See table 8.1 on the facing page. The prime fields \mathbb{F}_p , $2 \leq p \leq 7$, are not listed because they are special cases: These primes appear as coefficients or exponents in the equation of our family. In each of the cases we checked, one of the 15 singular points lies on the axes $\{x = 0\}$, such that the corresponding surface has exactly $14 \cdot 7 + 1 = 99$ nodes and no other singularities.

8.4. The Geometry of the 15-nodal septic Plane Curve

To find parameters a_1, a_2, \ldots, a_5 in characteristic 0 we want to use geometric properties of the 15-nodal septic plane curve S_y . But as we do not know any such property yet, we use our prime field examples to get some good ideas:

OBSERVATION 8.2. In all our prime field examples of 15-nodal plane septics S_{u} , we have:

(1) S_y splits into a line $S_{y,1}$ and a sextic $S_{y,6}$: $S_y = S_{y,1} \cdot S_{y,6}$. The plane curve $S_{y,6}$ of degree 6 has 15-6=9 singularities. Note that this property is similar to the one of the 31-nodal D_5 -symmetric quintic in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ constructed by W. Barth (section 4.2 on page 47).

The line and the sextic have some interesting geometric properties (see fig. 8.1 on the preceding page and fig. 8.3 on page 102):

- (2) $S_{y,1} \cap S_{y,6} = \{R, G_{1j_1}, G_{2j_2}, G_{3j_3}, O_1, O_2\}$, where R is a point on the axes $\{x = 0\}$ and the G_{ij_k} are three of the 9 generic singularities G_{ij} of S_y , one on each line L_i , and O_1, O_2 are some other points that neither lie on $\{x=0\}, nor on one of the L_i.$
- (3) The sextic $S_{y,6}$ has the six generic singularities G_{ij} , $(i,j) \in \{1,2,3\}^2 \setminus$ $\{(1, j_1), (2, j_2), (3, j_3)\},$ and three exceptional singularities: E_1, E_2, E_3 .

In many prime field experiments, we have furthermore:

(4) In the projective x, z, w-plane, the point R has the coordinates (0: -1: 1), s.t. the line $S_{y,1}$ has the form $S_{y,1}$: $z + t \cdot x + w = 0$ for some parameter t (see also table 8.1 on the facing page).

The other cases $(R = (0 : c : 1), c \neq -1)$ lead to more complicated equations and will not be discussed here.

Using this observation as a guess for our septic in characteristic 0, we obtain several polynomial conditions on the parameters. Using SINGULAR to eliminate variables, we find the following relation between the parameters a_4 and t:

(8.3)
$$t \cdot \left(\underbrace{a_4 t^3 + t}_{=:\alpha}\right)^2 + t - 1 = 0.$$

which can be parametrized by α : $t = -\frac{1}{1+\alpha^2}$, $a_4 = (\alpha(1+\alpha^2)-1)(1+\alpha^2)^2$. Further eliminations allow us to express all the other parameters in terms of α :

- $a_1 = \alpha^7 + 7\alpha^5 \alpha^4 + 7\alpha^3 2\alpha^2 7\alpha 1,$ $a_2 = (\alpha^2 + 1)(3\alpha^5 + 14\alpha^3 3\alpha^2 + 7\alpha 3),$ $a_3 = (\alpha^2 + 1)^2(3\alpha^3 + 7\alpha 3),$ $a_5 = -\frac{\alpha^2}{1+\alpha^2}.$

| Field | a_1 | a_2 | a_3 | a_4 | a_5 | $S_{y,1}$ | α |
|--|-----------------|--|-----------------|-------------------|---|--|--|
| \mathbb{F}_{11} | 2 | 3 | 5 | 2 | -5 | z = x - w | $\alpha = -3$ |
| \mathbb{F}_{19} \mathbb{F}_{19} \mathbb{F}_{19} | -7 2 5 | -2 0 -9 | 7 1 7 | 1 9 -3 | 8 7 -1 | z = 8x - w $z = 9x - w$ $z = 2x - w$ | $\begin{array}{l} \alpha = 7 \\ \alpha = -4 \\ \alpha = -3 \end{array}$ |
| \mathbb{F}_{23} | -5 | 11 | 10 | 1 | 7 | z = -9x - w | $\alpha = -2$ |
| \mathbb{F}_{31} \mathbb{F}_{31} \mathbb{F}_{31} | -15 1 14 | -13 -2 -10 | -5 14 -13 | 13 -9 -14 | -10 11 -11 | z = -2x - w $z = 15x - w$ $z = -13x - w$ | $\begin{array}{l} \alpha = -13 \\ \alpha = -11 \\ \alpha = -7 \end{array}$ |
| $ \begin{array}{c} \mathbb{F}_{43} \\ \mathbb{F}_{43} \\ \mathbb{F}_{43} \end{array} $ | -11 20 -9 | $\begin{array}{c} 15\\ 16\\ 3 \end{array}$ | 0 -1 -3 | -13 -14 -11 | -6 10 5 | z = -6x - w $z = -12x - w$ $z = 18x - w$ | $\begin{array}{c} \alpha = 7 \\ \alpha = 14 \\ \alpha = -21 \end{array}$ |
| \mathbb{F}_{53} \mathbb{F}_{53} \mathbb{F}_{53} | -8 -2 10 | 20 -10 25 | 14 -14 -4 | 18 -26 22 | $\begin{array}{c} 11\\ 16\\ 25 \end{array}$ | z = 25x - w $z = -9x - w$ $z = -16x - w$ | $\begin{array}{c} \alpha = 4\\ \alpha = 24\\ \alpha = 25 \end{array}$ |

TABLE 8.1. A few examples of parameters giving 15-nodal septic plane curves (and 99-nodal surfaces) over prime fields (see [Lab03a] for more exhaustive tables).

8.5. The 1-parameter Family of Plane Sextics

Once more we use our explicit examples of 15-nodal septic plane curves over prime fields to finally be able to write down a condition for α in characteristic 0.

First, note that we can now easily obtain the equation of $S_{y,6}$ by dividing the equation of our septic curve S_y by the equation of the line $S_{y,1} = z + tx + w = z - \frac{1}{1+\alpha^2}x + w$. $S_{y,6}$ is a sextic which has 6 nodes for generic α , but should have 9 double points for some special values of α . One idea to determine these particular values is to find a geometric relation between the 6 generic singular points and the 3 exceptional ones.

8.5.1. Three Conics. Looking at the equations describing the singular points of our examples of 9-nodal sextics $S_{y,6}$ over the prime fields, we see the following:

OBSERVATION 8.3. For all our 9-nodal examples of plane sextics over prime fields, there are three conics through six of these points each (see fig. 8.2 on the next page):

- (1) one conic C_0 through the 6 generic singularities,
- (2) one conic C_1 through the 3 exceptional singularities and 3 of the generic ones,
- (3) one conic C_2 through the 3 exceptional singularities and the other 3 generic ones.

Moreover, the three conics have the following properties over the prime fields:

(4) C_1 has the form:

(8.4)
$$C_1: x^2 + kz^2 + (k+4)zw = 0$$



FIGURE 8.2. Three conics relating the 9 double points of the sextic $S_{y,6}$. E_1, E_2 , and E_3 (black) are the exceptional singularities (i.e. they do not lie on one of the lines L_i , see fig. 8.1 on page 97). The white points are the generic singularities, coming from the intersection of the doubled cubic C with the three doubled lines L_i .

where k is a still unknown parameter. In particular, C_1 is symmetric with respect to $x \mapsto -x$ and contains the point (0:0:1).

(5) C_0 intersects the other two conics on the $\{x = 0\}$ -axes (see fig. 8.2):

(8.5) $X_1 := C_0 \cap C_1 \cap \{x = 0\}, \quad X_2 := C_0 \cap C_2 \cap \{x = 0\}.$

To determine the new parameter k in equation (8.4), we will use (8.5). We compute the two points of C_0 on the $\{x = 0\}$ -axes explicitly using SINGULAR: First, the ideal $I_{S_{y,6}}^{gen}$ describing the six generic singularities of $S_{y,6}$ can be computed from the ideal $I_{S_y}^{gen} := (C, L_1L_2L_3)$ describing the 9 generic singularities of S_y by calculating the following ideal quotient: $I_{S_{y,6}}^{gen} = I_{S_y}^{gen} : S_{y,1}$. Now, the equation of C_0 can be obtained by taking the degree-2-part of the ideal $I_{S_{y,6}}^{gen}$:

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha x^2 + (\alpha^3 + 5\alpha - 1)xz + (\alpha^3 + \alpha - 1)xw \\ (8.6) \quad C_0: \quad (\alpha^5 + 6\alpha^3 - \alpha^2 + \alpha - 1)z^2 + (2\alpha^5 + 8\alpha^3 - 2\alpha^2 + 6\alpha - 2)zw \\ &+ (\alpha^5 + 2\alpha^3 - \alpha^2 + \alpha - 1)w^2 = 0. \end{aligned}$$
Thus, $\{P^+, P^-\} := C_0 \cap \{x = 0\} = \left\{ \left(0: \frac{-2(\alpha^3 + 3\alpha - 1)(1 + \alpha^2) \pm \beta(\alpha)}{2(\alpha^5 + 6\alpha^3 - \alpha^2 + \alpha - 1)}: 1\right) \right\},$ where

$$\begin{aligned} &\beta(\alpha)^2 &:= (\alpha^3 + 3\alpha - 1)^2(1 + \alpha^2)^2 \end{aligned}$$

(8.7) $(\alpha^{3} + \alpha^{2} + \alpha^{3})(1 + \alpha^{2})(1 + \alpha^{2})(\alpha^{3} + \alpha - 1).$

 C_1 intersects the $\{x = 0\}$ -axes in exactly two points: (0:0:1) and X_1 . Hence, we can determine the two possibilities for the parameter $k \in \mathbb{Q}(\alpha, \beta(\alpha))$ in equation (8.4) for C_1 : Together with the z and w-coordinates of the points P^{\pm} , $C_1 \cap \{x = 0\} = \{kz^2 + kzw + 4zw = 0\}$ leads to the following two possibilities:

(8.8)
$$C_1: \quad x^2 + \frac{-4P_z^{\pm}}{P_z^{\pm}(P_z^{\pm}+1)}z(z+w) + 4zw = 0.$$

8.5.2. The Condition on α . The equations of the conics C_0 and C_1 will allow us to compute the condition on α , s.t. the sextic $S_{y,6}$ has 9 singularities, using the following (see observation 8.3 and fig. 8.2):

- C_0 intersects the three doubled lines L_i exactly in the six generic singularities.
- C_1 intersects the three doubled lines L_i exactly in three of these six generic singularities and the origin (which counts three times).

Thus, the set of z-coordinates of the three points $(C_1 \cap L_1 L_2 L_3) \setminus \{(0:0:1)\}$ has to be contained in the set of z-coordinates of the six points $C_0 \cap L_1 L_2 L_3$. This means that the remainder q of the following division (res_x denotes the resultant with respect to x)

(8.9)
$$res_x(C_0, L_1L_2L_3) = p(z) \cdot \left(\frac{1}{z^3} \cdot res_x(C_1, L_1L_2L_3)\right) + q(z)$$

should vanish: q = 0.

As the degree of the remainder is $\deg(q) = 2$, this gives 3 conditions on α and $\beta(\alpha)$, coming from the fact that all the 3 coefficients of q(z) have to vanish. It turns out that it suffices to take one of these, the coefficient of z^2 , which can be written in the form $c(\alpha) + \beta(\alpha)d(\alpha)$, where $c(\alpha)$ and $d(\alpha)$ are polynomials in $\mathbb{Q}[\alpha]$. As a condition on α only we can take:

$$cond(\alpha) := (c(\alpha) + \beta(\alpha)d(\alpha)) \cdot (c(\alpha) - \beta(\alpha)d(\alpha)) \in \mathbb{Q}[\alpha],$$

which is of degree 150.

This condition $cond(\alpha)$ vanishes for those α for which the corresponding surface has 99 nodes and for several other α . To obtain a condition which exactly describes those α we are looking for, we factorize $cond(\alpha) = f_1 \cdot f_2 \cdots f_k$ (e.g., using SINGULAR again). Substituting in each of these factors our solutions over the prime fields, we see that the only factor that vanishes is: $7\alpha^3 + 7\alpha + 1 = 0$.

8.6. The Equation of the 99-nodal Septic

Up to this point, it is still only a guess — verified over some prime fields — that the values α satisfying the condition above give 99-nodal septics in characteristic 0. But it turns out that we have indeed:

THEOREM 8.4 (99-nodal Septic). Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ satisfy:

Then the surface S_{α} in $\mathbb{P}^{3}(\mathbb{C})$ of degree 7 with equation $S_{99} := S_{\alpha} := P - U_{\alpha}$ has exactly 99 ordinary double points and no other singularities, where

$$P := x \cdot \left[x^{6} - 3 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{4} y^{2} + 5 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{2} y^{4} - 7 \cdot y^{6}\right] + 7 \cdot z \cdot \left[\left(x^{2} + y^{2}\right)^{3} - 2^{3} \cdot z^{2} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2}\right)^{2} + 2^{4} \cdot z^{4} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2}\right)\right] - 2^{6} \cdot z^{7},$$
$$U_{\alpha} := (z + a_{5}w) \left((z + w)(x^{2} + y^{2}) + a_{1}z^{3} + a_{2}z^{2}w + a_{3}zw^{2} + a_{4}w^{3}\right)^{2},$$
$$a_{1} := -\frac{12}{7}\alpha^{2} - \frac{384}{49}\alpha - \frac{8}{7}, \qquad a_{2} := -\frac{32}{7}\alpha^{2} + \frac{24}{49}\alpha - 4,$$
$$a_{3} := -4\alpha^{2} + \frac{24}{49}\alpha - 4, \qquad a_{4} := -\frac{8}{7}\alpha^{2} + \frac{8}{49}\alpha - \frac{8}{7},$$
$$a_{5} := 49\alpha^{2} - 7\alpha + 50.$$



FIGURE 8.3. The 15-nodal plane septic $S_{y_{\alpha_{R}}} = S_{y,1_{\alpha_{R}}} \cdot S_{y,6_{\alpha_{R}}}$ (see (8.11) on page 102); the singularities of the sextic $S_{y,6_{\alpha_{R}}}$ are marked by large circles: The three exceptional singularities E_1, E_2, E_3 are marked in black, the generic singularities in white. The five leftmost nodes are real isolated ones. Only five of the six intersections of the line $S_{y,1_{\alpha_{R}}}$ and the sextic $S_{y,6_{\alpha_{R}}}$ are visible because we just show a small part of the whole (x, z)-plane.

There is exactly one real solution $\alpha_{\mathbb{R}} \in \mathbb{R}$ to the condition (8.10),

 $(8.11) \qquad \qquad \alpha_{\mathbb{R}} \approx -0.14010685,$

and all the singularities of $S_{\alpha_{\rm R}}$ are also real.

PROOF. By computer algebra. The total tjurina number (i.e., 99) of S_{α} can be computed as follows:

Using the hessian criterion, we can check in a similar way that the singularities are all nodes:

```
matrix mHess = jacob(jacob(S)); ideal nonnodes = minor(mHess,2), sl;
nonnodes = std(nonnodes); degree(nonnodes); // gives: proj. dim: -1
```

See [Lab03a] for the complete SINGULAR code and for more information which may help you to verify the result by hand. Using the geometric description of the singularities of the plane septic given in the previous sections, it is straightforward to verify the reality assertion (see fig. 8.4 for a visualization).

8.7. Further Remarks

The existence of the real $\alpha_{\mathbb{R}}$ allows us to use our tool SURFEX [**HLM05**] to compute an image of the 99-nodal septic $S_{\alpha_{\mathbb{R}}}$ (fig. 8.4 on the facing page). When

8.7. FURTHER REMARKS



FIGURE 8.4. A part of the affine chart w = 1 of the real septic with 99 nodes, see [Lab03a] for more images and movies.

denoting the maximum number of real singularities a septic in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ can have by $\mu^{\mathbb{R}}(7)$, we get, with the remarks mentioned in the introduction:

COROLLARY 8.5.

$$99 \le \mu^{\mathbb{R}}(7) \le \mu(7) \le 104.$$

Note that the previously known lower bound, 93, was reached by S. V. Chmutov's surface (section 4.1). It can be computed using deformation theory and SIN-GULAR (see section 4.6 on page 51) that the space of obstructions for globalizing all local deformations is zero. We thus obtain:

COROLLARY 8.6. There exist surfaces of degree 7 in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ with exactly k real nodes and no other singularities for $k = 0, 1, 2, \ldots, 99$.

Recently, there has been some interest in surfaces that do exist over some finite fields, but which are not liftable to characteristic 0. The reduction of our 99-nodal septic S_{α} modulo 5 (note: $1 \in \mathbb{F}_5$ satisfies (8.10): $7 \cdot 1^3 + 7 \cdot 1 + 1 \equiv 0$ modulo 5) neither gives a 99-nodal surface nor a highly degenerated one as one might expect because the exponent 5 appears several times in the defining equation. Instead, we can easily verify the following using computer algebra:

COROLLARY 8.7. For $\alpha_5 := 1 \in \mathbb{F}_5$ the surface $S_{\alpha_5} \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{F}_5)$ defined as in the above theorem has 100 nodes and no other singularities.

Of course, not all the coordinates of its singularities are in \mathbb{F}_5 , but in some algebraic extension. The septic has similar geometric properties as our 99-nodal surface; in addition it has one node at the intersection of the $\{x = y = 0\}$ axes and $\{w = 0\}$. Until now, we were not able to determine if this 100-nodal septic defined over \mathbb{F}_5 can be lifted to characteristic zero.

8.8. A Conjecture

We hope to be able to apply our technique for finding surfaces with many nodes within families of surfaces to similar problems. E.g., it should be possible to construct surfaces with dihedral symmetry of degree 9 and 11 with many ordinary double points. In fact, our experiments over prime fields suggest the following conjecture which is already established for d = 3, 5, 7 (see figure 8.5 on the facing page which illustrates the geometry of the plane curve S_y :

CONJECTURE 8.8. For any odd $d \geq 3$, there exists a surface S of degree d with $\frac{1}{2} \cdot (3d^3 - 4d^2 - 7d + 8)$ nodes with the following geometric properties:

(1) S has dihedral symmetry D_d and is constructed based on Rohn's idea (section 1.3): $S = P - (z + a_0 w) \cdot (S_{\frac{d-1}{2}})^2$, where P is a product of d planes

$$P = \prod_{j=0}^{d-1} \left[\cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{d}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{d}\right) y - z \right]$$

- and S_{d-1}/2 is a surface of degree d-1/2.
 (2) The plane curve S_y := S ∩ {y = 0} factors into a line and a curve of degree d 1: S_y = S_{y,1} · S_{y,d-1}.
 (3) S_y has d-1/2 + (d-1/2)² + 1/2 d-1/2 (d-1/2) 1) nodes.
 (4) Exactly one of the nodes of S_y, say R, lies on the rotation axes {x = y = 0}
- of the dihedral operation. In fact, R is the intersection of the line $S_{y,1}$ with the rotation axes $\{x = y = 0\}$.
- (5) The generic surface from Rohn's construction has nodes at the intersection of the $\binom{d}{2} = d \cdot \left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)$ intersection lines of the d planes defined by P with the surface $S_{\frac{d-1}{2}}$ of degree $\frac{d-1}{2}$. Because of the dihedral symmetry of the construction $\frac{1}{d} \cdot d \cdot \left(\frac{d-1}{2}\right)^2$ of the nodes of the plane septic S_y come from this general construction.

For $d \leq 11$, the number of nodes conjectured above exceeds Chmutov's lower bound for the maximum number of nodes on a surface of degree d (section 4.1). But for $d \geq 13$, Chmutov's examples have more nodes. Thus, if the conjecture cannot be improved then it does only yield very few new lower bounds: $\mu_{A_1}(9) \ge 226$ and $\mu_{A_1}(11) \ge 430.$

104



FIGURE 8.5. The geometry of the conjectured plane curve S_y .



The $\{y = 0\}$ plane section of the affine chart w = 1 of a 226-nodal nonic over \mathbb{F}_{61} . It can be found and lifted to characteristic zero using an algorithm for locating interesting examples within families of algebraic varieties.

CHAPTER 9

Locating Interesting Examples within Families

Suppose we have a k-parameter family of algebraic varieties $V_{a_1,a_2,...,a_k}$ defined over some algebraic extension $\mathbb{K} := \mathbb{Q}(\alpha)$ of \mathbb{Q} in which we hope to exist a particularly *interesting* example.

Suppose furthermore that there exists an algorithm which allows us to detect using computer algebra if a variety $V_{a_1,a_2,...,a_k}$ is *interesting* for given values of the parameters $a_1, a_2, ..., a_k$. Then the algorithm which we describe in this chapter and which we implemented as the SINGULAR [**GPS01**] library SEARCHINFAMILIES.LIB allows us to locate these examples in many cases.

As we have seen in the preceding chapters, all surfaces of degree $d \leq 8$ with the greatest known number of nodes can be constructed by locating them within families with dihedral symmetry. Furthermore, we have already seen that for a given surface it is easy to compute its number of nodes using computer algebra. Thus, the problem of finding surfaces with many nodes is exactly of the type described in the previous paragraph.

And indeed, we will see in the following sections that the construction of all known surfaces of degree $d \leq 7$ which lead to the best known lower bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ of nodes can be reduced to a computer algebra calculation. Moreover, we apply the method to the case of degree d = 9 which leads to a new lower bound:

(9.1)
$$\mu_{A_1}(9) \ge \mathbf{226}.$$

Recall that we have seen in the first part of this Ph.D. thesis and in chapter 8 that the restrictions on $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ known before the present chapter are as follows:

| | degree | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|---|------------------|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------------------|
| ŀ | $u_{A_1}(d) \ge$ | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 99 | 168 | 216 | 345 | 425 | 600 | $\frac{5}{12}d^3$ |
| ļ | $u_{A_1}(d) \le$ | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | $\frac{4}{9}d^{3}$ |

Thus, in degree d = 9 there remains a gap of 20 nodes between our construction which leads to 226 nodes and the best known upper bound 246.

9.1. Some Introductory Examples

In the previous chapter, we used the geometry of the prime field examples to obtain a conjecture for some restrictions on the parameters. We could then verify them by simply computing the number of nodes of the resulting surface.

The process of figuring out the needed geometric properties of the prime field examples involved creative human interaction. Here, we use a purely arithmetic way to lift the prime field examples which can be performed automatically. Nevertheless, geometric insight can speed up the algorithm significantly.

| field | 0 | (C) |
|-------------------|--------|---------------------|
| neid | ρ | $\mu(vS_{1:\beta})$ |
| \mathbb{F}_2 | | |
| \mathbb{F}_3 | _ | |
| \mathbb{F}_5 | 1 | 205 |
| \mathbb{F}_5 | -1 | 205 |
| \mathbb{F}_7 | 1 | 130 |
| \mathbb{F}_{11} | 1 | 130 |
| \mathbb{F}_{13} | 1 | 130 |
| \mathbb{F}_{17} | 1 | 130 |

TABLE 9.1. Examples of $vS_{(1:\beta)}$ over some prime fields which have at least 130 ordinary double points.

The examples which we present in this section illustrate the basic ideas behind our method.

9.1.1. Van Straten's 130-nodal Quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 . Let us look for examples with many isolated singularities within van Straten's two-parameter family (see section 4.3 on page 48)

$$vS_{(\alpha;\beta)} := \alpha \cdot \sigma_5(x_0, \dots, x_5) + \beta \cdot \sigma_2(x_0, \dots, x_5) \cdot \sigma_3(x_0, \dots, x_5)$$

of hypersurfaces of degree 5 in the \mathbb{P}^4 cut out by $x_5 = -(x_1 + x_2 + \cdots + x_4)$. It is clear that the corresponding hypersurface has a non-isolated singularity if $\alpha = 0$, so let us normalize to $\alpha := 1$. This leaves us with a one-parameter family $vS_{(1:\beta)}$.

Running through all possible parameters β over the prime fields $\mathbb{F}_2, \mathbb{F}_3, \ldots, \mathbb{F}_{19}$, we find the examples with at least 130 ordinary double points listed in table 9.1. The whole computation takes approximately two minutes on our computer.

From this table, it is easy to guess that $vS_{(1:1)}$ is indeed a 130-nodal quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 in characteristic zero. This guess can now be verified, again using computer algebra. Notice that the reduction modulo five gives a 205-nodal quintic in \mathbb{P}^4 which cannot exist in characteristic zero because of Varchenko's upper bound which is 135 nodes (see section 3.7).

9.1.2. Barth's 65-nodal Sextic in \mathbb{P}^3 . Let us compute the parameters for which Barth's one-parameter family of 45-nodal sextics $F_{\alpha} = P - \alpha \cdot Q^2$ has exactly 65 nodes (see section 4.5 on page 50). The SINGULAR script which computes table 9.2 on the next page only runs for a few seconds.

It is easy to guess from the table that α has to satisfy some quadratic condition. For each prime for which there exist exactly two solutions we compute the monic quadratic polynomial with the two values of α as roots. These monic quadratic polynomials over the prime fields are not difficult to lift by lifting each coefficient to some rational number. This can be done using Wang's rational recovery algorithm [Wan81] or one of its variants (see e.g., [CE95], [Mon04]):

ALGORITHM 1 (Wang's algorithm).

Input: A modulus $M \in \mathbb{Z}$ and a residue $U \in \mathbb{Z}/(M)$.

| field | α | polynomial | $\mu(F_{\alpha})$ |
|-------------------|-------|-------------------------|-------------------|
| \mathbb{F}_2 | | | _ |
| \mathbb{F}_3 | | | |
| \mathbb{F}_5 | -2 | $\alpha + 2$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_7 | | _ | |
| \mathbb{F}_{11} | 5, -4 | $\alpha^2 - \alpha + 2$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_{13} | | | |
| \mathbb{F}_{17} | | | |

| field | α | polynomial | $\mu(F_{\alpha})$ |
|-------------------|----------|--------------------------|-------------------|
| \mathbb{F}_{19} | 3, -2 | $\alpha^2 - \alpha - 6$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_{23} | | | — |
| \mathbb{F}_{29} | 5, -4 | $\alpha^2 - \alpha + 9$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_{31} | -1, 2 | $\alpha^2-\alpha-2$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_{37} | | | — |
| \mathbb{F}_{41} | -13, 14 | $\alpha^2 - \alpha - 18$ | 65 |
| \mathbb{F}_{43} | | | |

TABLE 9.2. Examples of F_{α} over some prime fields which have at least 65 ordinary double points.

| Output: A pair (A, B) of integers s.t. $A \equiv BU \mod M$ and $ A , B < \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}M$ | ſ |
|---|---|
| with $B > 0$ if such a pair exists. Otherwise, return NIL. | |

- $(A_1, A_2) := (M, U); \quad (V_1, V_2) := (0, 1);$ 1
- \mathcal{D} loop
- $if |V_2| \ge \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}M} then return NIL;$ $if A_2 < \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}M} then return (sign(V_2)A_2, |V_2|);$ $Q := \lfloor \frac{A_1}{A_2} \rfloor; (A_1, V_1) := (A_1, V_1) Q(A_2, V_2);$ 3 4
- 5
- $\operatorname{swap}(A_1, A_2); \quad \operatorname{swap}(V_1, V_2);$ 6

Of course, Wang's algorithm only works fine if the modulus M is big enough. Thus, in our situation we first have to use the chinese remainder theorem on all our prime field examples to be able to apply the rational recovery algorithm. This immediately yields:

$$\alpha^2 - \alpha - \frac{1}{16} = 0.$$

Again, it is easy to verify using computer algebra that this is indeed the correct parameter.

9.1.3. A Reducible Case. To illustrate a problem which may occur because of different algebraic numbers we consider the ideal $I = ((x^2 - \frac{1}{2}) \cdot (x^2 - \frac{1}{3}), y - \frac{1}{7}) \subset$ $\mathbb{Q}[x,y]$. Table 9.3 on the following page lists all \mathbb{F}_p -rational points of I (i.e. points of I with coordinates in \mathbb{F}_p) over some small prime fields \mathbb{F}_p . Of course, the existence of such points is related to the existence of square roots of two and three in these fields.

It may happen that the prime field experiments take too much time, so that we do not have enough primes p for which the maximum number of \mathbb{F}_p -rational points exists. E.g., in our example we found only one prime, namely 23, for which all four points are \mathbb{F}_p -rational. Such a problem does not exist in the case in which we are in the comfortable position to be able to produce as many prime field examples as we wish. These cases are not very difficult, in particular if we already know in advance which primes have good reduction and which not (see [ABKR00]): take a reduced Groebner basis of the ideal defining the points and lift the coefficients

| p | $\frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}$ | $\frac{1}{\sqrt{3}}$ | $\frac{1}{7}$ | ideal | # |
|----|----------------------|----------------------|---------------|--|---|
| 11 | , | 2, -2 | -3 | $y+3, xy+3x+2y-5, x^2-4$ | 2 |
| 13 | , | 3, -3 | 2 | $y-2, xy-2x+3y-6, x^2+4$ | 2 |
| 17 | 3, -3 | , | 5 | $y-5, xy-5x+3y+2, x^2+8$ | 2 |
| 19 | , | , | -8 | 1 | 0 |
| 23 | 9, -9 | -10, 10 | 10 | $y - 10, xy - 10x - 10y + 8, x^4 + 3x^2 + 4$ | 4 |
| 29 | , | , | -4 | 1 | 0 |
| 31 | 4, -4 | , | 9 | $y - 9, xy - 9x + 4y - 5, x^2 + 15$ | 2 |
| 37 | , | -5, 5 | 16 | $y - 16, xy - 16x - 5y + 6, x^2 + 12$ | 2 |
| 41 | 12, -12 | , | 6 | $y - 6, xy - 6x - 12y - 10, x^2 + 20$ | 2 |
| 43 | , | , | -6 | 1 | 0 |

TABLE 9.3. For some prime fields \mathbb{F}_p we show all \mathbb{F}_p -rational points of the ideal $I = \left((x^2 - \frac{1}{2}) \cdot (x^2 - \frac{1}{3}), y - \frac{1}{7} \right)$. The column "#" lists the number of these points and the column "ideal" shows a reduced Groebner basis of the ideal describing them.

using Wang's rational recovery algorithm. But in our applications, the bottle neck of the algorithm are the experiments and we usually cannot produce many more prime field examples in short time.

To solve the problem we simply choose only subsets of all primes which lead to the second most number of \mathbb{F}_p -rational points. In our example, the maximum number of \mathbb{F}_p -rational points is 4 and the second most is 2. As $\frac{4}{2} = 2$, at least half of the cases in which there are exactly two \mathbb{F}_p -rational points have to come from the same factor $((x^2 - \frac{1}{2}) \text{ or } (x^2 - \frac{1}{3}))$ of the reducible polynomial of I. There are six primes, 11, 13, 17, 31, 37, 41, with exactly two \mathbb{F}_p -rational points.

There are six primes, 11, 13, 17, 31, 37, 41, with exactly two \mathbb{F}_p -rational points. Thus, for all $\binom{6}{6/2} = \binom{6}{3} = 20$ combinations of three of these primes we try to lift their ideals in the same way as for the 65-nodal sextic. E.g., for the set of primes $\{11, 13, 37\}$ Wang's rational recovery algorithm already produces the guess $x^2 - \frac{1}{3}$, $y - \frac{1}{7}$. This guess can then be verified over the rational numbers using computer algebra.

9.2. The Algorithm

We now describe the algorithm in the general situation. All main ideas are already contained in the examples presented in the previous section. The purpose of the algorithm can be formulated as follows: ALGORITHM 2. (sketch)

- **Input:** An ideal $F \subset \mathbb{K}[a_1, \ldots, a_k, x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n]$ where the a_i are considered as parameters. For concrete values $\overline{a_i}$ of the parameters a_i , this yields an ideal $F_{\overline{a_1}, \ldots, \overline{a_k}} \subset \mathbb{K}[x_0, x_1, \ldots, x_n]$.
 - A procedure checkInterest(ideal I) which checks over finite fields $\mathbb{K} = \mathbb{F}_p$, p prime, if a given ideal $I := F_{\overline{a_1},...,\overline{a_k}}$ is interesting.
 - A procedure checkResult(ideal F, ideal condsPars) which checks in an algebraic extension of Q if a guessed solution is really interesting.
 - Both procedures have to be compatible in the obvious sense.
- **Output:** If an interesting variety exists: an ideal in $\mathbb{K}[a_1, \ldots, a_k]$ defining parameters $\overline{a_1}, \overline{a_2}, \ldots, \overline{a_k}$ s.t. $F_{\overline{a_1}, \overline{a_2}, \ldots, \overline{a_k}}$ is interesting in the sense defined by the specified procedure.
- REMARK 9.1. For the algorithm to work as described below, we have to assume that the set of solutions is zero-dimesional. But as we are only interested in finding one example, this is no real restriction.
 - In our cases, $I = F_{\overline{a_1},...,\overline{a_k}} \subset \mathbb{K}[x_0, x_1, ..., x_n]$ is just a single polynomial descibing a hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^n , and checkInterest(ideal I) simply verifies that the number of singularities of this hypersurface over a finite field is high. The procedure checkResult(ideal F, ideal condsPars) is very similar, but it works in characteristic zero.
 - We implemented a prototype version of this algorithm as a pre-version of the SINGULAR [GPS01] library searchInFamilies.lib. It is available from [Lab03a] together with some example files related to this article.

Our algorithm consists of several steps:

Step 1: Prime Field Experiments. We run through all possible parameter combinations over some small prime fields $\mathbb{F}_{p_1}, \mathbb{F}_{p_2}, \ldots, \mathbb{F}_{p_m}$ and use the procedure checkInterest to pick the *interesting* parameter vectors. These possible combinations may be restricted by giving a list of conditions.

If the original equation of the surface is defined over some algebraic extension $\mathbb{K} := \mathbb{Q}(\alpha)$ of \mathbb{Q} then we simply add α to the list of parameters and add its minimal polynomial to the list of conditions on the parameters.

EXAMPLE 9.1. In our application, the prodeduce checkInterest will simply compute the number of singularities of the given surface and return true if it is the number we have been looking for or false if not.

Step 2: The Ideals over the Prime Fields. For each prime $p \in \{p_1, \ldots, p_m\}$ we view the *interesting* parameter vectors as points in the parameter space and compute the ideal I_p describing all points by intersecting the point ideals. We then compute a reduced Groebner basis of the I_p to make the occurring monomials unique.

In order to be able to lift the ideals to characteristic zero we first have to figure out which of the modular ideals come from the same ideal in characteristic zero. To do this, we sort the ideals I_{p_i} first w.r.t. the number of *interesting* parameter points they define and second w.r.t. the monomials which occur in the ideal. We pick the set S_I with the greatest number of prime field ideals with the same monomials. Step 3: Lifting the Ideal. Then we lift each coefficient occurring in the reduced Groebner basis of the ideals in S_I using Wang's rational recovery algorithm. As indicated in the example of section 9.1.3 on page 109 this might lead to some problems and require some more computations if different algebraic numbers are involved. Such a situation can only occur if the variety in the parameter space is reducible.

If all the coefficients occurring in the ideal can be lifted to characteristic zero then we proceed with the next step.

If not then we go back to the first step and perform some new experiments. If we have already obtained partial results then we may use these in order to speed up the computations.

Step 4: Checking the Guess. Using the procedure checkInterest again we now verify the guess which the lifting process has produced. If it is not yet the correct one then we go back to the first step and perform some more experiments.

9.3. Dihedral-symmetric Surfaces of Degree $d \leq 6$ with Many Nodes

As indicated in the introduction to this chapter, the algorithm described in the previous sections reduces the construction of surfaces of degree $d \leq 6$ in \mathbb{P}^3 which have the maximum possible number of nodes to a triviality once we had the idea to look for dihedral-symmetric examples:

Implementing a procedure checkInterest(ideal I) which checks if the surface given by I has the correct number of nodes is easy. Then it only remains to write down the D_d -symmetric (resp. D_{d-1} -symmetric) families of surfaces based on Rohn's construction (see section 1.3).

For the concrete results we do not use any further geometric intuition, although this might lead to much nicer results: In this section, we are only interested in a proof of concept, i.e. in showing that our algorithm produces the correct results even if we apply it in a very naive way. The computations were performed on a 1 MHz Mobile Centrino Laptop with 512 MB memory. In all examples, almost all the time was used for the experiments. Although the equations are easy to compute, we copied most of them together with the projectivities from [End96].

9.3.1. A D_3 -symmetric 4-nodal Cubic. In degree d = 3, the family of dihedral-symmetric surfaces based on Rohn's construction is

$$f_3^{a_1,a_2} := p - q^{a_1,a_2}$$

where

$$p := x^3 - 3xy^2 + 3x^2w + 3y^2w - 4w^3,$$

$$q^{a_1,a_2} := a_1 \cdot (z - a_2w)) \cdot z^2.$$

As we are only interested in projectively different surfaces, we may choose $a_2 := 1$ because $f_3^{a_1,a_2}(x, y, \lambda z, w) = f_3^{a_1\lambda^3, \frac{a_2}{\lambda}}(x, y, z, w) \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ (see [End96, p. 22]). This leaves us with a one-parameter family $f_3^{a_1,1}$ of three-nodal cubics.

It suffices to perform the experiments for all primes $p \in \{5, 7, 11, \ldots, 29\}$. The whole algorithm runs two seconds, including experiments, lifting and verification of the result in characteristic zero. It finds the 4-nodal cubic $f_3^{\frac{27}{4},1}$.

9.3.2. A D_3 -symmetric 16-nodal Kummer Quartic. In degree d = 4, the family is

$$f_4^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4} := p - q^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4},$$

where

$$p := \frac{1}{4} \cdot z \cdot \left(x^3 - 3xy^2 + 3x^2w + 3y^2w - 4w^3\right),$$
$$q^{a_1, a_2, a_3, a_4} := \left(a_1(x^2 + y^2) + a_2z^2 + a_3zw + a_4w^2\right)^2.$$

Again, we are only interested in projectively different surfaces. Thus, because of $f_4^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4}(x,y,\lambda^2z,w) = \lambda^2 f_4^{\frac{a_1}{\lambda},\lambda^3a_2,\lambda a_3,\frac{a_4}{\lambda}}(x,y,z,w) \ \forall \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^*$ we may choose $a_1 = 1$. In order to obtain only finitely many solutions we choose furthermore $a_4 := 1$. This leaves us with a two-parameter family $f_4^{1,a_2,a_3,1}$ of 12-nodal quartics.

It suffices to perform the experiments for all primes $p \in \{5, 7, 11, \ldots, 29\}$. The whole algorithm runs nine seconds, including experiments, lifting and verification of the result in characteristic zero. It finds the 16-nodal quartic $f_4^{1,(\frac{5}{4})^3,\frac{-5}{32},1}$.

9.3.3. A D_5 -symmetric 31-nodal Togliatti Quintic. In degree d = 5, the family is

$$f_5^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4,a_5} := p - q^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4,a_5},$$

where

$$p := x^5 - 5(x^4 + y^4)w - 10x^2y^2(x+w) + 20(x^2 + y^2)w^3 + 5xy^4 - 16w^5,$$

$$q^{a_1,\dots,a_5} := a_1 \cdot z \cdot \left(a_2(x^2 + y^2) + a_3z^2 + a_4zw + a_5w^2\right)^2.$$

Again, we may choose $a_2 := 1$, $a_4 := 1$. This leaves us with a three-parameter family $f_5^{a_1,1,a_3,1,a_5}$ of 20-nodal quintics.

It suffices to perform the experiments for all primes $p \in \{11, 13, 17, \ldots, 31\}$. The whole algorithm runs six minutes, including experiments, lifting and verification of the result in characteristic zero. It finds the 31-nodal quintic $f_5^{a_1,1,a_3,1,a_5}$ where the a_i are given by the ideal $(2a_1 + 5, 20a_3 + a_5 + 6, a_5^2 + 2a_5 - 4)$.

9.3.4. A D_5 -symmetric 65-nodal Sextic. In degree d = 6, we take the D_5 -symmetric family

$$f_6^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4,a_5,a_6} := p - q^{a_1,a_2,a_3,a_4,a_5,a_6}$$

where

q

$$p := w \cdot \left(x^5 - 5(x^4 + y^4)w - 10x^2y^2(x+w) + 20(x^2 + y^2)w^3 + 5xy^4 - 16w^5\right)$$

$$a_1, \dots, a_6 := a_1 \cdot \left((z - a_2w) \cdot (a_3(x^2 + y^2) + a_4z^2 + a_5zw + a_6w^2)\right)^2.$$

In order to obtain only finitely many solutions and as we are only interested in projectively equivalent surfaces we may choose $a_3 := 1$, $a_4 := -1$, $a_5 = 0$. This leaves us with a three-parameter family $f_6^{a_1,a_2,1,-1,0,a_6}$ of 45-nodal sextics.

It suffices to perform the experiments for all primes $p \in \{7, 11, 13, \ldots, 39\}$. The whole algorithm runs 22 minutes, including experiments, lifting and verification of the result in characteristic zero. It finds the 65-nodal sextic $f_{6}^{\frac{-5}{16},0,1,-1,0,4}$.

9.4. Another D₇-symmetric Septic with 99 Nodes

Without using any creative ideas, but just by following our algorithm, we wish to recover the result $\mu_{A_1}(7) \ge 99$ which we found in chapter 8 on page 95. We start again with the 7-parameter family of all D_7 -symmetric septics

$$f_7^{a_1,a_2,\dots,a_7} := p - q^{a_1,\dots,a_7},$$

where

$$p := 2^{6} \cdot \prod_{j=0}^{6} \left[\cos\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) x + \sin\left(\frac{2\pi j}{7}\right) y - z \right]$$

$$= x \cdot \left[x^{6} - 3 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{4} y^{2} + 5 \cdot 7 \cdot x^{2} y^{4} - 7 \cdot y^{6} \right]$$

$$+ 7 \cdot z \cdot \left[\left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right)^{3} - 2^{3} \cdot z^{2} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right)^{2} + 2^{4} \cdot z^{4} \cdot \left(x^{2} + y^{2} \right) \right] - 2^{6} \cdot z^{7},$$

$$q^{a_{1}, \dots, a_{7}} := (z + a_{5} w) \left(a_{1} z^{3} + a_{2} z^{2} w + a_{3} z w^{2} + a_{4} w^{3} + \left(a_{6} z + a_{7} w \right) (x^{2} + y^{2}) \right)^{2}.$$

Although we may choose $a_7 := 1$, these are too many parameters to perform a prime field search over the whole family in short time. So, we have to impose some additional conditions. Either by looking at the examples in smaller degree or by checking the geometry of some experiments over very small prime fields, it is natural to expect that there should exist a 99-nodal septic S s.t. the plane curve $S|_{y=0}$ factors into a line $S_{y,1}$ and a sextic $S_{y,6}$ with the property that $S_{y,1}$ passes through three of the generic singularities of the construction (see section 8.3 on page 97).

From some prime experiments we see immediately that there is in fact a oneparameter family of such 99-nodal surfaces. Thus we may speed up our search by requiring the line $S_{y,1}$ to be a special one: $S_{y,1} = x + c$. This suffices to produce a 99-nodal septic surface using our algorithm as we will see below.

9.4.1. Computing the conditions. It is easy to translate the restrictions above into algebra (in the following, we use the affine chart w = 1):

- The plane curve S|_{y=0} ∈ Q[x, z] is zero on the whole line S_{y,1} = x + c,
 i.e. (S|_{y=0})|_{x=-c} ≡ 0. As (S|_{y=0})|_{x=-c} is a polynomial of degree 7 in one variable z this gives 7 + 1 conditions on the parameters a₁,..., a₇ because each of the coefficients has to vanish.
- (2) The generic singularities are given by the intersection of the doubled cubic $C|_{y=0}$ and the three lines $L_1L_2L_3|_{y=0}$ (i.e., this is also a cubic plane curve). The fact that the line $S_{y,1} = x + c$ passes through three of these generic singularities can be translated by simply substituting x by -c in the two cubics. When dividing each of the two cubic polynomials $(C|_{y=0})|_{x=-c} \in \mathbb{Q}[z]$ and $(L_1L_2L_3|_{y=0})|_{x=-c} \in \mathbb{Q}[z]$ by its leading coefficient we get two polynomials in one variable which should be equal. Thus, we get three conditions on the parameters a_1, \ldots, a_7 .

By taking all these conditions in one ideal I_{conds} we see that we are left with essentially two unknown parameters because the dimension of I_{conds} can easily be computed to be two. It turns out that we can ideed express all parameters as functions of two of them, namely c and a_6 , by computing a lexicographical Groebner basis of I_{conds} :

$$a_1^2 = -64,$$
 $a_2 = -\frac{1}{2}a_1c,$ $a_3 = -a_6c^2 - \frac{1}{2}a_1c^2,$
 $a_4 = -\frac{1}{8}a_1c^3 - c^2,$ $a_5 = c,$ $a_7 = 1.$

9.4.2. Experimental Result. When performing our algorithm on this two-parameter family we find after 10 minutes:

$$c^2 = -\left(\frac{1}{7}\right)^2, \quad a_6 = 0.$$

This simplifies the expressions for the other parameters:

$$a_1 = 56c$$
, $a_2 = \frac{4}{7}$, $a_3 = \frac{4c}{7}$, $a_4 = \left(\frac{2}{7}\right)^3$, $a_5 = c$, $a_6 = 0$, $a_7 = 1$

We denote the ideal defining these parameters by I_{sol} .

9.4.3. Verification.

THEOREM 9.2. The surface $S_{a_1,...,a_7}$ of degree 7 has exactly 99 nodes and no other singularities if the $a_i \in \mathbb{Q}(c)$ are as specified by the ideal I_{sol} in section 9.4.2.

PROOF. By computer algebra. In order not to have to compute in an extension of \mathbb{Q} (which is usually quite time-consuming), we first notice that I_{sol} defines exactly two points in the parameter space. Thus, dividing the multiplicity of the singular locus of the surface $S := S_{a_1,...,a_7}$ by two gives its total milnor number. The following sequence of SINGULAR commands computes this:

ideal sl = diff(S,x),diff(S,y),diff(S,z),diff(S,w); I_sol = groebner(I_sol); sl = reduce(sl, I_sol); "milnor:", (mult(std(sl)) div mult(I_sol));

In a similar way, we can verify that these 99 singularities are indeed isolated points and moreover have multiplicity one, i.e. they are all nodes. \Box

9.5. A D_9 -symmetric Nonic with 226 Nodes

In exactly the same way as we constructed the 99-nodal septic in section 9.4 on the preceding page, we can proceed to find a nonic with many nodes. We start with the family $f_9^{a_0,\ldots,a_9} := p - q^{a_0,\ldots,a_9}$, where

$$\begin{split} p &:= 2^6 \cdot \Pi_{j=0}^8 \left[\cos \left(\frac{2\pi j}{9} \right) x + \sin \left(\frac{2\pi j}{9} \right) y - z \right] \\ &= x^9 - 36x^7 y^2 + 126x^5 y^4 - 84x^3 y^6 + 9xy^8 - 9x^8 z - 36x^6 y^2 z - 54x^4 y^4 z \\ &- 36x^2 y^6 z - 9y^8 z + 120x^6 z^3 + 360x^4 y^2 z^3 + 360x^2 y^4 z^3 + 120y^6 z^3 \\ &- 432x^4 z^5 - 864x^2 y^2 z^5 - 432y^4 z^5 + 576x^2 z^7 + 576y^2 z^7 - 256z^9, \\ q^{a_0, \dots, a_9} &:= (z + a_0 w) \cdot (a_1 z^4 + a_2 z^3 w + a_3 z^2 w^2 + a_4 z w^3 + a_5 w^4 \\ &+ (a_6 z^2 + a_7 z w + a_8 w^2) (x^2 + y^2) + a_9 (x^2 + y^2)^2 \right)^2. \end{split}$$

We may choose $a_5 := 1$. After the use of the same geometrical assumptions as in the case of the 99-nodal septic in the preceding section, we are left with a four-parameter family. For this family the experiments take quite a lot of time, so we try to guess another parameter. It turns out that the maximum number of nodes which we find in \mathbb{F}_{13} using our algorithm is 226. From these experiments we guess that there are 226-nodal nonics for $a_3 = 0$ (similar to the result $a_6 = 0$ for the 99-nodal septic). This reduces our problem to a search over a three-parameter family. Nevertheless, the experiments take several hours. Finally, we get:

THEOREM 9.3. The eight surfaces $S_{226} := f_9^{a_0,...,a_9}$ of degree 9 with

$$a_1^2 = -256, \quad a_8^2 = -\frac{9a_1}{8}, \quad c^4 = \frac{a_1}{128}, \quad a_0 = c \qquad a_2 = -\frac{a_1c}{2},$$

 $a_3 = 0, \qquad a_6 = -\frac{3a_1}{4}, \quad a_4 = \frac{1}{c} \qquad a_7 = \frac{a_1c}{4} + \frac{1}{c^3}, \quad a_9 = \frac{21a_1}{16}$

and $a_8 = \frac{3}{2c^2}$ have exactly 226 nodes and no other singularities.

PROOF. By computer algebra. See proof of theorem 9.2.

The previously known maximum number of nodes on a nonic was 216, attained by the surface of degree 9 from Chmutov's series (section 4.1 on page 45). We now have:

COROLLARY 9.4.

$$\mu_{A_1}(9) \geq \mathbf{226}.$$

Of course, in view of the fact that the 99 nodes even exist over the real numbers it is natural to ask for the existence of a nonic with 226 real nodes. In analogy to chapter 8 on page 95 we can write down a promissing family, but it has one more parameter and we did not have enough time to perform the computation yet.

Notice that our 226-nodal nonic has one additional node on the rotation axes $\{x = y = 0\}$ in \mathbb{F}_{29} . This is similar to the case of septics where there exists one additional node on the rotation axes in \mathbb{F}_5 .

9.6. Discussion

Unfortunately, we cannot predict a priori how long the algorithm will run for a given family, but it is clear that it has to terminate some time if we neglect hardware and software restrictions. It neither gives a proof of the non-existence of examples which had not been found. Nevertheless, our algorithm has several advantages:

- The algorithm is highly parallelizable. Indeed, the bottle neck of the method are the prime field experiments, and it is easy to distribute these experiments over several machines.
- It produces partial results which can be used as guesses to speed up the computations significantly.

Our method has certainly many applications in other areas of algebraic geometry. We only mention a few cases connected to singularities in which it might be useful:

- Dihedral-symmetric surfaces of degree $d = 11, 13, \ldots$ with many nodes.
- Dihedral-symmetric surfaces with non-maximal numbers of nodes; e.g., it is not clear which numbers of nodes may occur on octics (see section 3.13 on page 43 on the defect).
- (Real) line arrangements of degree 9,11,... with many critical points on two levels (see chapter 6 on page 79).

9.6. DISCUSSION

• Surfaces with many cusps, in particular quintics because the gap between the maximum known 15 and the best known upper bound 20 is very large (see section 4.11 and chapter 5).



Barth's icosahedral-symmetric 65-nodal sextic. Shortly after its discovery in 1996, Jaffe and Ruberman showed that 65 is indeed the maximum possible number of nodes on a sextic surface in \mathbb{P}^3 .

CHAPTER 10

Tables Showing the Current State of Knowledge

This chapter gives a tabular overview on the current state of knowledge on the subject of hypersurfaces with many singularities. In all tables, bold numbers indicate the cases in which the present thesis improves the previously best known bounds.

At some places, there appear question marks. These are sometimes caused by running time restrictions because the computation of the dimension of the tangent space of the deformation functor of the nodal hypersurfaces can take a lot of time.

Another reason might be that we have simply not yet implemented the equation of the hypersurface in SINGULAR. Sometimes, this task is not trivial or at least a huge amount of work because some constructions are only given by vague or lengthy arguments. In some cases (e.g. Kreiss's construction, section 2.6 on page 26), it is even not clear if the construction really works.

Once we have computed more numbers, we will place updated tables on our webpage [Lab03a].

10.1. Nodal Hypersurfaces

In \mathbb{P}^3 and \mathbb{P}^4 , the best known constructions for large degree d are still given by Chmutov's construction from 1992, see section 4.1. For $n \geq 5$ and large d, the best known construction is our variant of Chmutov's construction based on Breske's folding polynomials associated to the root system B_2 , see section 5.6.1.

In the following tables, we give an overview on the currently best known bounds for the maximum number of nodes for small n or d. The tables do not only show the names of the persons who discovered the hypersurfaces. We also give the references to the sections of this Ph.D. thesis in which we introduced the hypersurface and the year in which it was discovered.

Furthermore, we give the dimensions of the space of infinitesimal deformations and the obstruction space of van Straten's deformation functor $\text{Def}(X, \Sigma)$ (see section 4.6 on page 51). For shortness, we write t^i for $\dim T^1(X, \Sigma(X))$, i = 1, 2, throughout.

10.1.1. Nodal Surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 . We start with the most important table: Nodal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , table 10.1 on the following page. As explained in the historical part of this work, this subject has a very long and rich history. The two bold numbers, 99 and 226, indicate the cases in which the present thesis improves the previously known bounds.

| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | $ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$ | $ \begin{array}{c c} t^2 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array} $ |
|--|--|---|
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | | 0 0 0 |
| 4 16, Kummer: 14 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 s. 1.2, 1864 16 Fresnel, Kummer: s. 1.2, 1819 5 31, Beauville: 28 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 5 31, Beauville: 28 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 5 33, 1979 31 Togliatti: s. 2.1, 1940 6 65, Jaffe/Ruberman: 57 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 s. 4.5, 1997 63 Gallarati: s. 2.5, 1952 64 Stagnaro: s. 3.1.2, 1978 64 Catanese-Ceresa: s. 3.5, 19 | 9/64 | 0 0 |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | 9/64 3 12 | 0 |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | 12 | - |
| s. 3.3, 1979 31 Togliatti: s. 2.1, 1940 6 65, Jaffe/Ruberman: s. 4.5, 1997 57 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 63 Gallarati: s. 2.5, 1952 64 Stagnaro: s. 3.1.2, 1978 64 Stagnaro: s. 3.1.2, 1978 64 Catanese-Ceresa: s. 3.5, 19 | | 0 |
| $ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$ | 9 | - |
| s. 4.5, 1997 63 Gallarati: s. 2.5, 1952 64 Stagnaro: s. 3.1.2, 1978 64 Catanese-Ceresa: s. 3.5, 19 | | 0 |
| 64 Stagnaro: s. 3.1.2, 1978 64 Catanese-Ceresa: s. 3.5, 19 | 11 | 0 |
| 64 Catanese-Ceresa: s. 3.5, 19 | 5 | 0 |
| · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | ? | ? |
| 05 Dattill S. 4.5, 1990 | 82 4 | 0 |
| | | - |
| 7 104, Varchenko: 81 Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 s. 3.7, 1983 93 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 23 11 | 0 |
| s. 3.7, 1983 93 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 99 L.: s. 8.6, 2004 | $\begin{bmatrix} 11\\5 \end{bmatrix}$ | 0 |
| | 28 | - |
| 8 174, Miyaoka: 128 Endraß: s. 4.7, 1996 s. 3.10, 1984 153 B. Segre: s. 2.4, 1952 | 28 | 7 |
| S. 5.10, 1964 155 D. Segle. S. 2.4, 1952 154 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 5 | 10 |
| 160 Gallarati: s. 2.5, 1952 | 6 | 17 |
| 160 Kreiss: s. 2.6, 1955 | ? | ? |
| 165 van Straten: unpublished, 19 | 997 1 | 17 |
| 168 Endraß: s. 4.7, 1996 | 0 | 19 |
| 9 246, Varchenko: 192 Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 | 23 | 11 |
| s. 3.7, 1983 216 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 7 | 19 |
| 226 L.: s. 9.5, 2005 | ? | ? |
| 10 360, Miyaoka: 321 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 2 | 53 |
| s. 3.10, 1984 325 Kreiss: s. 2.6, 1955 | ? | ? |
| 345 Barth: s. 4.5, 1996 | 0 | 75 |
| 11 480, Varchenko: 425 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 3 | 80 |
| s. 3.7, 1983 430 ? L.(conjecture): s. 8.8, 200 | 4? | ? |
| 12 645, Miyaoka: 576 Kreiss: s. 2.6, 1955 | ? | ? |
| s. 3.10, 1984 576 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 2 | 139 |
| 600 Sarti: s. 4.9, 2001 | 0 | 161 |
| 13 829, Varchenko: 729 ? L.(conjecture): s. 8.8, 200- | | ? |
| s. 3.7, 1983 732 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| 14 1051, Miyaoka: 931 Kreiss: s. 2.6, 1955 | ? | ? |
| s. 3.10, 1984 949 Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| $d \approx 4/9d^3$, Miyaoka: $\approx \frac{5}{12}d^3$ Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| s. 3.10, 1984 | | |

TABLE 10.1. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^3

120

10.1.2. Surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with Many Real Nodes. Except for d = 9, the currently known bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_1}(d)$ (resp. $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d)$) of nodes on a surface of degree d in $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ (resp. $\mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$) are equal. The upper bounds are the same as the complex ones listed in the previous table: Varchenko's (section 3.7) and Miyaoka's (section 3.10).

| d | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | 13 | d |
|----------------------------------|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|---------------------------|
| $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) \leq$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 104 | 174 | 246 | 360 | 480 | 645 | 832 | $\tfrac{4}{9}d(d-1)^2$ |
| $\mu_{A_1}^{\mathbb{R}}(d) \geq$ | 0 | 1 | 4 | 16 | 31 | 65 | 99 | 168 | 216 | 345 | 425 | 600 | 732 | $\approx \frac{5}{12}d^3$ |

TABLE 10.2. The currently best known bounds on the maximum number of real nodes.

10.1.3. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 . Not many people have worked on nodal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 of large degree. To our knowledge, the general constructions described in the historical part of this thesis are the only available results for $d \geq 6$. Therefore, table 10.3 is quite short.

For d = 6, 7, 8, it would certainly be possible to apply constructions similar to the one of van Straten's 130-nodal quintic, e.g. by using our algorithm from chapter 9.

| d | $\mu^4_{A_1}(d) \leq$ | # | name, ref., and year | t^1 | t^2 |
|----|-----------------------|----------------------------|---|--|----------------------|
| 3 | 10 | 10 | Segre: s. 1.5.1, 1887 | 0 | 0 |
| 4 | 45 | $41 \\ 45 \\ 45$ | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 Burkardt: s. 1.5.2, 1891 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | $\begin{array}{c} 4 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array}$ | 0 0 0 |
| 5 | 135 | $120 \\ 125 \\ 126 \\ 130$ | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 Schön: s. 3.12, 1986 Hirzebruch: s. 3.12, 1987 van Straten: s. 4.3, 1993 | $\begin{array}{c}1\\0\\0\\0\end{array}$ | 20 24 25 29 |
| 6 | 320 | 277 | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | 0 | 92 |
| 7 | 651 | 566 | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| 8 | 1190 | 1029 | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| 9 | 2010 | 1720 | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| 10 | 3195 | 2745 | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |
| d | ? | $\frac{7}{18}d^4$ | Chmutov: s. 4.1, 1992 | ? | ? |

TABLE 10.3. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 . The upper bounds are given by Varchenko's spectral bound (section 3.7).

10.1.4. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 . For nodal hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 the situation is similar to the one in \mathbb{P}^4 : there are very few (or even no) results for $d \geq 6$. But as our variants of Chmutov's construction lead to new lower bounds, table 10.4 shows three of these variants.

Note that although our construction leads to a new lower bound it does not improve the highest order term $\frac{5}{16}d^5$ of the polynomial describing the number of nodes. Thus, this number in the bottom row of the table is not marked in bold. But as one can see from the table, our construction improves the previously known lower bounds quite a bit in small degree.

| d | $\mu^5_{A_1}(d) \leq$ | # | name, ref., and year | t^1 | t^2 |
|----|-----------------------|--------------------------------|--|----------------------|---|
| 3 | 15 | 15 15 | Veneroni: s. 1.5.3, 1914 Togliatti: s. 2.1, 1936 | $5\\5$ | 0 0 |
| 4 | 126 | $40 \\ 80 \\ 104 \\ 120$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov/L.: s. 4.1, 2005 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | $50 \\ 20 \\ ? \\ 0$ | $0 \\ 10 \\ ? \\ 30$ |
| 5 | 456 | 320 392 420 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 Hirzebruch/L.: s. 3.12, 2005 | 15 ? ? | 119 ? ? |
| 6 | 1506 | 810 1035 1179 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov/L.: s. 4.1, 2005 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | 25 ? ? | 409 ? ? |
| 7 | 3431 | 2430 2583 2781 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov/L.: s. 4.1, 2005 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | ? ? ? | ???? |
| 8 | 7872 | 4320 5488 6016 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov/L.: s. 4.1, 2005 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | ? ? ? | ????? |
| 9 | 14412 | 10240 10368 11328 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov/L.: s. 4.1, 2005 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | ? ? ? | ??????????????????????????????????????? |
| 10 | 27237 | 12500 16000 20525 | Chmutov: s. 3.8 Chmutov: s. 3.8 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | ? ? ? | ?.?. |
| d | ? | $\frac{5}{16}d^{5}$ | L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 | ? | ? |

TABLE 10.4. Nodal Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^5 . The upper bounds are given by Varchenko's spectral bound (section 3.7).

10.1.5. Nodal Cubic Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n . The nodal cubic hypersurfaces are one of the very rare cases in which $\mu_{A_1}^n(d)$ (and even $\mu^n(d)$) is known. The first who showed this was Kalker in his Ph.D. thesis in 1986. As explained

The first who showed this was Kalker in his Ph.D. thesis in 1986. As explained in section 3.11 on page 41, he simply wrote down equations which realize the upper bound provided by Varchenko's spectral bound (section 3.7). Later, Goryunov obtained the same number of nodes on cubics by a different method (section 4.4).

| n | $\mu_{A_1}^n(3) \leq$ | # | name, section, and year | t^1 | t^2 |
|--------|--------------------------|--------------------------------------|--|--|-------------------|
| 3 | 4 | 4 | Schläfli: s. 1.1.1, 1863 | 0 | 0 |
| 4 | 10 | 10 | Segre: s. 1.5.1, 1887 | 0 | 0 |
| 5 | 15 | $\frac{15}{15}$ | Veneroni: s. 1.5.3, 1914 Togliatti: s. 2.1, 1936 | $5\\5$ | 0 0 |
| 6 | 35 | 33 35 35 | Givental: s. 3.9 , ≈ 1982 Kalker: s. 3.11 , 1986 Goryunov: s. 4.4 , 1994 | $\begin{array}{c} 2\\ 0\\ 0\end{array}$ | 0 0 0 |
| 7 | 56 | $54 \\ 56 \\ 56$ | Givental: s. 3.9 , ≈ 1982 Kalker: s. 3.11 , 1986 Goryunov: s. 4.4 , 1994 | $\begin{array}{c} 2\\ 0\\ 0\end{array}$ | 0 0 0 |
| 8 | 126 | $118 \\ 126 \\ 126$ | Givental: s. 3.9 , ≈ 1982 Kalker: s. 3.11 , 1986 Goryunov: s. 4.4 , 1994 | 0 0 0 | $34 \\ 42 \\ 42$ |
| 9 | 210 | 189 210 210 | Givental: s. 3.9 , ≈ 1982 Kalker: s. 3.11 , 1986 Goryunov: s. 4.4 , 1994 | $\begin{array}{c} 3 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array}$ | 72 90 90 |
| 10 | 462 | $ 414 \\ 462 \\ 462 $ | Givental: s. 3.9 , ≈ 1982 Kalker: s. 3.11 , 1986 Goryunov: s. 4.4 , 1994 | 0 0 0 | 249 297 297 |
| n odd | $\binom{n+1}{[(n+1)/2]}$ | $\binom{n+1}{[(n+1)/2]}$ | Kalker: s. 3.11, 1986 | ? | ? |
| n even | $\binom{n+1}{[n/2]}$ | $\binom{n+1}{[n/2]}$ | Kalker: s. 3.11, 1986 | ? | ? |

TABLE 10.5. Cubics in \mathbb{P}^n . The upper bounds are given by Varchenko's spectral bound, see section 3.7 on page 35.

10.1.6. Nodal Quartic Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n . Although Goryunov (section 4.4) used the same method for constructing his quartics as for his cubics, the quartics do not reach Varchenko's upper bound (section 3.7).

Is Goryunov's construction already the best possible or is it possible to produce more nodes? It would be interesting to try to answer to this question, at least for small n. As table 10.6 shows, already for n = 5 there is a gap of 6 between Goryunov's lower bound and Varchenko's upper bound.

| d | $\mu_{A_1}^n(4) \leq$ | # | name, section, and year | t^1 | t^2 |
|---|---|--|--|---|---|
| 3 | 16 | 16 | Fresnel, Kummer: s. 1.2 , $1819/64$ | 3 | 0 |
| 4 | 45 | $\begin{array}{c} 24 \\ 45 \end{array}$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 Burkardt: s. 1.5.2, 1891 | 0 0 | 0 0 |
| 5 | 126 | $40 \\ 80 \\ 104 \\ 120$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | $50 \\ 20 \\ ? \\ 0$ | $\begin{array}{c} 0 \\ 10 \\ ? \\ 30 \end{array}$ |
| 6 | 357 | $\begin{array}{c}160\\300\\336\end{array}$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | 36 ? 0 | ${35 \\ ? \\ 175}$ |
| 7 | 1016 | $280 \\ 560 \\ 804 \\ 896 \\ 938$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | $63 \\ 28 \\ ? \\ 0 \\ ? \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ ? \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1 \\ 1$ | $77 \\ 322 \\ ? \\ 630 \\ ? \\$ |
| 8 | 2907 | $\frac{1120}{2337}\\2688$ | Chmutov: s. 3.8, 1982 L.: s. 5.6.1, 2005 Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | 36 ? 0 | $742 \\ ? \\ 2274$ |
| n | $\approx \frac{\sqrt{3}}{2} \cdot \frac{3^{n+1}}{\sqrt{\pi n}}$ | $2^{2n/3} \binom{n+1}{[2n/3]+1}$ | Goryunov: s. 4.4, 1994 | ? | ? |

TABLE 10.6. Quartics in \mathbb{P}^n . The upper bounds are given by Varchenko's spectral bound, see section 3.7 on page 35.

10.2. Higher Singularities

Not much is known on the maximum number of higher singularities on hypersurfaces of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n . Even in \mathbb{P}^3 , there are only few results such as Barth's surfaces with many cusps (section 4.11 on page 55).

Our general constructions from chapter 5 on page 67 improve most known lower bounds for the maximum number of A_j -singularities on a hypersurface of degree din \mathbb{P}^n , $n \geq 3$, significantly.

To our knowledge, there are almost no results for other singularities except very general ones like those based on Viro's patchworking method (section 4.12 on page 57).

10.2.1. Hypersurfaces with A_j -Singularities in \mathbb{P}^3 . The projective threespace is still the field of most active research in the subject of hypersurfaces with many singularities. Our results from chapter 5 on page 67 improve most previously known bounds as table 10.7 shows.

Note that even the cases of $j \ge 2$, $d \ge 5$ which are not marked in bold have been overlooked for some time. These lower bounds come from Gallarati's generalization of B. Segre's construction which we have been working out in section 2.5 on page 24.

| jd | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | d |
|----|---------------|--|--|--|--|-----------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------------|--|
| 1 | $\frac{4}{4}$ | $\underbrace{\begin{smallmatrix} 16\\ \\ 16 \end{smallmatrix}}_{16}$ | 31 31 | 65 65 | 99 104 | 168 174 | 226 246 | 345 360 | 425 480 | 600 645 | $\approx \underbrace{{}^{5/12}_{4/9}} \cdot d^3$ |
| 2 | 3/3 | 8/8 | $\underbrace{\overset{15}{\overbrace{20}}}_{20}$ | 36 37 | 52 62 | 70 98 | 126 144 | 159 202 | 225 275 | 300 363 | $\approx \frac{2/9}{1/4} \cdot d^3$ |
| 3 | $\frac{1}{1}$ | $\frac{6}{6}$ | $\underbrace{\overset{10}{\overbrace{13}}}^{10}$ | $\underbrace{\overset{15}{\overbrace{26}}}_{26}$ | $\underbrace{\overset{31}{\overset{44}{\overset{44}}}$ | 64 69 | 72 102 | 114 144 | 140 195 | 198 258 | $\approx \frac{11/72}{8/45} \cdot d^3$ |
| 4 | $\frac{1}{1}$ | $\frac{4}{4}$ | 10/11 | $\underbrace{\overset{15}{\overbrace{}}_{20}}$ | $21 \\ 35$ | 32 54 | 54 80 | 100 | 110 152 | 132 201 | $\approx \frac{7/60}{5/36} \cdot d^3$ |

TABLE 10.7. Known upper and lower bounds for the maximum number $\mu_{A_j}(d)$ of singularities of type A_j , j = 1, 2, 3, 4, on a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 .

10.2.2. Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^n with A_j -Singularities, $j \geq 2, n \geq 4$. Our results from chapter 5 on page 67 also improve most previously known bounds in higher dimensions. In the lower two rows, table 10.8 shows the asymptotic behaviour of our two variants of the construction with many A_j -singularities: One uses Breske's folding polynomials associated to the root system B_2 , the other uses those associated to the root system A_2 which Chmutov already used in the nodal case. Notice that for high degree d, $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2})$ is better than $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{A_2})$ for $n \geq 5$ if $j \geq 2$.

| n | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 |
|--|-------------------------|---|-------------------------|--------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu^n_{A_2}(d) \gtrsim$ | $\frac{2}{9}$ | $\frac{2}{9}$ $\frac{13}{72}$ $\frac{1}{6}$ | | $\frac{13}{96}$ | $\frac{55}{384}$ | $\frac{15}{128}$ |
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu^n_{A_3}(d) \gtrapprox$ | $\frac{11}{72}$ | $\frac{1}{8}$ | $\frac{11}{96}$ | $\frac{3}{32}$ | $\frac{25}{256}$ | $\tfrac{125}{1536}$ |
| $\tfrac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu^n_{A_4}(d) \gtrapprox$ | $\frac{7}{60}$ | $\frac{23}{240}$ | $\frac{7}{80}$ | $\frac{23}{320}$ | $\frac{19}{256}$ | $\frac{1}{16}$ |
| $\boxed{\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{A_2})) \approx}$ | $\tfrac{3j+2}{6j(j+1)}$ | $\tfrac{5\mathbf{j}+3}{\mathbf{12j}(\mathbf{j}+1)}$ | $\frac{7j+3}{18j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{7j+4}{24j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{19j+16}{72j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{35j+19}{144j(j+1)}$ |
| $\frac{1}{d^n} \cdot \mu(\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2})) \approx$ | $\frac{2j+1}{4j(j+1)}$ | $\frac{3j+2}{8j(j+1)}$ | $rac{3j+2}{8j(j+1)}$ | $\tfrac{5j+3}{16j(j+1)}$ | $\tfrac{20j+15}{64j(j+1)}$ | $\tfrac{35j+20}{128j(j+1)}$ |

TABLE 10.8. The asymptotic behaviour of the number of A_j singularities on a hypersurface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^n . $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{B_2})$ is better than $\operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_d^{A_2})$ for $n \geq 6$.





Figure on the preceding pages: A cubic surface (dark) with one A_3 -singularity and two nodes. The brighter surface is its covariant of degree 9 which cuts out its lines. See [LvS00] for more images and movies of cubic surfaces.

Part 3

Visualization
INTRODUCTION

Introduction

If a surface with many singularities is defined over the reals then it is sometimes nice to have an image of it. But this is not the only reason why one would like to have good visualizations of singular surfaces.

In chapter 12 we show how to use our visualization tools SPICY and SURFEX to construct good equations for all 45 topological types of real cubic surfaces with only rational double points. Furthermore, in many cases visualization is a very good tool to understand the geometry of some constructions in an intuitive way. And this can help to construct new intesting examples based on these known ones.

Before that, we give a short overview of different methods for visualizing algebraic geometry ranging from classical approaches to modern interactive computer software.



The swallowtail. Our SINGULAR library SURFEX.LIB is able to visualize this famous surface correctly. It contains a real curve which is not contained in the real two-dimensional part of the surface.

CHAPTER 11

Methods for Visualizing Algebraic Geometry

11.1. Classical Approaches

Since the early days of algebraic geometry, mathematicians visualize their objects of study. Drawings by hand are easy for curves and surfaces of degree $d \leq 2$. It is even not difficult to draw curves of higher degree when computing many points and other important data like the coordinates of their singularities and inflexion points. Drawing images of cubic surfaces is already much more involved. Nevertheless, the literature of the 19th century contains some very good visualizations. Some people (e.g., Clebsch, Wiener, Rodenberg, and Klein) even produced real-world models of algebraic surfaces of low degree as we already mentioned in section 1.1.3 on page 15. These were mostly made out of plaster or wood. Of course, the production of interesting surfaces of higher degree ($d \geq 5$) was almost impossible because of their complexity. Models of algebraic surfaces were even produced and sold for high prices (see [Sch11]). But from the 1930's on visualization of mathematics was frowned upon for many years.

11.2. The First Visualization Software

Visualization entered back into the world of algebraic geometry in the mid-1980's. E.g., Fischer's book on mathematical models appeared at that time; in connection with this, some of the old plaster models were reproduced.

Shortly afterwards, the first software visualization tools have been developped. Until now the one that produces the best images of singular algebraic surfaces is still Endraß's SURF [End01] the first version of which he implemented during the writing of his diploma thesis. SURF is based on the raytracing method similar to POVRAY. The latter is a much more general program which allows raytracing of any real-world scene. But besides the fact that we personally prefer the images produced by SURF, Endraß's software has the advantage of being quicker. This is important for our application as we will see later. SURF was even used to construct a model of the Clebsch Diagonal Cubic at Fischer's university at Düsseldorf which is a few meters tall (see [Kae99]): The constructors used the software for drawing many plane sections of the surface which served as the basis for the modelling process.

Another promissing approach to the visualization of algebraic surfaces is triangulation. In the smooth case, it is not difficult to implement a good algorithm for this purpose. In the singular case, the best existing software is still Morris's software ASURF from the LSMP package [Mor03] for which he implemented a web-frontend using JAVAVIEW (see [Pol01]). His program is based on heuristics and does not produce satisfactory results in many cases. To our knowledge, recent ideas on the triangulation of singular surfaces, e.g. by Mourrain's group in Nice, have not been implemented yet.

11. METHODS FOR VISUALIZING ALGEBRAIC GEOMETRY

Together with so-called 3*d*-printers the triangulation software allows the machineproduction of real-world models. To our knowledge, this technique was first used by mathematicians-sculpturs like Helaman Ferguson, Bathsheba Grossman, Georg Hart. Recently, the architect Jonathan Chertok reproduced the whole Rodenberg series by this method based on the equations communicated to him by several mathematicians including the author. In order to make the production of such models easier, we implemented an extension for SURF based on Johannes Beigel's version of the program which uses the triangulation library GTS. Unfortunately, this softare is not in a publishable state yet, but it already allowed us to produce several examples, e.g. the first model of a 30-cuspidal sextic surface with the symmetry of an icosahedron and a reproduction of a Clebsch diagonal cubic (fig. 11.1).



FIGURE 11.1. A reproduction of Clebsch's diagonal cubic surface using a 3*d*-printer based on the data produced using our extension of SURF.

11.3. Interactive Software

With our interactive visualization software SPICY and SURFEX we aim to go one step further: The user can include the coordinates of points of a plane geometry construction into the equations of algebraic plane curves and surfaces. If the user then moves the points then the images of the algebraic varieties change accordingly. This makes the interactive visualization of deformations and other processes possible.

11.3.1. SPICY — Interactive Constructive and Algebraic Geometry. The core of the computer software SPICY (up to now only available as a pre-version from [Lab03b]) is a constructive geometry program designed both for visualizing geometrical facts interactively on a computer and for including them in publications. Its main features are:

- Connection to external software like the computer algebra system SIN-GULAR ([GPS01]) and the visualization software SURF ([End01]) which enables the user to include algebraic curves and surfaces in dynamic constructions.
- Comfortable graphical user-interface (cf. fig. 11.2) for interactive constructions using the computer-mouse including macro-recording, animation, etc.
- High quality export to .fig-format (and in combination with external software like XFIG or FIG2DEV export to many other formats, like .eps, .pstex, etc.).

We implemented the first particular example of such a tool (called XCSPRG, downloadable from [LvS00]) during the writing of our diploma thesis under the direction of D. van Straten. Van Straten had the idea that SURF should be fast enough to be able to recompute two or three images of cubic surfaces per second. In this way, he wanted to be able to manipulate six points in the plane and see the changing surfaces at the same time. This is exactly the purpose of XCSPRG.

After having received my diploma I developped SPICY as a much more general and powerful tool. Let us illustrate its usefulness again with the example of cubic surfaces:

EXAMPLE 11.1. We take three pairs of two points in the plane each pair connected by a straight line (see fig. 11.2). It is well-known that the blowup of the plane



FIGURE 11.2. A screen shot of the SPICY user interface showing three lines, that meet in a point and the corresponding cubic surface, which contains an Eckardt Point (3). Buttons 1 and 2 are used to draw the lines and the surface, respectively.

in the six points yields a smooth cubic surface if neither three of the points are on a common line nor six of them are on a common conic. Furthermore, the blowup is bijective outside the six base points, and straight lines connecting the base points are mapped to straight lines on the cubic surface. Thus, in order to construct a cubic surface with an Eckardt point (i.e. a point in which three lines meet) we only have to manipulate the six base points until the three lines in the plane meet in a point (see [LvS03] for details).

11.3.2. SURFEX — Intuitive Visualization, even in the Internet. We often simply need a good and easy way to visualize one or more surfaces and/or curves on them. Basically, Schmidt's new version 1.0.3 of Endraß's program SURF can already produce the required images, but it has some major deficiencies concerning the usage. First, one needs to know SURF's programming language. Second, rotation within SURF is far from intuitive. The purpose of our tool SURFEX [HLM05] is exactly to fill in this blank. Thus, SURFEX is basically an easy-to-use frontend for SURF which allows intuitive rotation, scaling, and usage in general, even in the internet. We demonstrate its usefulness at a concrete example in the next chapter.

11.3.3. SURFEX.LIB — a SINGULAR Interface for SURFEX. The current version of SURFEX has the problem that it uses the raytracer SURF for visualizing

algebraic surfaces. And the raytracing technique is not able to visualize real onedimensional parts of a surface such as the handle of the Whitney umbrella if it is not specified as the intersection of surfaces.



FIGURE 11.3. SURFEX.LIB can also visualize surfaces with real curves which are not contained in the real two-dimensional part of the surface such as the swallowtail.

In combination with SINGULAR, this problem can be solved. SINGULAR can compute the singular locus of a given surface and can then pass those surfaces which cut out the singular curves to SURFEX. E.g., the following code produces a correct image of the swallowtail (see fig. 11.3):

```
LIB "surfex.lib";
ring r = 0,(x,y,z),dp;
poly swallowtail = -4*y^2*z^3-16*x*z^4+27*y^4
+144*x*y^2*z+128*x^2*z^2-256*x^3;
plotRotated(swallowtail, list(x,y,z),2);
```



The four-nodal Cayley cubic and its nine lines. The facts that a cubic cannot contain more than four singularities and that any four-nodal cubic contains exactly nine different lines was already known to the geometers of the $19^{\rm th}$ century.

CHAPTER 12

Illustrating the Classification of Real Cubic Surfaces

In this chapter we demonstrate the usefulness of our visualization tools SPICY and SURFEX for working with algebraic surfaces. Our example is the very classical subject of real cubic surfaces. We will see that the use of our software does not only allow us to visualize existing surfaces, but also helps to produce equations of surfaces (see also [LvS03], [HL05], [LvS00]).

In 1987, Knörrer and Miller [**KM87**] classified all real cubic surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with respect to their topological type. Roughly, the authors say that two cubic surfaces have the same topological type if they can be transformed continuously into each other without changing the shape. A similar classification had already been given by Schläfli in the 19th century [**Sch63**], but Knörrer and Miller obtained more precise and more complete results. Some of these are based on ideas of Bruce and Wall [**BW79**] who gave a modern treatment of the complex case.

Here, we restrict ourselves to cubic surfaces with only rational double points which is the most interesting part of the classification. We give an explicit real affine equation for each class in their list (see table 12.2 on page 145). These allow us to draw images for each class showing all singularities and lines (see fig. 12.3, 12.4, 12.5) using our software SURFEX [**HLM05**].

In the already cited article, Schläfi also gave equations for each of his types and described their construction in a very geometric way. In many cases, it is easy to find real affine equations from these with the help of our tool SURFEX. But in the other cases, there are too many free parameters and we have to use other methods such as the deformation techniques described by Klein [Kle73].

To perform these deformations explicitly, it is useful to have a visualization software at hand. We explain how to use our software SURFEX for such purposes. SURFEX can be used directly on our webpage [Lab03a]. It can produce high quality raytraced images for publications in color or in black/white. Indeed, all the images in this chapter are produced using SURFEX in connection with SINGULAR [GPS01]. This computer algebra program has been used to compute a primary decomposition of the ideal (f, F_9) describing the 27 lines of f with multiplicities which allowed us to draw the lines on the surfaces using SURFEX. Here, F_9 denotes Clebsch's covariant of degree 9 (see, e.g., [LvS03, appendix 4.1] for a determinental formula for this covariant).

The webpage www.CubicSurface.net [LvS00] contains some movies and more images. SURFEX [HLM05] uses S. Endraß's SURF [End01] to produce the high quality raytraced images of the surfaces and R. Morris's LSMP [Mor03] and K. Polthier's JAVAVIEW [Pol01] to allow rotation and scaling of a triangulated preview.

142 12. ILLUSTRATING THE CLASSIFICATION OF REAL CUBIC SURFACES

Several mathematicians have already given real affine equations for particularly interesting cubic surfaces such as the Clebsch Diagonal Surface or the four-nodal cubic surface. For some examples of Rodenberg's series there also exist affine equations. But this series is restricted to only a few types of cubic surfaces, and several of Rodenberg's models do not show all the projective real lines because some are at infinity. In fact, this was Rodenberg's intention: His aim was to give an overview of the possible singularities on cubic surfaces and the possible affine views of the projective surfaces.

Here, instead, we do not show different affine views of the same surface. We choose real affine equations that allow us to show all singularities and lines in a single image (or a single real-world model if we use 3d-printers).

12.1. Knörrer/Miller's 45 Types of Real Cubic Surfaces

To state Knörrer/Miller's classification of real cubic surfaces with only rational double points as singularities we need the following definition. For details and additional results we refer to their article [KM87].

DEFINITION 12.1 (p. 54/55 in [KM87]).

(1) $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}$ denotes the number of (-2)-curves defined over \mathbb{R} in the dual resolution graph of a rational double point that is defined over \mathbb{R} . ν denotes the number of pairs of non-intersecting complex conjugate (-2)-curves in this graph.

| _ | Name | Old Name | Normal Form | Coxeter Diagram | $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}$ | ν | |
|---|----------------------------|------------|------------------------|-----------------|--------------------|-------|----------|
| | A^{2k} | B_{2k+1} | $x^{2k+1} + y^2 - z^2$ | •••• | 2k | 0 | k = 1, 2 |
| | A_{2k}^+ | B_{2k+1} | $x^{2k+1} + y^2 + z^2$ | •• | 0 | k-1 | k = 1 |
| | A_{2k-1}^{-} | B_{2k} | $x^{2k} + y^2 - z^2$ | •••• | 2k - 1 | 0 | k = 2, 3 |
| | A^{+}_{2k-1} | | $x^{2k} - y^2 - z^2$ | •• | 1 | k-1 | k = 2 |
| | A_1^- | C_2 | $x^2 + y^2 - z^2$ | • | 1 | 0 | |
| | $A_1^{\boldsymbol{\cdot}}$ | C_2 | $x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ | • | 1 | 0 | |
| | D_4^- | U_6 | $x^2y - y^3 - z^2$ | • -< | 4 | 0 | |
| | D_4^+ | U_6 | $x^2y + y^3 + z^2$ | \leftarrow | 2 | 1 | |
| | D_5^- | U_7 | $x^2y + y^4 - z^2$ | •••• | 5 | 0 | |
| | E_6^- | U_8 | $x^3 + y^4 - z^2$ | • • • • • | 6 | 0 | |

TABLE 12.1. The types of singularities occuring on real cubic surfaces, their normal forms, their Coxeter diagrams, and the numbers $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}$ and ν .

- (2) Let Σ be a sequence of six points defined over \mathbb{R} in almost general position in $\mathbb{P}^2(\mathbb{C})$ in the sense of [**Dem80**, p. 39]. Then there exists $r(\Sigma) \in \mathbb{N}_0$, s.t. Σ consists of 2r points that are invariant under complex conjugation and 6-2r pairwise complex conjugate points. We call $r(\Sigma)$ the reality index of Σ .
- (3) Let X be a cubic surface in P(C) defined over R with only rational double points. The reality index r(X) of X is defined as follows: Let X̃ denote the desingularization of X and X̄(Σ) the blowup of P²(C) along Σ. Then, r(X) = r(Σ), if X̃ ≅ X̄(Σ) for a sequence Σ of six points in almost general position in P²(C). Otherwise, r(X) = -1.

Using this notion it is possible to compute the number of lines on a real cubic surface:

THEOREM 12.1 (Satz 2.8 in [KM87]). Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ be a cubic surface defined over \mathbb{R} with only rational double points as singularities. Suppose that the real part $X_{\mathbb{R}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ of X has k singular points. Denote by $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(X)$ the sum of the $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}$ for these singular points and by $\nu(X)$ the sum of the ν of all singularities on X. Then the real part $X_{\mathbb{R}}$ contains exactly $l(X_{\mathbb{R}})$ lines, where

(12.1)
$$l(X_{\mathbb{R}}) = \frac{(2+2r(X)-\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(X))(1+2r(X)-\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(X))}{2} - (r(X)-2) + k - \nu(X).$$

For a cubic surface $X \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ we can read the topology of its real part $X_{\mathbb{R}} \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ from the reality index. E.g., the five smooth cubic surfaces, classically denoted by F_1, F_2, \ldots, F_5 (see [Seg42]), are classified by the reality index, e.g., $r(F_5) = -1$.

EXAMPLE 12.1. We illustrate the previous theorem using our software SPICY: We construct five points on a circle and another point. Furthermore, we write a SINGULAR procedure which computes the equation of the cubic surface and the lines on them (this can be done by only computing 3×3 determinants, see e.g. [LvS03]). We can now tell SPICY to recompute the equation and then SURF to draw the corresponding image each time one of the six points has been moved (see figure 12.1, for details we refer to [LvS03]). Using Knörrer/Miller's formula (12.1), it is easy to compute the number of lines for the surface X in the leftmost figure. This one is smooth, i.e. $k = \mu_{\mathbb{R}}(X) = \nu(X) = 0$, and all the six points are real, i.e. r(X) = 3. By the formula, X contains l(X) = 27 real lines (which is also easy to see by other means).



FIGURE 12.1. The blowing-up of the projective plane in six points, such that all six are on a common conic, is a cubic surface with an ordinary double point. Note the changing of the lines, when we drag the point P_2 . When P_2 lies on the conic through the other five points, $2 \cdot 6$ lines meet in the double point (1b - 3b) and six pairs of two lines coincide (1a - 3a).

144 12. ILLUSTRATING THE CLASSIFICATION OF REAL CUBIC SURFACES

Now let the sixth point also be on the circle as in the rightmost figure. Then it is well-known that the corresponding cubic surface develops an A_1^- -singularity and that twelve of the 27 lines pass through this ordinary double point and coincide in pairs. This development can be visualized interactively using SPICY by moving the sixth point slowly. According to table 12.1 on page 142 $\mu_{\mathbb{R}}(Y) = 1$, $\nu(X) = 0$ for the 1-nodal cubic surface Y and of course k = 1. Formula (12.1) thus gives 21 as required.

We can now state Knörrer/Miller's main result on cubic surfaces with only rational double points:

THEOREM 12.2 (Classification, Liste 4 in [KM87]). Let $X \subset \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{C})$ be a cubic surface defined over \mathbb{R} with only rational double points and let $X_{\mathbb{R}} = X \cap \mathbb{P}^3(\mathbb{R})$ be its real part. Then the topological type of $X_{\mathbb{R}}$ is one of the 45 types given in table 12.2 on the next page. If X has exactly $3A_1^-$ singularities and X contains exactly 12 lines (no. 18/19 in the table) then its topological type can be determined by prop. 12.3 below. Otherwise, the topological type of X is determined by its singularities, its number of lines, and the reality index r(X).

To explain how to distinguish between the topological types 18 and 19, we need Knörrer/Miller's notion of a *configuration type of an* A_1^- *singularity*. We only give a sloppy definition and illustrate it using SURFEX, see [KM87, p. 63] for details. For this local study we have to work in affine space:

For an A_1^- singularity, the tangent cone is of the form $x^2 + y^2 - z^2$. This cone intersects the cubic surface X in a curve of degree $2 \cdot 3 = 6$, which consists in fact of six lines, counted with multiplicities. Knörrer/Miller describe such a configuration by a small circle together with six points (counted with multiplicities) because a small real sphere around the singularity intersects X in two small real "circles" (fig. 12.2 on page 146). On each of these circles there lies one point of each of the real lines. Therefore, Knörrer/Miller denote a pair of complex conjugated lines by a point in the center of the circle, the real points are drawn on the circle in the correct order. Different such configurations correspond to cubic surfaces of different topological types.

EXAMPLE 12.2. Example (a) is a configuration with one real point of multiplicity 2, two real ones of multiplicity 1, and two complex conjugated ones. The other two examples show two doubled and two simple points (see fig. 12.2):

(a)
$$(b) (c) (KM_{18}), (c) (c) (KM_{19}).$$

PROPOSITION 12.3 (Topological Types 18/19, p. 63 in **[KM87]**). If a cubic surface X has exactly $3A_1^-$ singularities and contains 12 lines then X has the topological type 18 if the singular points have a configuration of type \bigcirc (example 12.2 (b)). Otherwise, the A_1^- singularities of X have a configuration of type \bigcirc (example 12.2 (c)) and X has the topological type 19.

| Name | Sp. | Cl. | Sing. | | | Equation |
|------------------------|------|---------|-----------------------|---------|----------------|--|
| KM_1 | I | 12 | Ø | 3 | 27 | $\operatorname{KM}_{27} + \frac{3}{2}(x^2 + y^2 - z^3)$ |
| KM_2 | Ι | 12 | Ø | 2 | 15 | $\mathrm{KM}_{27} + \frac{8}{5}((z+1)^2 - z^2)$ |
| ${\rm KM}_3$ | | 12 | | 1 | $\overline{7}$ | $\mathrm{KM}_{27} + \frac{2}{3}((z+1)^2 + (x-1)^2) - 4y^2$ |
| KM_4 | | 12 | Ø | | | $\mathrm{KM}_2 - 4$ |
| KM_5 | | 12 | Ø | $^{-1}$ | 3 | $\mathrm{KM}_{27} - \frac{2}{3}((z+1)^2 + z^2)$ |
| KM_{6} | II | 10 | A_1^- | 3 | 21 | $KM_{27} + 2(x^2 + y^2)$ |
| KM_{7} | | 10 | A_{1}^{-} | 2 | 11 | $KM_{27} + z^3 + y^2$ |
| KM_{8} | | 10 | A_{1}^{-} | 1 | 5 | $	ext{KM}_{27} + z^3 + y^2 \\ 	ext{KM}_6 - 4y^2 \\ 	ext{KM}_6 - 3(x^2 + y^2) \\ 	ext{KM}_6 - 3(x^2 + y^2) \\ 	ext{KM}_6 + y^2 \\ 	e$ |
| KM_{9} | | 10 | A_{1}^{-} | 0 | 3 | $KM_6 - 3(x^2 + y^2)$ |
| KM_{10} | | | A_1 | 0 | 3 | $pc + (z+1) \cdot z^2$ |
| KM_{11} | | | | | | |
| KM_{12} | IV | 8 | $2A_{1}^{1}$ | 2 | 8 | $KM_{27} + z^2 - \frac{1}{2}(x + \frac{1}{2})^2$ |
| KM_{13} | ĪV | 8 | $2A_{1}^{-}$ | 1 | 4 | $KM_{27} - y^2$ |
| KM_{14} | III | 9 | A_{\circ}^{-1} | 3 | 15 | $KM_{21} + \frac{1}{12}(y-1)^2$ |
| KM_{15} | III | 9 | A_{2}^{2} | 2 | 7 | $pl + z^3 - z^2(x-1) - \frac{1}{z}(x-y)^2$ |
| KM_{16} | III | 9 | A_{2}^{-} | 1 | 3 | $KM_{43} - y^2$ |
| KM_{17} | III | 9 | A_{2}^{+} | 0 | 3 | $pc + z^3$ |
| KM_{18} | VIII | 6 | $3A_{-}^{-}$ | 3 | 12 | $ \begin{array}{l} \operatorname{KM}_{27} + y^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{27} + z^2 - \frac{1}{5}(x + \frac{1}{2})^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{27} - y^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{21} + \frac{1}{10}(y - 1)^2 \\ pl + z^3 - z^2(x - 1) - \frac{1}{5}(x - y)^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} - y^2 \\ pc + z^3 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} + z^2(x + \frac{1}{2}) \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} + 2z^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} + 2z^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} + 2z^2 \\ \operatorname{KM}_{43} + 2z^2 \end{array} $ |
| KM_{19} | VIII | 6 | $3A_{1}^{-}$ | 3 | 12 | $KM_{42} + 2z^2$ |
| KM_{20} | VIII | 6 | $3A_{-}^{-}$ | 2 | 6 | $\mathrm{KM}_{27} - z^2$ |
| KM_{21} | VI | 7 | A = A = | 3 | 11 | $nl + r^3 + r^2(r + u - 2) + \frac{1}{2}(r - 1)^2$ |
| KM_{22} | VI | 7 | $A_{-}^{-}A_{-}^{-}$ | 2 | 5 | $p_{l}^{2} + z^{2} + z^{2}(x + y) + \frac{1}{2}(x - 1)^{2}$ |
| KM_{23} | V | 8 | A_{\circ}^{-} | 3 | 10 | $wxy + (x + z)(y^2 - (\frac{2}{2}x)^2 - (\frac{3}{2}z)^2), w = 1 - x$ |
| KM_{24} | v | 8 | A_{-}^{-} | 2 | 4 | $p_{1}(x) + z + z^{2}(x + y - 2) + \frac{1}{10}(x - 1)^{2}$ $p_{1}(x) + z^{3}(x + y) + \frac{1}{5}(x - 1)^{2}$ $wxy + (x + z)(y^{2} - (\frac{2}{3}x)^{2} - (\frac{3}{5}z)^{2}), w = 1 - x$ $KM_{32} - \frac{1}{100}z^{2}(x - z)$ $KM_{32} + \frac{1}{100}z^{2}(x - z)$ $2(x^{2} + y^{2})w + 2x(z^{2} - 2x^{2} - 4y^{2}), w = 1 - y$ $4(x + \frac{1}{2}) + 2(x^{2} + z^{2})(x - \xi) = x(2 + 4x + 7z^{2})$ |
| KM_{25} | v | 8 | A_{-}^{-} | 1 | 2 | $KM_{22} + \frac{1}{100}z^2(x-z)$ |
| KM_{26} | v | 8 | A_{2}^{+} | 1 | 4 | $2(x^{2} + y^{2})w + 2x(z^{2} - 2x^{2} - 4y^{2}), w = 1 - y$ |
| KM_{27} | XVI | 4 | $4A_1^-$ | 3 | 9 | $4(pc + \frac{1}{2}) + 3(x^2 + y^2)(z - 6) - z(3 + 4z + 7z^2)$ |
| KM_{28} | XIII | 5 | $A_{-}^{-}2A_{-}^{-}$ | 3 | 8 | $KM_{43} + z^2(x+2)$ |
| KM_{29} | IX | 6 | $2A_{2}^{-}$ | 3 | 7 | $ \begin{array}{l} \text{KM}_{43} + z^2(x+2) \\ \text{KM}_{43} + (x-1)z \end{array} $ |
| KM ₃₀ | IX | 6 | $2A_{-}^{-}$ | 2 | 3 | $\operatorname{KM}_{43} - \frac{3}{10}(x-1)^2$ |
| KM_{31} | X | 6 | $A_{-}^{-}A_{-}^{-}$ | 3 | 7 | $wxz - (x+z)(x^2 - y^2), w = 1 - z$ |
| KM_{32} | X | 6 | $A^{-}A^{-}$ | 2 | 3 | $wxy - (x + z)(x^2 + y^2)$ $w = 1 - z$ |
| KM ₃₃ | VII | 7 | A_{-}^{-} | 3 | 6 | $\begin{aligned} & xxy + (x + z)(x + y), & w = 1 - z \\ & wxy + y^2 z + yx^2 - z^3, & w = 1 - x - y - z \\ & wxy - y^2 z + yx^2 - z^3, & w = 1 - x - y - z \\ & (x + y + z)^2 w + xyz, & w = \frac{1}{2}(1 - x - y - z) \\ & (x + y + z)^2 w + (x^2 + y^2)z, & w = \frac{1}{2}(1 - x - y - z) \\ & \text{KM}_{43} + (x - 1)z^2 \end{aligned}$ |
| KM_{34} | VII | 7 | A^{-} | 2 | 2 | $wxy + yz + yx^2 - z^3, w = 1 - x - y - z$ |
| KM_{35} | XII | 6 | D_4^- | 3 | 6 | $(x + y + z)^{2}w + xyz, w = \frac{1}{2}(1 - x - y - z)$ |
| KM ₃₆ | XII | 6 | D_4^+ | 1 | 2 | $\frac{(x+y+z)^2w + (x^2+y^2)z}{(x+y+z)^2w + (x^2+y^2)z}, w = \frac{1}{2}(1-x-y-z)$ |
| KM_{37} | | 4 | $2A_{2}^{-}A_{1}^{-}$ | 3 | 5 | $(\omega + g + z) = (\omega + g) (z) (\omega - g) (z)$ $KM_{42} + (x - 1) z^2$ |
| $\rm KM_{38}$ | | 4 | $A_3^- 2A_1^-$ | 3 | 5 | $wxz + y^{2}(x+z), w = 2(1+x-y+z)$ |
| KM_{39} | XIV | | | 3 | 4 | $wxz - y^2z + \frac{1}{2}x^2y, w = \frac{1}{8}(1 - y - z)$ |
| KM_{40} | XI | 6 | A_{-}^{-} | 3 | 3 | $wxz + y^2z + x^3 - z^3, w = 1 - x$ |
| KM_{41} | XI | 6 | <u>4</u> - | 2 | 1 | $wxz + yz + x^{3} + z^{3}, w = 1$ |
| KM_{41} KM_{42} | XV | 5 | D_{-}^{-15} | 2 | 3 | $wxz + y^{2}z + x^{3} + z^{3}, w = 1$ $wx^{2} + y^{2}z + xz^{2}, w = 1 + x$ |
| KM_{42} KM_{43} | XXI | 3 | $3A_2^-$ | 3 | 3 | $\frac{du}{dt} + \frac{g}{dt} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{du}{dt} + \frac{du}{dt} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{du}{dt}$ |
| | XIX | | $A^{-}_{-}A^{-}_{-}$ | 3 | 2 | $wxz - y^2 z - x^3, w = 1 - z$ |
| | XIX | -± ⊿ | $E_6^{-A_5 A_1}$ | 3 | 2 1 | $x^{2} - y^{2} - x^{2}, w = 1 - 2$ $x^{2} w - xz^{2} + y^{3}, w = 1 - x - y$ |
| 111145 | | | | | | x w - xz + y, $w = 1 - x - y$ |

TABLE 12.2. Our nice real affine equations for Knörrer/Miller's 45 topological types. The abreviation Sp. denotes Schläfli's *species* of the surface, Cl. its class, Sing. its singularities. r denotes the reality index and l the number of real lines on the surface.

12. ILLUSTRATING THE CLASSIFICATION OF REAL CUBIC SURFACES



FIGURE 12.2. The configuration of the lines cut out by the tangent cone at one of the three A_1^- singularities of our surfaces with topological types no. 18 and 19. For each of the surfaces, we show two views (a), (b) from different angles. The white lines have multiplicity two, the black ones have multiplicity one. The figure above illustrates how SURFEX can draw curves on surfaces using the corresponding feature of SURF. To draw the two doubled white lines, we computed the equations f4, f5 cutting these out on the surface using SINGULAR. Then we chose the numbers of the equations from the drop down menu in the row called C2 and selected the color white.

12.2. Constructing Nice Real Affine Equations

12.2.1. Nice Equations. By a *nice* real affine equation \underline{f} for a given topological type t we mean an equation, s.t. its projective closure \overline{f} has the required topological type and s.t. the plane at infinity neither contains a singularity nor a line of \overline{f} . It has also to be possible to see all its singularities and lines in a single picture (modulo guessing using symmetries). This is not a precise definition. Nevertheless, we formulate our main result in the form of a theorem:

THEOREM 12.4. For each topological type $t \in \{1, 2, ..., 45\}$ of real cubic surfaces with only rational double points there is a nice affine equation KM_t in the sense of the preceding paragraph. The equations KM_t are given in table 12.2 on page 145 and the corresponding pictures are shown in the figures 12.3, 12.4, 12.5. The colors of the lines indicate their multiplicities.

REMARK 12.5. For a nice equation for a given topological we do not require the greatest possible symmetry because we want the equations to be generic in the sense that the configuration of the lines on the surface should not be too special. E.g., the Clebsch Cubic Surface has 10 so-called Eckardt Points in which three of its 27 real lines meet, but a generic cubic surface with 27 lines does not have any such point.



FIGURE 12.3. The surfaces KM_1, \ldots, KM_{15} . The colors of the lines indicate their multiplicities: $\blacksquare 1$, $\blacksquare 2$, $\blacksquare 3$, $\blacksquare 4$, $\blacksquare 5$, $\blacksquare 6$, $\blacksquare 8$, $\blacksquare 9$, $\blacksquare 10$, $\blacksquare 12$, $\blacksquare 15$, $\blacksquare 16$, $\blacksquare 27$.



FIGURE 12.4. The surfaces KM_{16}, \ldots, KM_{30} . The colors of the lines indicate their multiplicities: $\blacksquare 1$, $\blacksquare 2$, $\blacksquare 3$, $\blacksquare 4$, $\blacksquare 5$, $\blacksquare 6$, $\blacksquare 8$, $\blacksquare 9$, $\blacksquare 10$, $\blacksquare 12$, $\blacksquare 15$, $\blacksquare 16$, $\blacksquare 27$.



FIGURE 12.5. The surfaces KM_{31}, \ldots, KM_{45} . The colors of the lines indicate their multiplicities: $\blacksquare 1$, $\blacksquare 2$, $\blacksquare 3$, $\blacksquare 4$, $\blacksquare 5$, $\blacksquare 6$, $\blacksquare 8$, $\blacksquare 9$, $\blacksquare 10$, $\blacksquare 12$, $\blacksquare 15$, $\blacksquare 16$, $\blacksquare 27$.

150 12. ILLUSTRATING THE CLASSIFICATION OF REAL CUBIC SURFACES

REMARK 12.6. Schläfli orders the cubic surfaces first by their class and then by the worst singularity occuring. This differs from Knörrer/Miller's order which is first by the sum of the Milnor numbers of the singularities and then by the worst singularity occuring.

In the following subsections we describe how to construct such surfaces.

12.2.2. Via Projective Equations. For the projective case, Schläffi already gave equations in [Sch63]. He describes in a very geometric way how to construct them. In [Cay69], Cayley gives the same equations again and computes a lot of additional data connected to the surfaces.¹

To obtain a nice real affine equation from one of Schläfli's equations is an easy task for most topological types with higher singularities (A_3 or higher): We just have to choose a good hyperplane at infinity and maybe some constants which is not difficult using our tool SURFEX:

EXAMPLE 12.3. Let us take the equation $wxz + y^2z + x^3 = 0$ given by Schläfli [Sch63, p. 357] for a projective cubic surface with an A_1 and A_5 singularity. The choice w = 1 - z gives our affine equation KM₄₄.

For those surfaces with only A_1 and A_2 singularities, this method does not work well because of the great number of free parameters. In this case, we can either write down the equation directly (section 12.2.3), or we can use a deformation process (section 12.2.4) already described by F. Klein in [Kle73].

12.2.3. Direct Construction. In some cases, it is easy to write down a nice real affine equation for a topological type directly using symmetry. For this purpose, we will use the three plane curves shown in figure 12.6.



FIGURE 12.6. Three plane curves, useful for constructing nice equations for cubic surfaces.

EXAMPLE 12.4 (Constructing KM₄₃ with three A_2^- Singularities). We take the polynomial tl defining three triangle-symmetric lines (fig. 12.6) in the x, y-plane and add the term z^3 : KM₄₃ = $tl + z^3$. At each intersection point of the lines tl, this gives a singularity of type A_2^- with z-coordinate 0, see fig. 12.8(a).

The four-nodal surface KM_{27} can be constructed in a similar way. This and a lot more information on nodal surfaces with dihedral symmetry can be found in S. Endraß's Ph.D. thesis [End96]. The following example uses a plane curve with a solitary point. In the same way we obtain the surface KM_{26} with an A_3^+ singularity.

¹Attention, Cayley's list on p. 321 contains some typos.

EXAMPLE 12.5 (Constructing KM₁₀ with an A_1 Singularity). To construct a surface with an A_1 Singularity which has the normal form $x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ we start with the triangle-symmetric plane cubic pc (fig. 12.6 on the facing page). The origin is a solitary point (i.e., a singularity with normal form $x^2 + y^2$). Thus the surface $pc+z^2$ has an A_1 singularity with normal form $x^2 + y^2 + z^2$ and is triangle-symmetric. To obtain the desired affine topology we require a third root on the $\{x = y = 0\}$ axes at z = -1: KM₁₀ = $pc + (z + 1) \cdot z^2$.

12.2.4. The Deformation Process. Klein's strategy for obtaining surfaces with fewer singularities from surfaces with many singularities is based on the fact that any singularity on a cubic surface can be deformed separately.

By the definition of a singularity, the origin can only be a singularity of an affine surface f if the tangent cone of f has degree at least 2. Thus, in order to smooth an isolated singularity at the origin, we can simply add a term of degree 1 or 0. But which terms can we add to the equation of f without changing the type of a singularity at the origin? For A_1 singularities, this is very easy: These singularities are characterized by the fact that their tangent cone also defines an A_1 singularity.² So, we can add any term of degree greater than two and any term of degree two whose coefficient is small enough. E.g. $x^2 + y^2 - z^2 + \frac{1}{10}z^2 + \frac{1}{13}xy + x^3$ has a singularity of type A_1^- at the origin.

Using the preceding facts we can deform a cubic surface with four singularities of type A_1^- into one with only three such singularities:

EXAMPLE 12.6 (Smoothing one of four A_1 Singularities). Let KM₂₇ be the cubic surface with four A_1^- -singularities (see table 12.2 on page 145). Three of its singularities lie in the plane $\{z = 0\}$. Using SURFEX, it is easy to find an ε , s.t. the surface KM₂₇ + εz^2 has the desired topology (see fig. 12.7):

Go to the SURFEX web-page [HLM05], start the SURFEX program, and enter the equation of KM_{27} . Then add a term +0.1*z² and check the permanently checkbox – this will premanently recompute raytraced images of your surface. Drag the computer mouse over the green ball to rotate the surface until you see all singularities. You can scale the image by pressing s on your keyboard while dragging. Now your SURFEX screen should look similar to fig. 12.7 on the following page. The singularity in the middle has been smoothed in such a way that the neighborhood of the singularity looks like a hyperboloid of one sheet. Adding -0.1*z² leads to a neighborhood which looks like a hyperboloid of two sheets.

It is a little more subtle to keep singularities of type A_j^- or A_j^+ , j > 1, while deforming others. Forgetting about the sign for a moment, these singularities have the equation $x^{j+1} + y^2 + z^2$ in a suitable coordinate system. A_j , j > 1, singularities are characterized by the property that their tangent cone is of degree two and consists of the union of two different planes.³

Let f be a polynomial in three variables x, y, z defining a singularity of type $A_j, j \geq 2$, at the origin. By the finite determinacy theorem (see, e.g., [Dim87]), we can add an element of the ideal $I := \mathfrak{m}^2 \cdot J_f$ to f without changing the type

²This is also the reason why the geometers of the 19th century called the A_1 singularities conical singularities or singularities of type C_2 . Other names are proper node, ordinary double point.

³This is the reason why the classical geometers called a singularity of type A_j a biplanar node B_{j+1} . A singularity whose tangent cone consists of a single multiple plane was called a uniplanar node.

152 12. ILLUSTRATING THE CLASSIFICATION OF REAL CUBIC SURFACES



FIGURE 12.7. Smoothing one of the four singularities of the cubic surface KM_{27} .

of the singularity. Here, \mathfrak{m} denotes the maximal ideal (x, y, z) of the origin and thus $\mathfrak{m}^2 = (x^2, xy, xz, y^2, yz, z^2)$. $J_f := (\frac{\partial f}{\partial x}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial y}, \frac{\partial f}{\partial z})$ is the so-called jacobian ideal generated by the partial derivatives of f.

EXAMPLE 12.7. We take the singularity of type A_3^- at the origin, defined by $f := x^4 + y^2 - z^2 = 0$. Its jacobian ideal is $J_f = (x^3, y, z)$. If we choose $g_1 := xy \in \mathfrak{m}^2$ and $g_2 := y \in J_f$ we get $g := g_1g_2 = xy^2$. Then f + g still defines a singularity of type A_3 at the origin. Furthermore, $f + \varepsilon g$ is an A_3^- singularity for ε small enough.

We now come to the global situation of a cubic surface f with only isolated singularities of type $A_j, j \ge 1$. The following example describes how to use the techniques above to deform some of its singularities while keeping others:

EXAMPLE 12.8 (Deforming two of three A_2^- Singularities to A_1^- Singularities). We start with the surface KM₄₃ which has exactly three singularities of type A_2^- (fig. 12.8(a)). The surface $tl + z^3 + z^2$ (fig. 12.8(b)) has three singularities of type A_1^- at the same coordinates, because the tangent cone is a cone of the form $x^2 - y^2 + z^2$ locally at each of these points. One of these singularities has the coordinates Q := (-2, 0, 0). To get a surface with a singularity of type A_2^- at Q and two singularities of type A_1^- , we need to adjust the construction slightly.

Our general remarks from the beginning of this subsection tell us that we have to look at the jacobian ideal $J_{\text{KM}_{43}}$ at Q. Over the rational numbers, SINGULAR gives the following primary decomposition: $J_{\text{KM}_{43}} = (x, y, z^2) \cap (x - 1, y^2 - 3, z^2) \cap (x + 2, y, z^2)$. Locally at Q, the relevant primary component is $(x + 2, y, z^2)$. We choose $E := x + 2 \in (x + 2, y, z^2)$. As $z^2 \in \mathfrak{m}^2$, we then know that $\text{KM}_{43} + z^2 \cdot E$ has a singularity of type A_2 at Q.

Locally at the other two singularities (which both have x-coordinate 1), E takes the value 1 + 2 = 3. Thus, at these singularities, $KM_{43} + z^2 \cdot E$ behaves like $KM_{43} + z^2 \cdot 3$, which has A_1^- singularities at these points as already seen above.

To check that our choices of planes and constants were reasonable and to understand the construction a little better, we can again use SURFEX. We type the equation of KM_{43} into SURFEX as f1. Then we add another two equations using the add eqn button and choose f2 to be x+2 and f3 to be z. If the permanently checkbox is activated we already see the three surfaces in one picture. When adjusting the



FIGURE 12.8. Deforming the surface KM_{43} (image (a)) with three singularities of type A_2^- into KM_{28} (image (c)) with one such singularity and two A_1^- singularities.

colors by clicking at the right of the equations, we get a result similar to fig. 12.8. We can hide some of the surfaces by deselecting the checkbox at the right of the equations. When typing into f1 the changes described above, we obtain successively the three lower images shown in the figure. We can produce the black/white images used for the present publication in the following way: We press the button showing the small disk, select the dithered checkbox, choose an appropriate resolution, and then click on save. A small dialog shows up, where we can give some filename. The high-resolution image is then computed on the webserver. From there, it can then be downloaded using the your files button in the SURFEX window.



A cone, a quadric surface with a node. How many nodes can a surface of degree d in \mathbb{P}^3 have?

Finally

It is natural to try to apply the methods and algorithms presented in the second part of this work to similar cases. In particular, it would be interesting to construct a surface in \mathbb{P}^3 of degree 11 with 430 nodes and to find out if our conjecture on the number of nodes on dihedral-symmetric surfaces (chapter 8) can be improved. If such surfaces exist, will their numbers of nodes be realizable with only real nodes?

Families of varieties within which one searches for some particularly interesting examples also occur in other branches of algebraic geometry. Variants of the algorithm that we presented in chapter 9 can thus also be applied to such problems.

Another wide field with a lot of potential for extensions is the visualization of real hypersurfaces with (many) singularities. First, our visualization tools which we presented in part 3 can be optimized and extended in many aspects. But also the triangulation of real singular varieties which has still not been developped in a satisfactory way would be an interesting achievement. E.g., in combination with (maybe three-dimensional) dynamic constructive geometry software (similar to our tool SPICY) this would open the way to make visualization even more interactive and intuitive.

When browsing through our historical survey (part 1) and our new constructions (part 2), one can see that there are still lots of interesting open questions in the field of hypersurfaces with many singularities and related areas. We hope that the present work encourages many other people to work on this fascinating subject.

Bibliography

| [ABKR00] | J. Abbott, A. Bigatti, M. Kreuzer, and L. Robbiano, <i>Computing Ideals of Points</i> , J. |
|-------------|--|
| | Symb. Comp. 30 (2000), no. 4, 341–356. |
| [AGZV85a] | V.I. Arnold, S.M. Gusein-Zade, and A.N. Varchenko, Singularities of differentiable |
| | maps, vol. I, Birkhäuser, 1985. |
| [AGZV85b] | , Singularities of differentiable maps, vol. II, Birkhäuser, 1985. |
| [AZ98] | N. Adrianov and A. Zvonkin, Composition of Plane Trees, Acta Applicandae Math- |
| | ematicae 52 (1998), 239–245. |
| [Bak46] | H.F. Baker, A Locus with 25920 Linear Self-Transformations, Camb. Tracts in Math. |
| | and Math. Phys., no. 39, Cambr. Univ. Press, 1946. |
| [Bar96] | W. Barth, Two Projective Surfaces with Many Nodes, Admitting the Symmetry of |
| | the Icosahedron, J. Algebraic Geom. 5 (1996), no. 1, 173-186. |
| [Bar98] | , K3 Surfaces with Nine Cusps, Geom. Dedicata 72 (1998), no. 2, 171-178. |
| [Bar00a] | , A Quintic Surface with 15 Three-Divisible Cusps, Preprint, Erlangen, 2000. |
| [Bar00b] | , On the Classification of K3 Surfaces with nine Cusps, Complex analysis and |
| [] | algebraic geometry. A volume in memory of Michael Schneider. (Th. Peternell et.al., |
| | ed.), Walter de Gruyter, 2000, pp. 41–59. |
| [Bas06a] | A.B. Basset, On the Singularities of Surfaces, Quart. J. 38 (1906), 63-83. |
| [Bas06b] | , The Maximum Number of Double Points on a Surface, Nature (1906), 246. |
| [Bea79a] | A. Beauville, L'application canonique pour les surfaces du type général, Inv. Math. |
| [Dourbu] | 55 (1979), 121–140. |
| [Bea79b] | , Sur le nombre maximum de points doubles d'une surface dans \mathbb{P}^3 ($\mu(5) =$ |
| [] | 31), Jounées de géométrie algébrique d'Angers, Sijthoff & Noordhoff 1980, 1979, |
| | pp. 207–215. |
| [Bih03] | F. Bihan, Asymptotic behaviour of Betti numbers of real algebraic surfaces, Com- |
| L J | ment. Math. Helv. 78 (2003), 227–244. |
| [BLvS05] | S. Breske, O. Labs, and D. van Straten, Real Line Arrangements and Surfaces with |
| 1 1 | Many Real Nodes, math.AG/0507234, 2005. |
| [Bor90] | C. Borcea, Nodal Quintic Threefolds and Nodal Octic Surfaces, Proc. Am. Math. |
| | Soc. 109 (1990), no. 3, 627-635. |
| [BR01] | W. Barth and S. Rams, Projective Surfaces with a Three-Divisible Set of Cusps, |
| | Preprint, math.AG/0112046, 2001. |
| [BR04] | , Cusps and Codes, Preprint, math.AG/0403018, 2004. |
| [Bre05] | S. Breske, Konstruktion von Flächen mit vielen reellen Singularitäten mit Hilfe |
| | von Faltungspolynomen, Diploma Thesis. University of Mainz, 2005, Available from |
| | [Lab03a]. |
| [Bru] | E. Brugallé, Real plane algebraic curves with asymptotically maximal number of even |
| | ovals, math.AG/0411097. |
| [Bru81] | J.W. Bruce, An Upper Bound for the Number of Singularities on a Projective Hy- |
| | persurface, Bull. London Math. Soc. 13 (1981), 47-50. |
| [Bur91] | H. Burkhardt, Untersuchungen aus dem gebiete der hyperelliptichen modulfunctio- |
| | nen, zweiter theil, Math. Ann. 38 (1891), 161-224. |
| [BW74] | D.M. Burns and J.M. Wahl, Local Contributions to Global Deformations of Surfaces, |
| L J | Inv. Math. 26 (1974), 67-88. |
| [BW79] | J.W. Bruce and C.T.C. Wall, On the Classification of Cubic Surfaces, J. Lond. Math. |
| | Soc., II. ser. (1979), no. 19, 245-259. |
| [C a g 0 0] | C. Castelnuore Salle consume dell 29 andine delle marie a quettre dimensioni |

[Cas88] G. Castelnuovo, Sulle congruenze dell 3° ordine dello spazio a quattro dimensioni, Atti dell' Ist. Veneto, ser. 6, 6 (1888), 521–579.

| [Cas91] | , Osservazioni intorno alla geometria sopra una superficie, Rend. Ist. Lom- bardo 24 (1891), 127-137. |
|-----------------------|---|
| [Cat81] | F. Catanese, Babbage's Conjecture, Contact of Surfaces, Symmetric Determinantal Varieties and Applications, Inv. Math. 63 (1981), 433-465. |
| [Cay 49] | A. Cayley, On the triple tangent planes to a surface of the third order, Camb. and Dublin Math. Journal IV (1849), 118–132. |
| [Cay 69] | , A Memoir on Cubic Surfaces, Philos. Trans. Royal Soc. CLIX (1869), 231– 326. |
| [CC82] | F. Catanese and G. Ceresa, <i>Constructing Sextic Surfaces with a given number d of Nodes</i> , J. Pure and Appl. Algebra 23 (1982), 1-12. |
| [CE95] | G.E. Collins and M.J. Encarnación, <i>Efficient Rational Number Reconstruction</i> , J. Symb. Comp. 20 (1995), 287–297. |
| [Chm84] | S.V. Chmutov, Spectrum and equivariant deformations of critical points, Uspekhi mat. nauk 39 (1984), no. 4, 113-114, In Russian. |
| [Chm92] | , Examples of Projective Surfaces with Many Singularities, J. Algebraic Geom. 1 (1992), no. 2, 191–196. |
| [Chm95] | , Extremal distributions of critical points and critical values, Singularity Theory (D. T. Lê, K. Saito, and B. Teissier, eds.), 1995, pp. 192–205. |
| [Cle71] | A. Clebsch, Ueber die Anwendung der quadratischen Substitution auf die Gleichungen 5ten Grades und die geometrische Theorie des ebenen Fünfseits, Math. Ann. IV (1871), 284–345. |
| [Cle83] | C.H. Clemens, Double solids, Adv. in Math. 47 (1983), 107-230. |
| [Deg90] | A.I. Degtyarev, Classification of Suraces of Degree four Having a Non-Simple Sin- gular Point, Math. USSR Izvestiya 35 (1990), 607–627. |
| [Dem80] | M. Demazure, <i>Surfaces de Del Pezzo, I, II, III, IV et V</i> , Séminaire sur les singularités des surfaces (M. Demazure, H. Pinkham, and B. Teissier, eds.), Lecture Notes in |
| [Dic01] | Math. 777, Springer-Verlag, 1980, pp. 21-69. Dickson, <i>Linear groups with an exposition of the galois field theory</i> , B. G. Teubner, Leipzig, 1901. |
| [Dim87] [dJSBdV90] | A. Dimca, <i>Topics on Real and Complex Singularities</i> , Vieweg, 1987. A.J. de Jong, N.I. Shepherd-Barron, and A. Van de Ven, <i>On the burkhardt quartic</i> , |
| [01200.00] | Math. Ann. 286 (1990), 309–328. |
| [dJvS90] | T. de Jong and D. van Straten, A Deformation Theory of Non-Isolated Singularities, Abh. Math. Sem. Univ. Hamburg 60 (1990), 177–208. |
| [EL82] | R. Eier and R. Lidl, A Class of Orthogonal Polynomials in k Variables, Math. Ann. 260 (1982), 93-99. |
| [End95] | S. Endraß, Flächen mit vielen Doppelpunkten, DMV-Mitteilungen 4 (1995), no. 4, 17–20. |
| [End96] | , Symmetrische Flächen mit vielen gewöhnlichen Doppelpunkten, Ph.D. thesis, FrAUniversität Erlangen-Nürnberg, 1996. |
| $[{\rm End97}]$ | , A Projective Surface of Degree Eight with 168 Nodes, J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), no. 2, 325–334. |
| [End98] | , Minimal even sets of nodes, J. Reine Angew. Math. 503 (1998), 87-108. |
| [End99] | , On the divisor class group of double solids, Manuscr. Math. 99 (1999), no. 3, 341–358. |
| [End01] | , SURF 1.0.3, http://surf.sourceforge.net, 2001, A Computer Software for Visualising Real Algebraic Geometry. |
| $[\mathrm{EPS03}]$ | S. Endraß, U. Persson, and J. Stevens, <i>Surfaces with Triple Points</i> , J. Algebr. Geom. 12 (2003), no. 2, 367–404. |
| [Fis 86] | G. Fischer, Mathematische Modelle / Mathematical Models, Vieweg, 1986, Bildband, Kommentarband. |
| [Gal51a] | D. Gallarati, Intorno a certe superficie algebriche aventi un elevato numero di punti |
| [Gal51b] | singolari isolati, Rend. Sc. fis. mat. e nat. XI (1951), 344-347. , Un' osservazione sul massimo numero di punti doppi delle superficie alge- briche, Atti Accad. Ligure 8 (1951), 353-355. |
| [Gal52a] | , Alcune riflessioni intorno ad una nota del Prof. B. Segre, Atti Acc. Ligure |
| [Gal52b] | 9 (1952), 106-112. , Sulle superficie del quinto ordine dotate di punti tripli, Rend. Acc. Naz. Lincei, serie VIII XII (1952), 70-75. |

| [Gal 57] | , Una superficie dell'ottano ordine con 160 nodi, Atti. Acc. Ligure 14 (1957), 1-7. |
|--------------------|--|
| [Gal 84] | , Un problema classico della geometria algebrica, Atti Accad. Ligure Sci. Lett. |
| [Giv84] | 41 (1984), 178–187. A.B. Givental, Maximum number of singular points on a projective hypersurface, |
| | Funct. Anal. Appl. 17 (1984), 223–225. |
| [GK89] | GM. Greuel and U. Karras, Families of varieties with prescribed singularities, Comp. Math. 69 (1989), 83-110. |
| [GLS98] | GM. Greuel, C. Lossen, and E. Shustin, <i>Plane curves of minimal degree with pre-</i> scribed singularities, Inv. Math. (1998), no. 133, 539-580. |
| [GO04] | J.E. Goodman and J. O'Rourke (eds.), <i>Handbook of Computational Geometry</i> , 2nd ed., ch. 5: Pseudoline Arrangements, Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2004. |
| [Gor 94] | V.V. Goryunov, Symmetric quartics with many nodes, Adv. Soviet Math. 21 (1994), 147-161. |
| [GP02] | GM. Greuel and G. Pfister, A Singular Introduction to Commutative Algebra, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 2002. |
| $[\mathrm{GPS01}]$ | GM. Greuel, G. Pfister, and H. Schönemann, SINGULAR 2.0, A Computer Algebra System for Polynomial Computations, Centre for Computer Algebra, Univ. Kaiserslautern, 2001, http://www.singular.uni-kl.de. |
| [Har81] | H. Harborth, Two-Colorings of Simple Arrangements, Finite and Infinite Sets, Collo- quia Mathematica Societatis János Bolyai, no. 37, North-Holland, 1981, pp. 371–378. |
| [Hir86] | F. Hirzebruch, Singularities of Algebraic Surfaces and Characteristic Numbers, Con- temp. Math. 58 (1986), no. I, 141–155. |
| [Hir87] | , Some Examples of Threefolds with trivial canocical Bundle, Gesammelte Abhandlungen, vol. 2, Springer, 1987, pp. 757-770. |
| [Hir92] | A. Hirano, Construction of Plane Curves with Cusps, Saitama Math. J. 10 (1992), 21-24. |
| [HL05] | S. Holzer and O. Labs, <i>Illustrating the Classification of Real Cubic Surfaces</i> , Preprint, University of Mainz, Accepted for Publication in the Proceedings of the AGGM 2004, 2005. |
| [HLM05] | S. Holzer, O. Labs, and R. Morris, SURFEX - Visualization of Real Algebraic Surfaces, www.surfex.AlgebraicSurface.net, 2005. |
| [Hol23] | T.R. Hollcroft, Singularities of curves of given order, Bull. Am. Math. Soc. 23 (1923), 407-414. |
| [Hol28] | , Limits for double points of surfaces, J. f. Math. 159 (1928), 255-264. |
| [Hol29] | , Limits for multiple points and curves of surfaces, Thuko Math. J. 30 (1929), 115–129. |
| [Hud90] | R.W.H.T. Hudson, <i>Kummer's quartic surface</i> , Cambridge University Press, 1990, With a foreword by W. Barth. Revised reprint of the 1905 original. |
| [Hur91] | A. Hurwitz, Ueber Riemann'sche Flächen mit gegebenen Verzweigungspunkten, Math. Ann. 39 (1891), 1-61. |
| [HW88] | M. E. Hoffman and W. D. Withers, <i>Generalized Chebyshev Polynomials associated</i> with affine Weyl Groups, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 308 (1988), no. 1, 91–104. |
| [Ivi85] | K. Ivinskis, Normale Flächen und die Miyaoka-Kobayashi Ungleichung, Master's |
| [Jes16] | thesis, Univ. Bonn, 1985. C.M. Jessop, <i>Quartic Surfaces with Singular Points</i> , Cambridge University Press, 1916. |
| [JR97] | D.B. Jaffe and D. Ruberman, A Sextic Surface cannot have 66 Nodes, J. Algebraic Geom. 6 (1997), no. 1, 151–168. |
| [Kae99] [Kal86] | R. Kaenders, Die Diagonalfläche aus Keramik, DMV-Mitteilungen 4/99 (1999). T. Kalker, Cubic Fourfolds with fifteen Ordinary Double Points, Ph.D. thesis, Leiden, |
| [Kha96] | 1986. V. Kharlamov, The Topology of Real Algebraic Manifolds (Commentary on Papers 7,8), I.G. Petrovskii's Selected Works, Systems of Partial Differential Equations, Algebraic Geometry (O.A. Oleinik, ed.), CRC Press, 1996, pp. 509-550. |
| [Kha05] | , Overview of topological properties of real algebraic surfaces, math.AG/0502127, 2005. |
| [Kle73] | F. Klein, Über Flächen dritter Ordnung, Math. Annalen VI (1873), 551–581, Tafeln I-VI, also in: [Kle22], p. 11–62. |

| [Kle22] | , Gesammelte Mathematische Abhandlungen, vol. II, Verlag von Julius Springer, Berlin, 1922. |
|----------------------|---|
| [KM87] | H. Knörrer and T. Miller, <i>Topologische Typen reeller kubischer Flächen</i> , Mathema- tische Zeitschrift 195 (1987), 51–67. |
| [KN82] | M. Kato and I. Naruki, Depth of Rational Double Points on Quartic Surfaces, Proc. Japan Acad Ser. A 58 (1982), 72-75. |
| [Kre55] | H.O. Kreiss, Über syzygetische Flächen, Annali di Mat. 41 (1955), 105–111. |
| [Kul98] | Val.S. Kulikov, <i>Mixed hodge structures and singularities</i> , Cambridge University Press, 1998. |
| [Kul03] | Vik.S. Kulikov, <i>Generalized Chisini's Conjecture</i> , Proc. Steklov Math. Inst. 241 (2003), 110–119. |
| [Kum75a] | E. Kummer, Über die Flächen vierten Grades mit sechzehn singulären Punkten, Collected Papers, vol. 2, Springer-Verlag, 1975, pp. 418–432. |
| [Kum75b] | , Über Strahlensysteme, deren Brennflächen Flächen vierten Grades mit sechzehn singulären Punkten sind, Collected Papers, vol. 2, Springer-Verlag, 1975, pp. 433-439. |
| [Lab03a] | O. Labs, Algebraic Surface Homepage. Information, Images and Tools on Algebraic Surfaces, www.AlgebraicSurface.net, 2003. |
| [Lab03b] | , SPICY. A program for Space and Plane Interactive Algebraic and Construc- tive Geometry. Pre-version 0.61., http://www.OliverLabs.net/spicy/, 2003. |
| [Lab04] | , A Septic with 99 Real Nodes, Preprint, math.AG/0409348, 2004. |
| [Lab05a] [Lab05b] | , A Sextic with 35 Cusps, Preprint, math.AG/0502520, 2005. , Dessins D'Enfants and Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 with many A_i -Singularities, |
| [Lab05b] | Preprint, math.AG/0505022, 2005. |
| [Lef12] | S. Lefschetz, On the V_3^3 with Five Nodes of the Second Species in S_4 , Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 18 (1912), no. 2, 384–386. |
| [Lef13] | , On the Existence of Loci with Given Singularities, Trans. Am. Math. Soc. |
| [10110] | 14 (1913), no. 1, 23–41. |
| [Los 99] | C. Lossen, New asymptotics for the existence of plane curves with prescribed singularities, Comm. Alg. (1999), no. 27, 3263–3282. |
| [LvS00] | O. Labs and D. van Straten, The Cubic Surface Homepage, www.CubicSurface.net, 2000. |
| [LvS03] | O. Labs and D. van Straten, A Visual Introduction to Cubic Surfaces Using the Computer Software Spicy, Algebra, Geometry, and Software Systems (M. Joswig and N. Takayama, eds.), Springer, 2003, pp. 225-238. |
| [Mil68] | J.W. Milnor, Singular points of complex hypersurfaces, Princeton University Press, 1968. |
| [Miy84] | Y. Miyaoka, The Maximal Number of Quotient Singularities on Surfaces with Given Numerical Invariants, Math. Ann. 268 (1984), 159–171. |
| [Mon04] | M. Monagan, Maximal Quotient Rational Reconstruction: An Almost Optimal Algo- rithm for Rational Reconstruction, Proceedings of the 2004 international symposium on symbolic and algebraic computation, ACM Press, 2004, pp. 243-249. |
| [Mor03] | R. Morris, LSMP: Liverpool surface modeling package, http://www.lsmp.AlgebraicSurface.net, 2003. |
| [Nik80] | V.V. Nikulin, Integral Symmetric Bilinear Forms and Some of Their Applications, Math. USSR Izvestiya 14 (1980), 103-167. |
| [OR] | J.J. O'Connor and E.F. Robertson, <i>The MacTutor History of Mathematics archive</i> , http://www-history.mcs.st-andrews.ac.uk/history/index.html. |
| [OR03] | A. Ortiz-Rodriguez, Quelques aspects sur la géométrie des surfaces algébriques réelles, Bull. Sci. Math. 127 (2003), 149–177. |
| [Pet98] | K.F. Pettersen, On Nodal Determinantal Quartic Hypersurfaces in \mathbb{P}^4 , Ph.D. the- |
| [] | sis, University of Oslo, Norway, http://www.math.uio.no/~ranestad/kfpthesis.ps, 1998. |
| [Pie78] | R. Piene, <i>Polar classes of singular varieties</i> , Ann. Sci. de l'E.N.S., 4 ^e série 11 (1978), no. 2, 247–276. |
| [Pol01] | K. Polthier, JAVAVIEW, www.JavaView.de, 2001. |
| [Pon29] | J.V. Poncelet, Mémoire surf lathéorie générale des polaires réciproques, J. f. Math. |
| | 4 (1829), 1–71. |
| [Riv74] | T.J. Rivlin, The Chebychev Polynomials, John Wiley & Sons, 1974. |

| [Rod79] | C. Rodenberg, Zur Classification der Flächen dritter Ordnung, Math. Ann. XIV (1879), 46-111. |
|-----------------------------|--|
| [Rod04] | , Modelle von Flächen dritter Ordnung, in Schilling [Sch04]. |
| [Roh86] | K. Rohn, Die Flächen vierter Ordnung hinsichtlich ihrer Knotenpunkte und ihrer Gestaltung, Preisschriften der Fürstlich Jablonowski'schen Gesellschaft, no. IX, |
| | Leipzig, 1886. |
| [Sak93] | F. Sakai, Singularities of Plane Curves, Geometry of Complex Projective Varieties. Proc. of the conference, Cetraro, Italy, 1990 (A. Lanteri, ed.), 1993, pp. 257-273. |
| [Sal47] | G. Salmon, On the degree of a surface reciprocal to a given one, Cambr. Dubl. Math. J. 2 (1847), 65-73. |
| [Sal49a] | $\frac{1}{1}$, On the cone circumscribing a surface of the m^{th} degree, Cambr. Dubl. Math. J. 4 (1849), 188–191. |
| [Sal49b] | . On the triple tangent planes to a surface of the third order, Camb. and Dublin Math. Journal IV (1849), 252-260. |
| [Sal80] | , Analytische Geometrie des Raumes, 3. ed., vol. II, B.G. Teubner, Leipzig, 1880. |
| [Sar01] | A. Sarti, Pencils of symmetric surfaces in \mathbb{P}^3 , J. Algebra 246 (2001), no. 1, 429-452. |
| [Sch58] | L. Schläfli, An attempt to determine the twenty-seven lines upon a surface of the third order, and to divide such surfaces into species in reference to the reality of the lines upon the surface, Quarterly Journal for pure and applied Mathematics II (1858), 55-66, 110-220, (also in: [Sch53]: S. 198-218). |
| [Sch 63] | , On the Distribution of Surfaces of the Third Order into Species, in Reference to the Presence or Absence of Singular Points and the Reality of their Lines, Philos. |
| $[\mathrm{S}\mathrm{ch}04]$ | Trans. Royal Soc. CLIII (1863), 193-241. M. Schilling (ed.), Mathematische Abhandlungen aus dem Verlage Mathematischer Modelle von Martin Schilling, Schilling, Halle a. d. Saale, 1904. |
| [Sch11] | <i>Moaette von Martin Schtting</i> , Schtling, Halte a. d. Saate, 1904. <i>, Catalog mathematischer Modelle für den höheren Mathematikunterricht</i> , Verlag von Martin Schilling, Leipzig, 1911. |
| [Sch 53] | L. Schläfli, Gesammelte Mathematische Abhandlungen, vol. II, Verlag Birkhäuser, Basel, 1953. |
| [Sch 86] | C. Schoen, On the Geometry of a special determinantal Hypersurface associated to the Mumford-Horrocks Vector Bundle, J. Reine Ang. Math. 346 (1986), 85–111. |
| [Seg87] | C. Segre, Sulla varietà cubica con dieci punti doppi dello spazio a quattro dimensioni, Atti. Acc. Torino XXII (1887), 791-801. |
| [Seg88] | , Sulle varietà cubiche dello spazio a quattro dimensioni e su certi sistemi di rette e certe superficie dello spazio ordinario, Memorie dell' Academia di Torino, ser. 2, vol. 39, 1888. |
| [Seg42] | B. Segre, The non-singular cubic surfaces, Clarendon, Oxford, 1942. |
| [Seg47] | , Sul massimo numero di nodi delle superficie di dato ordine, Boll. d. U.M.I. |
| | 2 (1947), 204–212. |
| [Seg52] | , Sul massimo numero di nodi delle superficie algebriche, Atti. Acc. Ligure 10 (1952), 15-22. |
| [Sev21] | F. Severi, Vorlesung über Algebraische Geometrie, Teubner, 1921. |
| [Sev46] | , Sul massimo numero di nodi di una superficie di dato ordine dello spazio ordinario o di una forma di un iperspazio, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 25 (1946), 1–41. |
| [Shu98] | E. Shustin, Gluing of singular and critical points, Topology 37 (1998), no. 1, 195–217. |
| [Shu00] | , Lower deformations of isolated hypersurface singularities, St. Petersburg Math. J. 11 (2000), no. 5, 883–908. |
| [Sie74] | D. Siersma, <i>Classification and Deformation of Singularities</i> , Ph.D. thesis, University of Amsterdam, 1974. |
| [SL97a] | L. Schneps and P. Lochak (eds.), Geometric galois actions. 1.: Around grothendieck's |
| | esquisse d'un programme, London Mathematical Society Lecture Notes Series, no. 242, Cambridge University Press, 1997. |
| [SL97b] | L. Schneps and P. Lochak (eds.), Geometric galois actions. 2.: The inverse galois problem, moduli speaces and mapping class groups, London Mathematical Society |
| | Lecture Notes Series, no. 243, Cambridge University Press, 1997. |
| [Slo] | N.J.A. Sloane, On-Line Encyclopedia of Integer Sequences, www.research.att.com/~njas/sequences/. |
| | |

| [ST02] | FO. Schreyer and F. Tonoli, <i>Needles in a haystack: Special varieties via small fields</i> , Computations in Algebraic Geometry with Macaulay 2 (D. Eisenbud, D.R. Grayson, M. Stillman, and B. Sturmfels, eds.), Springer, 2002. |
|---------------------|--|
| [Sta68] | E. Stagnaro, Sopra certe superficie algebriche con singolarità isolate, Matematiche 23 (1968), 338-343. |
| [Sta78] | |
| [Sta83] | , On the Basset's Limitations for the Maximum Number of Isolated Singu- larities on an Algebraic Surface, Proceedings of the Trento Conference (S. Greco, G. Valla, and M. Decker, eds.), vol. 84, 1983, pp. 291–304. |
| [Sta84] | <u>, A Surface of Degree 6 in $\mathbb{P}^3_{\mathbb{K}}$ with the Maximum Number of Nodes, Preprint of the Univ. of Padova, 1984.</u> |
| [Sta01] [Sta04] | , A degree twelve surface with 584 nodes, unpublished, 2001. , A degree nine surface with 39 triple points, Univ. Ferrara, sez. VII, Sc. Mat. L (2004), 111-121. |
| [Ste03] | J. Stevens, Sextic Surfaces with Ten Triple Points, 2003, Preprint, math.AG/0304060. |
| [SW04] | E. Shustin and E. Westenberger, <i>Projective Hypersurfaces with Many Singularities</i> of <i>Prescribed Types</i> , J. London Math. Soc. (2) 70 (2004), 609-624. |
| [Tan03] | SL. Tan, <i>Cusps on some algebraic surfaces and plane curves</i> , Proc. of the Conference: Namba 60 (2003), 106-121. |
| [Tei75] | B. Teissier, Sur diverses conditions numériques d'équisingularité des familles de courbes, 1975. |
| [Tod 47] | J.A. Todd, On the simple group of order 25920, Proc. Roy. Soc. London, ser. A, 189 (1947), 326–358. |
| [Tog36] | E.G. Togliatti, Sulle forme cubiche dello spazio a cinque dimensioni aventi il mas- simo numero finito di punti doppi, Scritti Mat. off. a Luigi Berzolari (1936), 577-593. |
| [Tog37] | , Ancora sulle forme cubiche dello spazio a 5 dimensioni aventi il massimo numero finito di punti doppi, Atti del 1e Congresso dell' U.M.I., 1937, pp. 254–258. |
| [Tog40] [Tog50] | , Una notevole superficie di 5° ordine con soli punti doppi isolati, Viertel- jahresschr. Naturforsch. Ges. Zürich 85 (1940), 127–132. , Sulle superficie algebriche col massimo numero di punti doppi, Rend. Sem. |
| | Mat. Torino 9 (1950), 47–59. |
| [Ura85] [Ura86a] | T. Urabe, On Quartic Surfaces and Sextic Curves with Singularities of Type \tilde{E}_8 , $T_{2,3,7}$, E_{12} , Publ. RIMS. Kyoto Univ. 20 (1985), 1185–1245. , Classification of non-normal quartic surfaces, Tokyo J. Math. 9 (1986), |
| [Ura86b] | 265–295. , Singularities in a Certain Class of Quartic Surfaces and Sextic Curves and |
| [010000] | Dynkin Graphs, Proc. 1984 Vancouver Conf. Alg. Geom., CMS Conf. Proc., 1986, pp. 477-497. |
| [Ura87] | , Elementary Transformations of Dynkin Graphs and Singularities on Quartic Surfaces, Invent. Math. 87 (1987), 549–572. |
| [Ura90] | , Tie Transformations of Dynkin Graphs and Singularities on Quartic Surfaces, Inv. Math. 100 (1990), 207–230. |
| [Var83] | A.N. Varchenko, On the Semicontinuity of the Spectrum and an Upper Bound for the Number of Singular Points of a Projective Hypersurface, J. Soviet Math. 270 (1983), 735-739. |
| [Var84] | Asymptotic integrals and hodge structures, J. Soviet Math. 27 (1984), 2760– 2784. |
| [Ven14] | E. Veneroni, Sopra una varietà cubica con quindici punti doppi dello spazio a cinque dimensioni, Rend. Ist. Lomb. 47 (1914), 521–533, 704–718. |
| [vS93] | D. van Straten, A Quintic Hypersurface in \mathbb{P}^4 with 130 Nodes, Topology 32 (1993), no. 4, 857–864. |
| [vS94] | , Deformations of nodal hypersurfaces, Unpublished, 1994. |
| [Wah94] | J. Wahl, Miyaoka-Yau Inequality for Normal Surfaces and Local Analogues, Classi- fication of Algebraic Varieties, Contemp. Math., vol. 162, 1994, pp. 381-402. |
| [Wan81] | P.S. Wang, A p-adic Algorithm for Univariate Partial Fractions, Proceedings of SYMSAC '81, ACM Press, 1981, pp. 212–217. |

- [Wer87] J. Werner, Kleine Auflösungen spezieller dreidimensionaler Varietäten, Ph.D. thesis, Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Bonn, 1987.
- [Wes03] E. Westenberger, Existence of Hypersurfaces with Prescribed Simple Singularities, Comm. Alg. 31 (2003), no. 1, 335–356.
- [Wit88] W.D. Withers, Folding Polynomials and Their Dynamics, Amer. Math. Monthly 95 (1988), 399-413.
- [Yan97] J.-G. Yang, Enumeration of Combinations of Rational Double Points on Quartic Surfaces, AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics 5 (1997), 275-312.

Index of Authors

Holzer, S., 141

Adrianov, N., 69 Arnold, V.I., 31, 35, 36 Baker, H.F., 19 Barth, W., 47–48, 50–51, 55–57 Basset, A.B., 17-18, 24, 26, 32 Beauville, A., 22, 33-34, 51 Bihan, F., 83 Borcea, C., 43 Breske, S., 79 Bruce, J.W., 13, 33-34, 141 Brugallé, E., 83 Burkhardt, H., 19 Burns, D.M., 22 Castelnuovo, G., 26, 32 Catanese, F., 22, 34 Cayley, A., 13 Ceresa, G., 34 Chmutov, S.V., 38-39, 45-47, 67 Clebsch, A., 14, 15 Clemens, C.H., 34 Collins, G.G., 108 de Jong, A.J., 19 de Jong, T., 51 Degtyarev, A.I., 53 Dickson, L.E., 13 Eier, R., 46 Encarnación, M.J., 108 Endraß, S., 22, 36, 52–53, 96 Endraß, S., 55, 141 Fischer, G., 15 Fresnel, A.J., 15 Gallarati, D., 23-28, 51 Givental, A.B., 34-36, 39-40 Goryunov, V.V., 49, 75 Greuel, G.-M., 43, 57 Grothendieck, A., 69 Gusein-Zade, S.M., 31 Harborth, H., 82, 83 Hirano, A., 25 Hirzebruch, F., 25, 42 Hoffman, M.E., 46 Hollcroft, T.R., 18

Hudson, R.W.H.T., 16 Hurwitz, A., 69 Ivinskis, K., 25 Jaffe, D.B., 45, 51 Jessop, C.M., 16 Kaenders, R., 15 Kalker, T., 18, 19, 41-42 Karras, U., 43 Kato, M., 54 Kharlamov, V., 16, 23, 82 Klein, F., 14, 15, 141, 151 Knörrer, H., 141, 144 Kreiss, H.-O., 26-27 Kulikov, Val.S., 35 Kulikov, Vik.S., 25 Kummer, E., 15 Lefschetz, S., 18, 19, 22 Lidl, R., 46 Lossen, C., 57 Miller, T., 141, 144 Milnor, J.W., 31 Miyaoka, Y., 25, 40–41, 55 Monagan, M., 108 Morris, R., 141 Naruki, I., 54 Nikulin, V.V, 53 O'Connor, J.J., 15 Ortiz-Rodriguez, A., 82 Persson, U., 55 Pettersen, K., 51 Piene, R., 33 Plücker, J., 17 Polthier, K., 141 Poncelet, J.V., 14 Rams, S., 57 Riemann, B., 69 Rivlin, T.J., 38 Robertson, E.F., 15Rodenberg, C., 15, 142 Rohn, K., 16, 18, 79

Ruberman, D., 45, 51 Sakai, F., 25Salmon, G., 13, 14 Sarti, A., 54 Schilling, M., 135 Schläfli, L., 13, 14, 16, 141 Schoen, C., 42Schreyer, F.-O., 95 Schulze, M., 36 Segre, B., 22-27, 50 Segre, C., 18, 19 Severi, F., 22-23 Shepherd-Barron, N.I., 19 Shustin, E., 57 Siersma, D., 34 Sloane, N.J.A., 58 Stagnaro, E., 17, 22, 25, 26, 31-33 Stevens, J., 55 Tan, S.-L., 57 Teissier, B., 33 Todd, J.A., 19 Togliatti, E.G., 21-23 Tonoli, F., 95 Urabe, T., 53 van de Ven, A., 19 van Straten, D., 26–28, 48–49, 51–52, 141 Varchenko, A.N., 31, 35–37 Veneroni, E., 19, 21 Viro, O., 83 Wahl, J., 55 Wahl, J.M., 22 Wall, C.T.C, 13, 141 Wang, P.S., 108Werner, J., 38, 43 Westenberger, E., 57 Wiener, L.C., 15 Withers, W.D., 46, 80 Yang, J.-G., 53-54

Zvonkin, A., 69

Index of Notations

 $A_n(d), 35$ $Bar_{15}, 56$ Bar_{31} , 48 $\mathrm{Bar}_{345},\,50$ $Bar_4(k), 56$ $\mathrm{Bar}_{65},\,50$ $Bu_4, 19$ $\mathrm{BW}_d,\,22$ $Cay_3, 13$ $\operatorname{Chm}(M_d^j), 73$ $\operatorname{Chm}(T_d^j), 72$ $\operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{(1_d)}, 12$ $\operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{A_2}, 80$ $\operatorname{Chm}_{\mathbb{R},d}^{A_2}, 81, 82$ $\operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{A}, 47$ $\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Chm}_{d}^{j}, 4i \\ \operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_{d}^{A_{2}}), 75 \\ \operatorname{Chm}^{j,n}(F_{d}^{B_{2}}), 75 \\ \operatorname{Chm}^{n}(F_{d}^{B_{2}}), 74 \\ \end{array}$ Cle₃, 14 $\operatorname{Def}(X,\Sigma), 51$ $Endr_{168}, 53$ $\begin{array}{l} F_{d}^{A_{2}}(x,y),\,72,\,80\\ F_{\mathrm{R},d}^{A_{2}}(x,y),\,80\\ F_{d}^{B_{2}}(x,y),\,74\\ \mathrm{Fres}_{a,b,c},\,15 \end{array}$ $\mathrm{Ga}_{160},\,27$ $\begin{array}{c} \text{Ga}_{63}, 26\\ \text{GH}_5^n, 43\\ \text{Giv}_3^n, 39\\ \text{Gory}_4^n, 49 \end{array}$ $Hirz_5^4, 42$ $\operatorname{Jac}(X), 51$ $J_f, 2$ Kal_3^n , 41 $\mathrm{Ku}_{\mu}, 16$ $M_b(d), 82$ $\operatorname{Miy}_{A_j}(d), 41$ $M_d^j(z), 72, 73$ $\mu(d), 2$

 $\mu^{n}(d), 1, 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{j}(d), 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{T}(d), 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{A}(d), 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{n}(d), 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{A}(d), 2 \\ \mu^{n}_{A}(d$ $\mu_{Dp}^n(d),\ 2$ $\mu_T(d), 2$ PT(p), 69, 72 Ro_d , 16 $r(\Sigma), 142$ r(X), 142 $S_{226}, 116$ $S_{35}, 87$ $S_{99}, 101$ $\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Sa}_{\lambda}, \, 54\\ \operatorname{Sch}_{d}^{d-1}, \, 42\\ \operatorname{Seg}_{3}, \, 18\end{array}$ St₆₄, 32 $\operatorname{St}_{s,q}$, 32 tc(f), 2 TChm_d^n , 38, 74 $\operatorname{TChm}_{d}^{\breve{u},n}, 75$ $T_d^j(z), 71, 72$ $Tog_3, 21$ Tog₃₁, 22 $\operatorname{Var}_{A_j}(d), 37$ $vS_{(\alpha:\beta)}, 48$

Subject Index

algorithm, 85, 107 Arnold number, 35 Belyi polynomial, 69, 70 Betti number, 43, 83 bitangent 28 bitangents to plane quartic, 31 bound lower, see also lower bound upper, see also upper bound branched covering, 23, 24, 26, 27, 34 class, 13, 33, 145 class bound, see also upper bound \rightarrow class bound code. 34 conical node, 79 construction, see also surface, hypersurface 226-nodal nonic, 115 99-nodal septic, 95-104, 114 Barth's 15-cuspidal quintic, 56 Barth's 31-nodal quintic, 47, 113 Barth's 345-nodal sextic, 50 Barth's 65-nodal sextic, 50, 108 Barth's 8-cuspidal quartic, 56 Breske's real variant of Chmutov's nodal surfaces, 78, 79 Cayley's four-nodal cubic, 13, 112 Chmutov's nodal in \mathbb{P}^n , 38 Chmutov's nodal surfaces, 46 Chmutov's nodal threefolds, 47 Clebsch diagonal cubic, 14 dihedral-symmetric 65-nodal sextic, 113 Endraß's 168-nodal octic, 52 Gallarati's variant of B. Segre's second, 24 - 26Givental's nodal cubics, 39 Goryunov's nodal quartics, 49 Hirzebruch's 126-nodal quintic, 42 hypersurfaces with many A_i -singularities, 67-76 Kalker's nodal cubics, 41 Kulikov's cuspidal plane curves, 25 Kummer's 16-nodal quartic, 15, 16, 18, 113patchworking method, see also patchworking method

Rohn's nodal surfaces, 16, 17, 22, 23 Sarti's 600-nodal dodectic, 54 Schoen's 125-nodal quintic, 42 B. Segre's first, 22 B. Segre's second, 23 C. Segre's 10-nodal cubic, 18 van Straten's 130-nodal quintic, 48 surfaces with many A_i -singularities, 67 - 76Togliatti's 15-nodal cubic, 21 Togliatti's 31-nodal quintic, 21 Coxeter diagram, 142 critical points, 67, 80 on two levels, 38, 69, 73, 81 Chmutov's upper bound, 45 folding polynomial, 46, see also folding polynomial upper bounds for polynomials in one variable, 70, 73 real, 81 two critical values, see also $\ldots \rightarrow$ on two levels cubic surface, 13-15, 141-153 27 lines, 13 27 real lines, 14 automorphism group, 13, 19 Cayley's four-nodal, 13, 112, 140 classification, 13, 141-153 Clebsch diagonal cubic, 14, 15 Eckardt point, 26, 137, 146 explicit equations for each topological type, 146 model, see also model real lines, 143 27 real lines, 14 Knörrer/Miller's formula for the number, 143 reality index, 142-145 topological type, 14, 144 explicit equations, 145, 146 dectic surface, 28 Barth's 345-nodal, 28 defect, 34, 43 deformation, 14, 34, 151

(un)obstructed, 22

dessins d'enfants, 67-76

SUBJECT INDEX

dihedral symmetry, see also surface \rightarrow dihedral symmetric dodectic surface Sarti's 600-nodal, 54 double point, 2 ordinary, see also ordinary double point experiments, 95 over prime fields, 95, 98, 107-117 lifting, 98, 112 family of singular surfaces, 16, 47, 48, 50-52, 85, $95,\ 107,\ 108,\ 112{-}116$ of singular threefolds, 21, 26, 27, 108of varieties, 107 flecnodal curve, 24 folding polynomial, 46, 68, 80 real, 80, 81fourfold Togliatti's 15-nodal cubic, 21 Veneroni's 15-nodal cubic, 19 G-symmetric hypersurface, 3 G-symmetric polynomial, 3 hessian, 2 hypersurface, see also construction Chmutov's nodal, 38 Gallarati's variant of B. Segre's second, 24-26,67 Givental's nodal cubics, 39, 45 Goryunov's nodal quartics, 49, 75 in \mathbb{P}^2 , see also plane curve in \mathbb{P}^3 , see also surface in \mathbb{P}^4 , see also threefold in \mathbb{P}^5 , see also fourfold in \mathbb{P}^n , 1, 23, 24 Kalker's nodal cubics, 41, 74 with high A_j -singularities, 57 with many A_j -singularities, 74-76 *j*-Beyli polynomial, 70 *j*-star, 70 Jacobian ideal, 2 line arrangement, 46, 80 real, 79-83 maximum number of triangles, 82 two-colorings, 81-83 lower bound, see also construction asymptotic, 18, 24-26, 31, 39, 41, 75 model, 15, 135 node, see also ordinary double point conical, see also conical node solitary, see also solitary point nonic surface

226-nodal, 106, 115 octahedral numbers, 58 octic surface Endraß's 168-nodal, 44 nodal, 23, 27, 43 ordinary double point, 2 parabolic curve, 24 patchworking method, 57 pencil, see also family plane curve, 1 irreducible nodal, 1 nodal. 1 with many A_i -singularities, 76 with many cusps, 25, 76 plane tree, 69, 72, 73 plaster model, see also model prime fields, see also experiments \rightarrow over prime fields quartic surface, 15-17 Barth's 8-cuspidal, 56 Fresnel Wave Surface, 15, 16 Kummer's 16-nodal, 15, 16, 18, 21, 24, 113 real with 10 solitary points, 79 Yang's list, 53-54 quintic surface Barth's 15-cuspidal, 56 nodal, 33, 35 Barth's 31-nodal, 20, 22, 48, 113 Togliatti's 31-nodal, 20 with ordinary triple points, 32 regular polygon, 46 five-gon, 42, 74 pentagon, see also $\ldots \rightarrow$ five-gon triangle, 39 Riemann's Existence Theorem, 69 root system, 68, 74, 80 septic surface 99-nodal, 62, 95-104, 114 many singularities, 32 sextic surface Barth's 65-nodal, 50, 108 dihedral-symmetric 65-nodal sextic, 113 nodal, 23, 24, 26, 27, 32-34 singularity, 2, 13, 151 $A_j, 14, 22, 24, 72, 142$ $D_j, 142$ $E_j, 142$ cusp, 2, 14, 25, 31 double point, see also double point isolated, 2 node, 13-15, 25, see also ordinary double point even set of, 33 real, 79-83 real conical, 83 real solitary, see also solitary point one single isolated, 57

SUBJECT INDEX

ordinary *j*-tuple point, 31, 32 ordinary double point, see also ordinary double point ordinary quadruple point, 28, 31 ordinary triple point, 23, 26, 27 rational double point, 40, 53, 141 solitary point, see also solitary point spectrum, 35, 36 swallowtail, visualization of, 134tacnode, 2 software ASURF, 135 J AVA VIEW, 135PovRay, 135 Singular, 136, 138 Spicy, 133, 136 SURF, 135, 136 SURFEX, 133, 136, 137 SURFEX.LIB, 137 XCSPRG, 137 solitary point, 79, 83 spectral bound, 35-37, 74, 95 explicit computation, 36, 37, 58 for high A_i -singularities, 58 octahedral numbers, 58 surface, see also construction cubic, see also cubic surface dectic, see also dectic surface dihedral symmetric, 50, 96, 107, 112, 113, 115, 116 dodectic, see also dodectic surface for any degree Chmutov's nodal, 46, 67, 95 Rohn's nodal, 16, 67 B. Segre's second nodal, 95 B. Segre's first nodal, 22 B. Segre's second nodal, 23, 34 in separated variables, 45, 79-83 Chmutov's upper bound, 45 nonic, see also nonic surface octic, see also octic surface quartic, see also quartic surface quintic, see also quintic surface septic, see also septic surface sextic, see also sextic surface with high A_i -singularities, 58 with many A_j -singularities, 67–76 symmetric hypersurface, 3 tangent cone, 2 Tchebychev polynomial, 30, 38, 70, 81 generalized, 46, see also folding polynomial threefold cubic Lefschetz's 5-cuspidal, 19, 76 nodal, 18 for any degree

Chmutov's nodal, 47

quartic Burkhardt's 45-nodal, 19 nodal, 19, 24 quintic existence of nodal, 43 Hirzebruch's 126-nodal, 42 nodal, 27, 43 Schoen's 125-nodal, 42, 43 van Straten's 130-nodal, 48, 108 tree, see~also plane tree tritangent plane, 24 upper bound asymptotic, 18, 24, 32-34 Basset's, 33, 34 Beauville's, for nodal quintic, 22, 33 Bruce's, 34 Chmutov's, for surfaces in separated variables, 45 class bound, 14, 15, 33 for maximum number of black cells in real simple line arrangements, 82 for maximum number of critical points of real simple line arrangements, 82 Givental's, 34, 95 Miyaoka's, 40, 45, 74 spectral bound, see also spectral bound Stagnaro's for q-fold points, 32 Teissier's and Piene's, 33, 34 Varchenko's, see also spectral bound visualization, 5, 132-138 methods, 135

methods, 135 interactive software, 136, 137 model, *see also* model software, 135

Curriculum Vitae

I was born in Mainz, Germany, on july 20, 1974. After having graduated from school, I spent my 15 months of civilian service as an ambulance officer at the Red Cross, Mainz. In october 1994, I started to study mathematics with subsidiary subject business administration at the Johannes Gutenberg-University of Mainz.

After the so-called Vordiplom in 1996, I went for one year to the Université de la Picardie d'Amiens, France, with an ERASMUS fellowship. In summer 1997, I graduated with the degree maîtrise de mathématiques pures.

Back in Mainz, I got in contact with the student exchange organization AIESEC. While I was working in the executive board of its local committee Mainz/Wiesbaden for one year, I started to learn algebraic geometry. In 2001, I graduated at Mainz with the degree *Diplommathematiker*. My diploma thesis was entitled *Kubische Flächen und Cobles Hexaederform*, advisor: D. van Straten.

Since then, I have been working as an assitant of D. van Straten while writing my Ph.D. thesis.

Oliver Labs

Ich wurde in Mainz, Deutschland, am 20. Juli 1974 geboren. Nach der Schule verbrachte ich meinen 15-monatigen Zivildienst als Rettungssanitäter beim Roten Kreuz in Mainz. Im Anschluss daran begann ich im Oktober 1994 mein Mathematikstudium mit Nebenfach Betriebswirtschaftslehre an der Johannes Gutenberg-Universität Mainz.

Nach dem Vordiplom ging ich im September 1996 für ein Jahr mit einem ERASMUS-Stipendium an die Université de la Picardie d'Amiens, Frankreich. Im Sommer 1997 schloss ich dort mit dem Grad *maîtrise de mathématiques pures* ab.

Wieder in Mainz lernte ich die Studenten-Organisation AIESEC kennen. Während ich ein Jahr lang im Vorstand ihres Lokal-Komitees Mainz/Wiesbaden arbeitete, begann ich mit dem Studium der algebraischen Geometrie. 2001 erhielt ich schließlich das Diplom. Meine Diplomarbeit hatte den Titel: *Kubische Flächen und Cobles Hexaederform* (Betreuer: D. van Straten).

Seitdem arbeite ich als wissenschaftlicher Mitarbeiter von D. van Straten und schreibe meine Doktorarbeit.

Oliver Labs